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Key Figures Group

Key Figures Group

2003 2004 Change
in € millions IFRS IFRS year-on-year

Revenues 2,321 2,402 3.5 %

Net income 112 148 32.1 %
EBITA1) 215 336 56.3 %

 EBITA margin 9.3 % 14.0 %
EBITDA1) 290 433 49.3 %
EBIT1) 194 316 62.9 %

Total assets 2,115 2,392 13.1 %
Equity 678 873 28.8 %
 Equity ratio 32.1 % 36.5 %
Capital expenditures 159 131 - 17.6 %
Cash flow from operating activities 317 305 - 3.8 %

Earnings per share (in €) 3.26 4.66 42.9 %
Dividend (in €) 1.20 1.20
Special dividend (in €) 0.25
Year-end share price (in €) 70.00 86.00 22.9 %

Number of employees (average) 10,949 10,700 - 2.3 %

1) Adjusted for non-recurring items

Cover photo: see page 8
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Foreword

At the beginning of 2004 I personally witnessed the catastrophe of Sharm 
el Sheik from my hotel room while vacationing in Egypt. A passenger plane 
crashed directly onto the Egyptian coastline killing 150 people. At the end 
of last year I witnessed the catastrophic floods in Asia, which claimed the 
lives of more than 200,000 people, from a safe distance in central Europe as 
a newspaper reader and TV viewer. In both cases I was helpless and power-
less, in both cases I had to depend on information and explanations provided 
by the media. Fortunately, Axel Springer AG was able to raise over € 40 mil-
lion for the survivors of the floods through the BILD relief organization “Ein 
Herz für Kinder” at a gala event in cooperation with ZDF. The year 2004 
however, which was clouded by many tragic events, was an extraordinarily 
successful one for the company Axel Springer.

Group Headquarters Moves to Berlin

What stands out among our activities over the last twelve months? The move 
of our headquarters from Hamburg to Berlin to be sure. The decision to trans-
fer our headquarters and all administrative operations to Berlin was not sim-
ply based on Axel Springer’s vision of the city as an intellectual center with 
tremendous future significance. We are also convinced that by moving our 
headquarters to the German capital we will also enjoy a long-term location 
advantage for our publishing and business activities with even better pros-
pects for future success. The move also makes good business sense, because 
it provided us with an opportunity to streamline operations and improve the 
efficiency of our central departments. 

The list of accomplishments during the past year is long; the successes are 
extraordinary; and the results speak for themselves: our share price rose from 
€ 70 to € 86, earnings per share from € 3.26 to € 4.66, revenues from € 2.3 bil-
lion to € 2.4 billion, net income climbed from € 112 million to € 148 million, 
and our EBITA after adjustment for non-recurring items of € 336 million is 
the highest in company history. 

Highest Earnings in Company History

How did we succeed in achieving the highest earnings in the history of our 
publishing house at the height of an ongoing economic crisis, and when 
our industry is struggling with a structural crisis of its own? And how did 
we manage to do this despite massive investments aimed at generating new 
business?

First of all, much of the credit for our success goes to our highly motivated 
employees, who possess a high degree of expertise and are willing to make 
courageous decisions in the face of the crisis. Our success is also due to the 
far-reaching restructuring program carried out quickly and thoroughly dur-
ing 2002 and 2003. It was also because were able to go against the grain of 
the economy as a whole and make investments in the future while many of 
our competitors were struggling to overcome their own internal problems. 
And it was because we saved money like misers. And because we launched 
the right concepts in the right market gaps at the right time.

The basis for all of this is the success of our core business, the success 
of our editorial staffs, the advertising revenues generated by BILD and 
BILD am SONNTAG, the modernization of the content and design of 
DIE WELT and WELT am SONNTAG, the stabilization of our regional 
newspapers, and the anticyclical performance of some of our newspapers. 
We were successful – at least in some segments – in overcoming the three 
biggest challenges facing our industry: declining circulation, the aging of 
society and the increasing availability of free publications. These major chal-
lenges will continue to confront us in the years to come. And I am convinced 
that we will be more than ready to meet them. 

Successful Launches Continue

The success rate of our 24 new publication launches during the last two years 
is unusually high. But we must not allow this series of successes to lead us 
down the path of unrealistic expectations in the future.

We launched newspapers. In Hungary we introduced REGGEL, a regional  
newspaper for the greater Budapest area modeled after HAMBURGER 
ABENDBLATT. In Germany we created WELT KOMPAKT, a smaller, 
lower- priced and more current version of DIE WELT catering to new, young-
er target groups. And FAKT, the Polish daily introduced only one year ago, 
has seen its circulation grow to some 500,000 copies, thereby making it 
not only Poland’s largest tabloid but also the country’s largest newspaper 
overall.

And we launched magazines. In Germany Axel Springer AG occupies the 
top four places among the ten most successful newly established magazines. 
Two new innovative publications especially stand out. AUDIO VIDEO 
FOTO BILD, devoted to the field of consumer electronics, has achieved 
success in a former niche market that has now developed into a mass seg-
ment. And TV DIGITAL, with a circulation of 1.3 million copies by the end 
of the year, virtually invented the segment for TV guides that cater to the new 
television generation of digital TV.

Successful Acquisition Strategy

And we did not stop at successful launches; we also made successful purchas-
es. The acquisition of a stake of 14.5 % in Westfalen-Blatt-Verlag is a move 
that will successively strengthen our position in a segment we know quite 
well – the regional newspaper market. We also acquired 30 % of PIN AG, 
Germany’s second-largest mail handler. This not only opens the door to im-
portant logistical options but gives us a foothold in the lucrative market of 
mail distribution. And we acquired 49.9 % of StepStone, the second-largest 
German Internet platform for jobs classified advertising. Together with real 
estate and cars, we have now gained access to the three large markets for on-
line classified advertising. This move clearly strengthens our strategic posi-
tion in the world of digital classified advertising. 

EBITA Net Income
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Dr Mathias Döpfner
Chief Executive Officer 

Successful Launches
High success rate with new 
launches / Places 1-4 among the 
top ten newspaper launches / 
WELT KOMPAKT launched as 
compact version of DIE WELT / 
AUDIO VIDEO FOTO BILD 
becomes market leader / 
TV DIGITAL – new TV guide for 
digital television

Internationalization
Eastern Europe as focal point of 
new newspaper and magazine 
launches / FAKT is Poland’s 
largest daily newspaper / Regional 
newspaper REGGEL for greater 
Budapest area launched / Global 
licensing business expanded / 
Market entry in Russia with new 
magazines / Representative Office 
in China opened

The establishment of publishing operations in China and Russia opens the 
door to two of the world’s important growth markets. Our rotogravure joint 
venture with Arvato and Gruner + Jahr – if approved by the European anti-
cartel authorities – will create a European market leader that can play an 
active role in the consolidation process. As a result of a settlement reached 
during the insolvency proceedings of the Kirch Group, we saw our stake in 
ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG grow by 1.7 % without further financial invest-
ment, we received a cash payment of € 60.3 million, and a receivable of 
€ 325 million was acknowledged. The latter will be partially reimbursed in 
the coming years from the insolvency volume. 

Capital Market Communication Improved

Whereas shorter reporting periods were put into effect in 2003, we intro-
duced quarterly reports at the beginning of 2004. The preparation of this an-
nual report in accordance with IFRS one year earlier than is legally required 
is a step toward improving communication with the capital market.

Stringent Cost Management

After having presented examples of our launches and purchases in 2004, in 
closing I would like to offer you an example of what we have not done – and 
what we have learned from it. Because sometimes what a company has not 
done is more revealing than what a company has done.

We did not buy the “Daily Telegraph” group in England, which changed hands 
for the price of € 986 million. It would have been a good deal at a lower price, 
because it is a wonderful newspaper and an excellent brand. It has great po-
tential, but there are also some risks involved. The asking price, for which the 
newspaper was ultimately sold, appeared unreasonably high to us. 

No deal is better than a deal that is too expensive. This is a principle that we 
will also adhere to during the current financial year. For us, generating large 
sales increases through acquisitions is not an end in itself. Growth must make 
good business sense. But if an attractive deal comes along, we are in a posi-
tion to take advantage of the opportunity. The general economic outlook for 
2005 is subdued. There is no substantial economic turnaround in sight. But 
we are confident that our sales and EBITA (before the one-time proceeds 
from the Kirch settlement) will increase slightly. We plan to achieve this 
through tight cost controls and by gradually increasing the profitability of 
our new endeavors. 

At our management meeting last summer I recommended – to the aston-
ishment of some of my colleagues  – that our managers take a lesson from 
the piranha. These fish unfortunately have been given a bad rap. Piranhas 
are predators to be sure. But more importantly, piranhas know exactly what 
their limits are and they treat their resources prudently. If the temptation is 
too great or there are too many fish to eat at one time, they exercise restraint. 
Because piranhas know that if they eat too much, they will become sluggish 
and unable to flee or defend themselves, and one day they could be eaten 
themselves.

The piranha exemplifies what every manager should know: achieving suc-
cess is sometimes easier than dealing with it. This does not mean that we 
should curb our own ambitions. Piranhas hunt in packs. And as a group they 
are able to recognize their limits and resist the temptation to bite off more 
than they can chew. They know that they will able to digest even the largest 
catch at the right time. 

Yours,

Dr Mathias Döpfner

Record Earnings
Share price from € 70 to € 86 / 
Earnings per share from € 3.26 
to € 4.66 / Revenues from € 2.3 to 
€ 2.4 billion / Net income from 
€ 112 to € 148 million / Record-
high EBITA of € 336 million
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Management Board

Steffen Naumann
Chief Operating Officer and
Chief Financial Officer

Born 1966, Master’s degree in 
business administration and 
economics. 
Career milestones: Mc Kinsey & 
Company; Board Member of 
Bertelsmann Buch AG; Executive 
Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer of Random House, New 
York. Since 2001 on the Manage-
ment Board.

Rudolf Knepper
Vice Chairman
Printing and Logistics Division

Born 1945, Master’s degree in 
engineering and business engi-
neering. Career milestones (since 
1973 with Axel Springer): Head of 
Technical Planning; Director of 
the Printing Facility Hamburg; 
Head of the Production Unit Offset 
Printing. Since 1994 on the 
Management Board, since 2002 
Vice Chairman.

Dr Andreas Wiele
Magazines and International 
Divisions

Born 1962, Lawyer. 
Career milestones: Editor 
Hamburger Morgenpost; Head of 
Capital and Geo, Gruner+Jahr, 
Paris/France; Executive Vice 
President and Chief Operating 
Officer of Gruner+Jahr USA 
Publishing, New York/USA. Since 
2000 on the Management Board.

Dr Mathias Döpfner
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer 
Newspapers Division

Born 1963, Journalist.
Career milestones: Frankfurter 
Allgemeine Zeitung; Gruner+Jahr; 
Chief Editor of Wochenpost, 
Hamburger Morgenpost and 
DIE WELT. Since 2000 on the 
Management Board, since 2002 
Chairman of the Board.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board monitored the execution of company business by the 
Management Board in accordance with legal stipulations and the provisions 
of the company’s articles of association in the year under review and was pro-
vided with detailed and regular information on the current situation and devel-
opment of the company, important business transactions and risk management 
at its own meetings, at the meetings of its committees and through written and 
oral reports by the Management Board. The Management Board also kept the 
Supervisory Board informed about events of particular importance between 
meetings; the chairman of the Supervisory Board and the chairman of the 
Management Board met regularly to discuss company operations.

Matters of great importance to the company, such as corporate planning, stra-
tegic objectives, personnel planning and major investment projects were dis-
cussed with the Management Board. The Supervisory Board also discussed 
individual matters of particular importance for the further development of the 
company and which affect legal matters and measures, which require its ap-
proval in accordance with legal stipulations, the provisions of the company’s 
articles of association and the rules of procedure of the Management Board. 
This applies in particular to the company’s budget planning.

The Supervisory Board held a total of six meetings during the period un-
der review: four meetings during the first half of the calendar year and two 
meetings during the second half of the calendar year. No Supervisory Board 
member attended less than half of the meetings. The consultations of the 
Supervisory Board during the 2004 financial year focused on: the raising of 
company profitability despite the ongoing structural crisis affecting the in-
dustry by continuing restructuring measures; the expansion and safeguard-
ing of the company’s ability to compete in its core markets; the safeguarding 
of the future of the company through the establishment of new projects in 
Germany and abroad, and participation in the concentration process in the 
European rotogravure printing market. 

The Supervisory Board also discussed the consolidated financial statements 
of December 31, 2003; the agenda for the 2004 annual shareholders’ meet-
ing; the management participation program for the Management Board; the 
effects of the switch to IFRS accounting procedures at the end of the year; the 
Investor Protection Improvement Act; corporate and investment planning for 
the 2005 financial year; the study on the efficiency of the work of the Super-
visory Board as well as the implementation of the recommendations of the 
July 4, 2003, version of the German Corporate Governance Code. 

German Corporate Governance Code

In December 2004 the Management Board and the Supervisory Board issued 
their joint statement of compliance in accordance with § 161 of the Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG) and made it available on the company website on 
a permanent basis. Axel Springer AG complies with the recommendations 
to a very large extent. The declaration of compliance appears on page 55 of 
this Annual Report.

Dr Giuseppe Vita
Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board

Born 1935, career milestones: 
General Director of Schering 
S.p.A., Milan/Italy; Chief Execu-
tive Officer and Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board of Schering 
AG, Berlin. Since 2001 on the 
Supervisory Board, since 2002 
Chairman of the Board.
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Supervisory Board Committees

The Supervisory Board has an executive committee, a personnel commit-
tee and an audit committee. The executive committee, whose responsibili-
ties include publishing and journalistic matters as well as issues relating to 
strategy, corporate planning, investments and financing (notwithstanding the 
responsibilities of the Supervisory Board as a whole), met five times during 
the period under review. The personnel committee, whose responsibilities 
include the conclusion, alteration and termination of employment contracts 
with the members of the Management Board, met three times during the pe-
riod under review.

The audit committee prepared the decisions of the Supervisory Board con-
cerning the adoption of the financial statements and approval of the consoli-
dated financial statements, reviewed the interim statements and/or interim 
report, discussed issues in connection with the auditors and examined risk 
management issues and the activities of the internal auditor. The audit com-
mittee met four times in 2004.

The chairman of the Supervisory Board is chairman of the executive com-
mittee, the personnel committee and the audit committee.

Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statements

PwC Deutsche Revision Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesell-
schaft, Hamburg, audited the financial statements and consolidated financial 
statements prepared by the Management Board as well as the management 
report and Group management report for the 2004 financial year and issued 
an unqualified opinion thereof. The auditors issued a summary in which they 
concluded that the Management Board has established a risk management 
system that complies with legal regulations and that this system, in principle, 
is capable of detecting at an early stage developments that could threaten the 
existence of the company.

The aforementioned documents, the proposal made by the Management 
Board regarding appropriation of the retained earnings and the audit reports 
by PwC Deutsche Revision Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesell-
schaft were punctually submitted to all members of the Supervisory Board. 
The documents were discussed in detail at the meeting of the audit com-
mittee on March 8, 2005.The auditors reported on the main results of their 
audit.

The Supervisory Board acknowledged and approved the results of the audit. 
Following its own internal review the Supervisory Board found no grounds 
to challenge the results. The Supervisory Board approved the financial state-
ments and consolidated financial statements prepared by the Management 
Board. The 2004 financial statements of Axel Springer AG have thereby 
been adopted.

The Supervisory Board agrees with the proposal made by the Management 
Board concerning the appropriation of the retained earnings.

The Management Board also provided the Supervisory Board with the report 
on relationships with affiliated companies in accordance with § 312 of the 
Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The audit report prepared by PwC Deutsche 
Revision Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Hamburg, was 
also made available to the Supervisory Board. The audit report reads as 
follows:

“Following our conscientious audit and evaluation we confirm that
  1. the factual details of the report are correct,

 2.    the amounts paid by the company for legal transactions listed in the 
report were not unreasonably high.”

The Supervisory Board also reviewed this report by the Management Board. 
It acknowledged and approved the auditors report on the report by the Man-
agement Board. Following the completion of its own internal review, the 
Supervisory Board agrees with the declaration made by the Management 
Board about the report in accordance with § 312 paragraph 3 of the Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG).

Supervisory Board Reelections

At the annual shareholders’ meeting on April 14, Dr Gerhard Cromme, 
Leonhard H. Fischer, Klaus Krone, Dr Michael Otto, Brian M. Powers, Axel 
Sven Springer, Dr h.c. Friede Springer and Dr Giuseppe Vita were reelected 
for another five years; Prof. Dr Wolf Lepenies was elected to replace the de-
parting Dr Joachim Theye, whom the Supervisory Board thanks for his many 
years of work on the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board reelected 
Dr Giuseppe Vita as Chairman of the Supervisory Board. 

Reduction of the Management Board

Hubertus Meyer-Burckhardt departed the Management Board on June 30, 
2004. No replacement was appointed, thereby reducing the size of the Man-
agement Board to four members. The Supervisory Board thanks Hubertus 
Meyer-Burckhardt for his successful work for the department of Electronic 
Media. 

Berlin, March 8, 2005
The Supervisory Board

Dr Giuseppe Vita
Chairman
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Dr Giuseppe Vita
Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board

Dr h. c. Friede Springer  
Vice Chairwoman
Businesswoman, Berlin

Dr Gerhard Cromme
Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board of ThyssenKrupp AG, 
Düsseldorf

Klaus Krone 
Businessman, Berlin

Prof Dr Wolf Lepenies
University Professor, Berlin
(since April 14, 2004)

Leonhard H. Fischer 
Member of the Management 
Board of Crédit Suisse Group, 
Switzerland, and Chief Executive 
Officer of Winterthur Group

Brian M. Powers  
Chief Executive Officer of the 
Investment Group Hellman & 
Friedman, LLC, San Francisco, 
California, USA 

Dr Michael Otto 
Chairman of the Management 
Board of Otto (GmbH & Co), 
Hamburg

Axel Sven Springer
Journalist, Hamburg

Supervisory Board
 Foreword / Management Board / Report of the Supervisory Board / Supervisory Board / Strategy / Highlights / Management Report / Divisions / Further Information /



Photography
Classics

Cover Photo: The Cold Shoulder...
... is not exactly what the dancers in this cover photo intend to give readers. Erni Kaiser and Kitty Lorenz 
are simply looking too deeply into their eyes. Also deep is the plunging backline of the dresses 
molded to their bodies by costume designer Ladislaus Czettel. Erni and Kitty made their stage debut on 
August 7, 1926, at the “Theater of the West” in the Willi Kollo Revue “The Way West.” The photo was taken 
in Atelier Balázs in Berlin and is one of the ullstein bild agency treasures.

ullstein bild
2004 / Annual Report // Axel Springer AG  8

Life in an optically dominated 
world demands an appropriate visual 
memory.



ullstein bild 9

The agency ullstein bild is such a 
photo depository. The agency, which 
has been owned by Axel Springer for 
over a half-century, boasts a collection 
of over twelve million photos. 
From the beginning of photographic 
time through the present day. 
By Franz Hanfstaengl, Erich Salomon 
and Fritz Eschen; and by Lotte Jacobi, 
Sven Simon, Martin Munkacsi and 
Willy Römer. 
All renowned photographers who 
contributed to a unique collection of 
precious photo documents.



The Discovery of Speed
Martin Munkacsi, who was born in 1896 in Kolozsvár, Hungary, and died in 1963 in New York, is one of many 
famed Ullstein photo-journalists of the ’20s and ’30s who like no other succeeded in capturing speed, movement and 
dynamics. His classic 1929 photo “Unknown Participant in the ‘Tourist Trophy’ in Hungary” is one of the most 
impressive examples in this respect of photographic history.





“Black Venus” – a Vintage Print from 1928
Perscheid student Dora Kallmus (1881-1965) opened her first photo atelier 
in Vienna in 1907 as “Madame d’Ora”. But her most important photos were taken 
during her Paris years in the ’20s and ’30s. Here she captured both the erotic 
and the demure in 22-year-old Follies Bergère dancer Josephine Baker, who was 
then Europe’s highest-paid revue star.



The Cool Factuality of “Die Dame”
“Die Dame” – by far Ullstein’s most sophisticated magazine - combined the mundane with a touch 
of snobbishness. It featured expensive cars, grandiose villas, white sports and elegant attire. 
The photo shows a Mrs. Karton with turban and a necklace and bracelet made of platinum-gold stands 
created by Suzanne Farnier of Paris. Published on the cover of the third December issue in 1933, 
this was one of the last photos taken by Jewish photographer “Madame d’Ora” that she was able to 
publish under her own name in Germany.



Memories Captured on Film
Four years after founding his company in 1877, Leopold Ullstein began his conquest of Berlin’s newspaper 
district on Kochstraße. Building by building. In 1892/93 the architect Professor Schwenke constructed the building 
“a la mode” at Charlottenstraße 10 as the residence of the newly established printing plant. 
But the publishing house grew far too fast to satisfy customer demand for any length of time. When the old 
building had to make way for an extension to the new building on the left in 1911, Berlin photographer Waldemar 
Titzenthaler (1868–1937) was called in to capture the Schwenke facade for posterity.



“War to the Palaces” 1918
The First World War had ended in defeat; Wilhelm II had fled into exile in Holland. No longer a monarchy; not yet a 
republic – Germany was in chaos. The revolution that began in Kiel at the beginning of November reached the Berlin 
Palace on December 23rd. Sailors from the People’s Navy occupied the former Hohenzollern residence. 
Friedrich Ebert, who headed the provisional government, resorted to force to put an end to the occupation on Christmas Eve. 
Photographer Willy Römer (1887–1979) arrived on the scene shortly after the palace was taken by storm. 
His photos, classics of journalistic photography, were published by Ullstein.



As if the Sound in the Room Stood Still…
…is how this photo of violin virtuoso Jascha Heifetz “sounds.” He performed with the philharmonic orchestra under the direction of 
Hermann Abendroth on January 4, 1933, at the old Berliner Philharmonie on Bernburger Straße. Alfred Eisenstaedt (1898-1995) had arranged 
for a seat in the first row directly in front of the stage so that he could take this photo with his Leica for “Zeitbilder”, the Sunday supplement 
of the newspaper “Vossische Zeitung”. Eisenstaedt was forced to emigrate in 1935. He traveled to New York, where Henry Luce had 
just founded “Life”. “Eisie” became one of the four regular photographers that supplied the photos for the magazine’s over ninety covers and 
more than 2,500 feature articles that spanned a period of over 40 years.



Goalie Shortly before Landing
With a cap like that worn by Nürnberg legend Heiner Stuhlfauth pulled down tightly over his head, 
the nameless goalkeeper grabs the ball with firm conviction. 
The original caption to the photo appearing in the Ullstein magazine “Koralle” in 1933 had a humorous touch: 
“Wow! He’s got the ball!”. Martin Munkacsi’s photo of the airborne goalie is timeless. It is one of the true icons 
of sports photography.



“Island of Tears” on the Horizon
Dr Erich Salomon (1886–1944), who initially worked as a lawyer in the Ullstein advertising department, 
later become one of the company’s most important photo-journalists. His work for “Berliner Illustrirte Zeitung” 
set the standard for his profession. The vintage photo from 1930, taken with his first and newly acquired 
Leica I bearing the serial no. 25617, does not, as one might suspect, capture hopeful US immigrants who are 
about to set foot in the “Land of the Free.” The photo was taken for an article entitled “The prisoners of the 
world crisis” which focused on the undesirable and the deported on Ellis Island in New York harbor. Salomon later 
perished in Auschwitz.



Big Brother? A Prison? A Prison!
As you drive north along federal road B96 from the center of Berlin toward Frohnau and pass the 
turn-off between Burgfrauenstraße and Fürstendamm, it’s hard to imagine what an eerie 
situation the division of the city once created here. Like a wedge, the East Berlin street Am Sandkrug 
invaded the western sector of the city as it jutted sharply across the B96. It’s hard to imagine 
what living in these houses must have been like when Ullstein photographer Müller-Preisser shot 
this photo in 1982.



A Small Leap into the Big World of Freedom
Peter Leibing was not the only photographer to capture the dividing of Berlin on film on Tuesday, August 15, 1961. 
But he was at the right place at the right time: Bernauer Straße, corner of Ruppiner Straße. And he 
snapped the shutter of his camera at just the right moment. The man from the Hamburg agency Conti-Press had 
immediately noticed a nervous soldier, Sgt. Conrad Schumann, who was nervously smoking a cigarette and pacing 
back and forth. “Will he jump or not?”. Yes, he jumped! And Leibing took the photo of his career. The next day 
it occupied half of a BILD page.





Two Squaws Named Ida and Evelyne
A perfectly orchestrated photo from the era when Berlin was still considered the German capital of varieté. 
The most famous venues were the “Plaza” and the “Wintergarten”, located at Dorotheenstraße 16. 
It was at the latter venue that the September 1930 program featured two “delightful representatives of the 
graceful art” – as the Berliner Morgenpost wrote – the dancing duo of Ida and Evelyne Duffek. The PR photo 
was taken in Atelier Hilbinger & Co in Munich.



Big City Elegance during the Late ’20s
London 1929. Head-hugging felt hats, knee-length summer dresses and matching coats with plush fur trim. 
The confident posture and casual foot on the taxi running board document the newly acquired self-consciousness 
of young, sophisticated women of the day. The London News Agency photo, seen here in the original, was 
published for the first time in Germany in “Uhu” no. 11, August 1929. The caption to the masterful photo reads: 
“How much is it ...?” The magazine published the photo in “left-right reversed” format for German readers who 
were not familiar with English left-hand traffic.
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Strategy and Principles

Market Leadership in Core Business in 
German-Speaking Regions, 
Internationalization, Digitization.

Company Profile

Founded in 1946, Axel Springer is the largest newspaper publisher in 
Germany and one of the world’s leading media corporations. The Group is 
headquartered in Berlin with central publishing facilities in Hamburg and 
Munich. The company’s core business consists of newspapers, magazines 
and digital sales channels. The Group also operates state-of-the-art print-
ing plants and highly-effective sales organizations. The focus of foreign 
publishing activities for newspapers and magazines in Western Europe is 
on France, Spain and Switzerland; in Eastern Europe the emphasis is on 
Poland, Hungary, the Czech Republic and Russia. A strong familiy of brands 
as well as highly qualified and motivated employees in our publishing 
houses  and printing plants symbolize our long tradition of creativity and 
market leadership.

Corporate Values

Our corporate culture is based on the following corporate values: creativ-
ity as a prerequisite for journalistic and economic success; entrepreneurial 

spirit of our employees in the sense of having the courage to put ideas into 
action, taking responsibility for one’s actions and producing efficient results 
as well as demonstrating the highest integrity towards the company, readers, 
employees, customers, business associates and shareholders.

Strategy

Our strategic objective of increasing the company value by generating profit-
able growth rests upon three columns: core business market leadership in 
German-speaking regions, internationalization and digitization. After draw-
ing up our strategic guidelines in December 2001, Axel Springer initially 
focused on core business activities and undertook a thorough restructuring 
program designed to strengthen the company. During the past financial year 
Axel Springer concentrated on continuing and implementing the company’s 
launch offensive. The growth of both revenues and earnings in 2004 is proof 
that we are on successful strategic course. Axel Springer is committed to 
achieving profitable future growth in accordance with the company’s strate-
gic guidelines by reacting timely to changing market conditions, launching 
new publications and making acquisitions.

Six Keys to Profitable Growth

Strategy

Corporate Values

Market leadership in  
core business in  
German-speaking regions

Internationalization 
in core busines

Digitization  
in core business

Creativity Entrepreneurship Integrity

Profitability
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Preambles

Axel Springer is the only independent media company to have a corporate 
constitution, which it introduced in 1967. The company adheres to the fol-
lowing guidelines:

To uphold liberty and law in Germany, a country belonging to the Western 
family of nations, and to further the unification of Europe; To promote recon-
ciliation of Jews and Germans and support the vital rights of the State of Isra-
el; To support the Transatlantic Alliance, and solidarity with the United States 
of America in the common values of free nations; To reject all forms of politi-
cal extremism; To uphold the principles of a free social market economy. 

Guidelines of Journalistic Independence

The editors-in-chief and publishing directors of the company developed 
guidelines to guarantee journalistic independence at Axel Springer and in-
troduced them in August 2003 in agreement with the Management Board. 
The guidelines specify and extend the company’s understanding of the pub-
lishing principles of the press code of conduct issued by the German Press 
Council. The observance of these guidelines by all reporters and editors in 
their journalistic endeavors forms a foundation for the general conditions 
that make independent and critical journalism possible. The editors-in-chief 
are responsible for the observance of the guidelines and for their implemen-
tation in day-to-day business. The guidelines deal with the distinction be-
tween advertising and editorial copy as well as between the editors’ private 
and professional interests, prevent the exercise of personal advantage and 
define a position with respect to the treatment of sources.

International Social Policy

In view of the company’s growing international presence, Axel Springer AG 
adopted a catalog of social standards during the 2004 financial year.

1. Human rights 

2. Compliance with the law

3. Child protection 

4. Treatment of employees 

5. Equality of opportunity 

6. Right of association 

7. Health and safety 

8. Wages and welfare benefits 

9. Employee qualification

10. Work/family balance 

11. Cooperation based on trust 

12. Expectations for our business associates 

The complete Preambles, Guidelines of Journalistic Independence and the In-
ternational Social Policy can be found on the Internet at www.axelspringer.de.

Axel Springer
View of the new main entrance, 
Axel-Springer-Straße, Berlin
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Highlights 2004

Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting
The annual shareholders’ meeting 
was held for the first time in 
the new Ullstein Halle on April 14, 
2004. All items on the agenda 
were approved by a 99.9 % 
majority. 

Q1
January / February / March

FAKT
FAKT is Poland’s no. 1 daily 
newspaper with over 3.5 million 
readers. FAKT was also named 
“Medium of the Year”.

New Building Additions 
in Berlin
The new main entrance, the 
Ullstein Halle and the Axel 
Springer Passage in Berlin’s old 
newspaper district were officially 
opened on January 13, 2004.

TV DIGITAL 
In launching TV DIGITAL on 
March 25, 2004, Axel Springer 
founded a new generation of 
TV guides for the digital television 
era.

WELT KOMPAKT
Beginning with an eight-week 
test run on May 24, 2004, 
Axel Springer launched 
WELT KOMPAKT, Germany’s 
first multi-regional daily news-
paper in handy tabloid format. 
WELT KOMPAKT caters especially 
to young readers.

AUDIO VIDEO FOTO BILD
The new magazine for consumer 
electronics became the market 
leader from the moment it was 
launched in December 2003.

Q2
April / May / June

FORBES RUSSIA and
RUSSKIJ NEWSWEEK
On April 15, 2004, Axel Springer 
became the first western 
publishing house to launch its 
own business magazine in Russia: 
FORBES RUSSIA. The interna-
tional news magazine RUSSKIJ 
NEWSWEEK followed on June 7, 
2004.
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Q3
July / August / September

Q4
October / November / December 

WELT am SONNTAG
Germany’s leading Sunday 
newspaper was relaunched with 
a new look, modern layout, 
revamped page structure and 
revised content.

Online Classified Ads Market
Having acquired a 49.9% stake 
in StepStone Deutschland AG 
on September 21, 2004, Axel 
Springer is now represented 
online in the three main classified 
advertising segments of jobs, 
real estate and cars.

REGGEL
REGGEL, the first daily newspaper 
for the greater Budapest area, was 
first published on October 18, 
2004. This is the second success-
ful launch of a daily newspaper 
abroad following the introduction 
of FAKT in Poland.

Office in China
Axel Springer opened an office 
in China to prepare the way for 
market entry into East Asian 
markets. On December 6, 2004, 
two contracts with Chinese 
publishing houses were signed.

COMPUTER BILD
COMPUTER BILD was launched 
in Lithuania in November followed 
by Macedonia and Italy in 
December. Together with Poland, 
Spain and the Czech Republic, 
COMPUTER BILD is now pub-
lished in six countries.

BILD BESTSELLER LIBRARY
“The Godfather” and “Hanna’s 
Daughters” climbed to the top the 
bestseller list on October 26, 
2004, only one week after the 
launch of the BILD BESTSELLER 
LIBRARY. A total of 25 works from 
well-known authors are published 
in cooperation with the WELTBILD 
publishing house.

AUTO BILD 
Further expansion of international 
licensing business: Following 
launches in Estonia and Finland in 
March and Lithuania in April, new 
editions are launched in Thailand 
and Hungary. AUTO BILD is now 
published in 23 countries.

Kirch Settlement
As a result of the settlement of the 
insolvency proceedings involving 
Taurus TV, Axel Springer increased 
its stake in ProSiebenSat.1 Media 
AG to 11.9 % without further 
financial investment, received 
a cash payment of € 60.3 million 
and recognition of its claim of 
€ 325 million.

JOLIE
One year after the launch of 
JOLIE, the new women’s maga-
zine saw its circulation grow 
13.3 % to a record 365,000-plus 
copies in the third quarter of 2004. 
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Management Report
Group and Axel Springer AG

Earnings Improved Further in Difficult 
Market Environment

2004 was characterized by the continuing difficult 
market and industry environment, the positive 
effects of the restructuring, the successful launch 
of new newspapers and magazines with related 
start-up losses and the settlement with respect to 
the put option exercised vis a vis the former Kirch 
Group. Revenues grew from € 2,320.7 million 
in the prior year to € 2,402.0 million, since both 
circulation revenues and advertising revenues 
increased. Axel Springer increased its EBITA 
before non-recurring items from € 215.4 million 
in the prior year to € 335.8 million and its consoli-
dated net income from € 111.6 million to € 147.5 
million. The Kirch settlement contributed € 92.6 
million to EBITA and € 62.3 million to net income. 
Earnings per share rose from € 3.26 to € 4.66. 
For 2005, the Management Board expects a slight 
increase in revenues provided the newly launched 
titles continue to develop successfully and the 
advertising markets grow. Continued strict 
management of costs and the new newspapers’ 
and magazines’ gradual movement towards 
profitability are expected to bring EBITA for 2005 
to a level slightly above the 2004 EBITA adjusted 
for the effects of the Kirch settlement.

Introduction The consolidated financial statements for the year 2004 have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS) for the first time. The significant differences to accounting 
policies in accordance with HGB regulations are discussed in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements. 

The following management report includes statements about the develop-
ment of the Axel Springer Group which largely also apply to the develop-
ment of Axel Springer AG.

Economic Environment

Germany: Slight Growth, Consumer Spending Flat According to infor-
mation provided by the Federal Statistical Office, Germany, the most im-
portant market for Axel Springer, experienced slight economic growth again 
after several years of stagnation. In 2004, the gross domestic product rose 
by 1.6 % in real terms. This was mainly a result of the positive trends in the 
export industry. Despite the increased euro exchange rate, German compa-
nies have markedly improved their international competitiveness. However, 
consumer spending, which is critical for the success of the Axel Springer 
publications, was still stagnant (- 0.3 % in real terms). The main reason for 
this was again the lack of vitality in the labor market. Gross wages grew 
only slightly and did not significantly stimulate consumer spending. In ad-
dition, consumers still lacked confidence in the future; at 10.9 %, the sav-
ings rate continued at a high level. Inflation was at 1.6 % (previous year 
(PY): 1.1 %).

Europe: Mixed Trends Based on estimates in the Joint Report of lead-
ing German economic research institutes, the foreign markets in which Axel 
Springer has its own publishing activities achieved significantly higher eco-
nomic growth rates than Germany: Poland’s gross domestic product rose 
by 6.0 %, Hungary’s by 3.9 %. Russia profited from the high oil price and 
experienced growth of 7.0 % in 2004. In Eastern Europe, economic growth 
was mainly driven by domestic demand; in an unchanged situation of rapidly 
expanding consumption, investment activity quickened almost everywhere. 
Spain achieved growth of 2.7 %, France 2.4 %. In these countries as well, 
growth was strongly driven by domestic demand. The Swiss economy ex-
panded by 1.7 %. 
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Business Development

Core Business Strengthened In a market and industry environment that 
continues to be difficult, Axel Springer successfully expanded its domestic 
core business. Revenues and earnings of the existing titles in the newspaper 
business developed successfully, the launch of WELT KOMPAKT strength-
ened the presence in the newspaper market, and the acquisition of a 14.5 % 
interest in “Westfalen-Blatt” expanded the position in the German market for 
regional newspapers. The magazine segment has been and continues to be 
subject to intense competition due to the introduction of low-priced titles and 
has suffered from restrained advertising spending in the markets relevant to 
Axel Springer. Against this background, Axel Springer has incurred start-up 
losses to expand and improve its position in the market. The position in the 
important TV guide market was strengthened by the launch of TV DIGITAL. 
The titles AUDIO VIDEO FOTO BILD, FRAU von HEUTE and JOLIE, 
launched last year, were successfully developed further. The title ALLEGRA  
was discontinued as it lacked economic perspective, JOURNAL für die 
FRAU was sold to Hubert Burda Media. 

Internationalization Continued In addition to the successful expansion of 
FAKT to Poland’s largest daily newspaper, the launch of REGGEL, a quality 
newspaper for the larger Budapest area, was the focal point of the interna-
tional newspaper business. In Russia, Axel Springer entered the market with 
the titles RUSSKIJ NEWSWEEK and FORBES RUSSIA, and in China, the 
entry into the East Asian market was initiated by founding a representative 
office there. In total, Axel Springer launched five new titles outside Germa-
ny; in addition, nine new licensed editions of Axel Springer titles appeared.  

Electronic Media Expanded Axel Springer AG’s investment in ProSieben-
SAT.1 Media AG was increased from 10.2 % to 11.9 % as part of the settle-
ment reached under the insolvency plan for Taurus TV GmbH i.I. Effective 
from January 1, 2004, Axel Springer increased its investment in Hamburg 1 
from almost 7 % to 30 %. The joint venture BILD.T-ONLINE.DE achieved 
profitability. The acquisition of 49.9 % of the online job portal StepStone 
Deutschland AG strengthened Axel Springer’s position in the internet classi-
fied advertising business. As a result, Axel Springer now has a presence in the 
three most important online classified advertising markets jobs, real estate 
(IMMONET.DE )  and cars (AUTOBILD.DE). 

Rotogravure Printing Joint Venture Agreed During the year under re-
view, Arvato AG, Gruner+Jahr AG und Co. and Axel Springer AG agreed on 
a joint venture which combines their five German rotogravure printing op-
erations in Ahrensburg, Darmstadt, Itzehoe, Dresden and Nuremberg start-
ing January 1, 2005. In addition, the parties agreed to include the printing 
operation being built by Arvato in Liverpool, England. The project is subject 
to approval by the anti-trust authorities.

Kirch Settlement Agreement As part of the insolvency proceedings of 
Taurus TV GmbH i.I., Axel Springer AG, Taurus TV GmbH i.I., KirchMedia 
GmbH & Co. KGaA i.I. and other parties have agreed on a settlement. As 
part of the settlement, Axel Springer AG waives its rights under the put op-
tion claim in dispute by the parties involved. In return, Axel Springer AG re-
tains its indirect 10.2 % investment in ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG, increases 
it by 1.7 percentage points to 11.9 % for no financial consideration and re-
ceives a payment of € 60.3 million from Taurus TV GmbH i.I. The financial 
statement impact of the settlement totaled € 92.6 million in earnings before 
taxes. In addition, the insolvency administrator of KirchMedia GmbH & Co. 
KGaA i. I. recognizes a claim of Axel Springer AG in the amount of € 325.0 
million which will be included in the subsequent insolvency proceedings. 
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Operating Results – Group

Market Environment: Print Circulation Still Down, Advertising Market 
Slightly Relaxed Due to the persistent weakness in consumer spending, 
sales volume and revenue figures in the print circulation market decreased 
further. Total circulation sold for newspapers and magazines effectively 
dropped by 2.5 %. For the entire market, circulation revenues fell by 1.0 %. 
Gross revenues from the print media advertising business (excluding clas-
sified advertising) experienced growth of 7.1 % to € 8.86 billion. However, 
the net development, which is the deciding factor economically, was much 
less favorable as a result of ongoing price pressures. The classified advertis-
ing business, a central source of revenues for subscription newspapers, also 
showed further declines in the job, personals and travel markets.

Axel Springer: Circulation and Advertising Revenues Increased In 
this market environment, Axel Springer increased total revenues for 2004 by 
€ 81.3 million (+ 3.5 %) to € 2,402.0 million. Circulation revenues grew by 
€ 44.1 million (+ 3.9 %) to € 1,169.6 million, representing 48.7 % of total 
revenues. The increase is mainly a result of the positive development of the 
newly launched domestic and foreign titles. Advertising revenues grew by 
€ 32.3 million (+ 3.5 %) to € 945.0 million and represented 39.3 % of total 
revenues. Particularly the newspaper division and the expansion of the in-
ternational activities contributed to the growth in revenues. Other revenues 
rose by € 4.9 million (+ 1.7 %) to € 287.4 million.

Revenue Growth in Foreign Markets Foreign revenues, at € 373.6 mil-
lion, were € 44.4 (+ 13.5 %) above the prior year level, thus representing 
15.6 % of total revenues (PY: 14.2 %). The main contributing factors here 
were the increase in the circulation and advertising performance generated 
by the daily newspaper FAKT, launched in Poland in October 2003, as well 

as an increase in circulation revenues in Spain and the entry into the Russian 
market. These positive effects were able to more than offset the decrease in 
circulation revenues in France, which were the result of stronger competi-
tion among TV guides.

Total Expenses Grew Less than Revenues Growing slightly less than 
revenues, total expenses included in EBITA rose by € 59.3 million (+ 2.7 %) 
to € 2,281.0 million. At € 745.3 million, purchased goods and services were 
€ 40.3 million (+ 5.7 %) above the prior year level due to the higher exter-
nal services and professional fees incurred in connection with the expansion 
process. Personnel expenses fell by € 47.3 million (- 6.1 %) to € 722.0 mil-
lion due to the lower staffing levels. Other operating expenses increased by 
€ 44.1 million (+ 6.6 %) to € 716.7 million due to the launch of new pub-
lications. Depreciation, amortization and impairments (excluding goodwill 
impairment charges) increased by € 22.3 million (+ 29.9 %) to € 97.0 mil-
lion due to the completion of construction on the new building in Berlin, the 
commencement of operations for new equipment and impairment charges 
on title rights. 

EBITA at a Historic High In 2004 Axel Springer increased EBITA before 
non-recurring items by € 120.4 million (+ 55.9 %) to € 335.8 million. The 
conclusion of the settlement agreement as part of the insolvency proceed-
ings of Taurus TV GmbH i.I. (Kirch settlement) contributed € 92.6 million 
to EBITA. Excluding the income effect of the Kirch settlement, an increase 
in EBITA from € 215.4 million to € 243.2 million was achieved despite the 
start-up costs of the expansion process. This growth can be attributed to the 
higher revenues generated and the continued cost management. The EBITA 
margin grew from 9.3 % to 14.0 %, and to 10.1 % without the income impact 
of the Kirch settlement. 

Income from Continuing Operations Doubled, Net Income Increased 
Significantly Income from continuing operations increased by € 84.3 mil-
lion (+ 121.6 %) to € 153.6 million, consolidated net income by € 35.9 mil-
lion (+ 32.2 %) to € 147.5 million. The Kirch settlement contributed € 62.3 
million to the increase, although its effect on consolidated net income is 
mostly offset by the reduction in income from discontinued operations.
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Net Income
in € millions

2004 2003 Change 

Income from continuing operations 153.6 69.3 121.6 %

Loss/income from discontinued 

operations - 6.1 42.3 - 114.4 %

Consolidated Net Income 147.5 111.6 32.2 %

Income from continuing operations and consolidated net income include a 
rise in income tax expense by € 46.0 million to € 142.1 million, which is 
due to improved operating results and to the tax audits for the years 1991 to 
1999 being almost completed. Interest charges on the subsequent tax pay-
ments explain the increase in net financial expenses from € - 24.4 million 
to € - 34.3 million. Goodwill impairments amounted to € 20.2 million (PY: 
€ 21.5 million), mainly due to impairment charges resulting from the change 
in competition in the French TV guide market.

Earnings per Share Improved Significantly The increase in earnings per 
share from € 3.26 to € 4.66 is largely due to the significant improvement in 
net income. In addition, the weighted average number of shares outstand-
ing fell from 33,627,000 to 30,623,000 due to the treasury shares purchased 
in November 2003. Diluted earnings per share for 2004 were € 4.65 (PY: 
€ 3.26). The dilutive effect of the share options purchased under the Manage-
ment Participation Plan was included in the calculation of this figure.  

Earnings per Share

2004 2003 Change

Net Income after Minority 

Interests (in € millions) 142.9 109.5 30.5 %

Weighted average shares 

outstanding (in thousands) 30,623 33,627 - 8.9 %

Basic Earnings per Share (in €) 4.66 3.26 42.9 %

Weighted average shares 

diluted (in thousands) 30,703 33,627 - 8.7 %

Diluted Earnings per Share (in €) 4.65 3.26 42.6 %

Operating Results – Segments

Newspapers

Market Environment: Further Decrease in Circulation, Advertising 
Business Slightly Improved In Germany, total paid circulation of the 380 
daily and Sunday newspapers reported on by IVW reached an average of 
26.1 million per publication day. This represents a decrease of 2.3 % com-
pared to 2003. Newly launched low-priced titles in tabloid format estab-
lished a new direction in the newspaper market. As in other markets, the in-
clusion of free promotional items such as CD-ROMs, audio books or novels, 
sometimes in connection with a higher price, has become established prac-
tice in the newspaper market in 2004. Gross advertising volume for news-
papers (excluding classified advertisements) saw an increase of 10.7 % to 
€ 4.54 billion, mainly driven by the continued strong advertising efforts of 
the discounters. However, regional newspapers’ advertising volume includ-
ing classified advertisements was flat compared to the prior year. 

Axel Springer: Newspaper Circulation and Advertising Revenues In-
creased In this environment, Axel Springer increased newspaper revenues 
by € 44.8 million (+ 3.3 %) to a total of € 1,398.4 million for the year. At 
58.2 %, newspapers were again the Group’s largest revenue generator. Circu-
lation revenues rose from € 22.1 million (+ 3.4 %) to € 678.3 million, partic-
ularly because of the sales successes of FAKT in Poland and the effects of the 
price increases implemented at BILD and HAMBURGER  ABENDBLATT  
in mid-2003. Newspaper advertising revenues grew by € 34.7 million 
(+ 5.3 %), totaling € 684.7 million. BILD and BILD am SONNTAG were 
the main contributors here.  
 

Key Figures – Newspapers
in € millions

2004 2003 Change

External Revenues 1,398.4 1,353.6 3.3 %

in % of consolidated revenues 58.2 % 58.3 %

Circulation revenues 678.3 656.2 3.4 %

in % of revenues 48.5 % 48.5 %

Advertising revenues 684.7 650.0 5.3 %

in % of revenues 49.0 % 48.0 %

Other revenues 35.4 47.4

in % of revenues 2.5 % 3.5 %

EBITA 250.7 182.1 37.7 %

EBITA margin 17.9 % 13.5 %
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EBITA grew by 37.7 % from € 182.1 million to € 250.7 million, faster than 
revenues. In addition to the increase in revenues, this growth resulted from 
the continued cost discipline in all divisions of the newspaper segment. In-
come from investments fell by € 3.7 million (- 34.3 %) to € 7.1 million. The 
impact of improved operating results was offset by unusual expenses related 
to early replacements of printing presses.

The business of the BILD group, including BILD, BILD am SONNTAG and 
the BILD special-interest titles, continued its positive development and ex-
perienced a significant improvement in advertising performance. The WELT 
Group strengthened its market presence by launching WELT KOMPAKT.  
As Germany’s first quality newspaper in the compact tabloid format, 
WELT KOMPAKT won particularly young readers with high purchasing 
power. After successful tests in Berlin and Frankfurt, distribution was ex-
tended to metropolitan regions in North Rhine-Westphalia and to Munich. 
The layout and contents of WELT am SONNTAG were re-designed. The 
joint venture BILD.T-ONLINE.DE became profitable in 2004. Also in 2004, 
the real estate portal IMMONET.DE further expanded its market position as 
one of the leading real estate portals in Germany. Outside Germany, FAKT, 
Poland’s largest daily newspaper, was successfully developed further. In Oc-
tober 2004, REGGEL, the first modern high-quality newspaper was launched 
in the larger Budapest area in Hungary.

Magazines

Market Environment: Paid Circulation below Prior Year, Advertising 
Revenues Slightly Improved In Germany, the number of general-inter-
est magazines registered with IVW rose from 809 to 823. However, average 
paid circulation of 124.5 million copies per issue remained 0.6 % behind 
prior year. The predatory competition among general-interest magazines 
continued. Including product-related items such as CD-ROMs or DVDs has 
become established practice, particularly for computer magazines. Gross 
advertising volume generated by the general-interest magazines grew by 
3.8 % to € 3.90 billion. Surpassing TV guides (+ 7.5 %) and car magazines 
(+ 8.6 %), sports magazines profited most from this trend at + 16.0 %, partly 
because of the Olympics and the European Soccer Championships. Gross ad-
vertising volume generated by youth magazines and TV guide supplements 
fell by 13.3 % and 8.8 %, respectively. As a result of ongoing price pressures, 
the net development was much more unfavorable.

Key Figures – Magazines
in € millions

2004 2003 Change

External Revenues 771.4 750.0 2.9 %

in % of consolidated revenues 32.1 % 32.3 %

Circulation revenues 491.3 469.3 4.7 %

in % of revenues 63.7 % 62.6 %

Advertising revenues 260.3 262.7 - 0.9 %

in % of revenues 33.7 % 35.0 %

Other revenues 19.8 18.0 10.0 %

in % of revenues 2.6 % 2.4 %

EBITA 9.8 70.9 - 86.2 %

EBITA margin 1.3 % 9.5 %

Axel Springer: Circulation Revenues Increased Significantly, Adver-
tising Business Slightly Down In this environment, Axel Springer in-
creased its magazine revenues by € 21.4 million (+ 2.9 %) to € 771.4 mil-
lion. As a result, the Magazine segment generated 32.1 % of total revenues. 
Circulation revenues showed a marked increase of € 22.0 million (+ 4.7 %) 
to € 491.3 million. This increase was mainly due to the newly launched titles 

AUDIO VIDEO FOTO BILD, TV DIGITAL and FRAU von HEUTE. Ad-
vertising revenues amounted to € 260.3 million, slightly lower than in the 
prior year ( - 0.9 %). The positive development of advertising revenues for 
car and computer magazines was only able to partially offset the decline in 
advertising business for women’s titles and weekly TV guides. 

EBITA of € 9.8 million was clearly below the prior year level of € 70.9 mil-
lion. The reasons for this development are mainly the start-up losses incurred 
on the newly launched publications, impairment losses on title rights, as well 
as losses of revenues from existing TV guides, women’s and youth maga-
zines in Germany and the TV guide in France.

In March, TV DIGITAL successfully led the entry into the market for bi-
weekly TV guides while the weekly TV guides Axel Springer publishes were 
able to maintain or in some areas expand their market position. Altogether, 
three new titles were launched into the market: TV DIGITAL, FONDS&CO, 
and AUTOBILD.DE-AUTOMARKT. In the difficult women’s magazine 
market, which is characterized by new launches, BILD der FRAU was able 
to defend its market-leading position. One year after its launch, the young 
monthly women’s magazine JOLIE was already the second largest title 
in its segment. As part of the rigorous portfolio realignment focussing on 
market-leading titles, ALLEGRA was discontinued after the July issue and 
JOURNAL für die FRAU was sold to Hubert Burda Media in Decem-
ber. The car and computer magazines continued to develop well. Here, 
AUDIO VIDEO  FOTO BILD established itself as the clear market leader in 
the computer and entertainment electronics magazine sector since its start in 
December 2003. Effective March 1, 2004, the title FAMILIE&CO was con-
tributed to Family Media GmbH & Co. KG, a joint venture with OZ Verlag 
GmbH. Finanzen Verlag GmbH in Munich, a 100 percent subsidiary of Axel 
Springer AG, was preparing to acquire the business magazine €uro from Ver-
lagsgruppe HANDELSBLATT effective January 1, 2005 in order to combine 
it with the title FINANZEN to form the new magazine EURO. 

The foreign magazines were subject to intense competitive pressures. Par-
ticularly in France, competition in the TV guide market has been increased 
by the launch of bi-weekly TV guides at the expense of Axel Springer’s 
weekly TÉLÉ MAGAZINE. In Poland, the title PROFIT, which was started 
in 2001, has been published as a licensed edition under the title FORBES 
since December. A total of four new magazines were launched. During the 
third quarter, Axel Springer Budapest started two new magazines in Hungary: 
AUTO BILD and GLAMOUR. In Russia, Axel Springer entered the market 
with two new titles. The titles AUTO SUKCES in Poland and TV MÜSOR 
in Hungary were discontinued due to unfavorable economic prospects. Axel 
Springer again expanded the international licensing business with five new 
editions of AUTO BILD and three new editions of COMPUTER BILD.  
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Printing

In 2004, Axel Springer increased external printing revenues by € 11.8 mil-
lion (+ 8.9 %) to € 144.1 million, largely because it was successful in ac-
quiring commercial printing orders.

The EBITA represents the income from investments. Axel Springer’s print-
ing operations are managed as cost centers. Therefore, the printing firms’ 
EBITA is allocated to the Newspaper and Magazine segments. 

Key Figures – Printing
in € millions

2004 2003 Change

External Revenues 144.1 132.3 8.9 %

in % of consolidated revenues 6.0 % 5.7 %

Internal revenues 460.5 447.5 2.9 %

Total segment revenues 604.6 579.8 4.3 %

EBITA 2.6 1.6 62.5 %

EBITA margin 1.8 % 1.2 %

Services/Holding 

Services/Holding includes: services such as customer service, added-value 
phone services, TV productions, logistics, distribution, direct marketing, in-
surance sales and office buildings, as well as entirely internal departments 
such as IT, accounting, personnel and corporate staff departments. External 
revenues are generated by the added-value phone services, TV productions, 
distribution, direct marketing and insurance sales department and increased 
from € 3.3 million (+ 3.9 %) to € 88.1 million.

EBITA is impacted by the inclusion of the Kirch settlement of € 92.6 million. 
Excluding the Kirch settlement, EBITA improved from € - 39.3 million to 
€ - 19.9 million, largely due to further cost savings.

Key Figures – Services/Holding
in € millions

2004 2003 Change

External Revenues 88.1 84.8 3.9 %

in % of consolidated revenues 3.7 % 3.7 %

Internal revenues 151.7 151.1 0.4 %

Total segment revenues 239.8 235.9 1.7 %

EBITA 72.7 - 39.3

EBITA margin 82.5 % - 46.3 %

Liquidity and Cash Flows

Financial Management

Axel Springer closed the year with net liquidity of € 172.9 million (PY: € 0.8 
million). Cash and cash equivalents increased by € 159.1 million (+ 53.9 %) 
to € 454.5 million, while financial liabilities declined by € 13.0 million 
(- 4.4 %) to € 281.6 million. Liabilities due to banks totaled € 270.1 million 
(PY: € 278.6 million). In addition, Axel Springer had unused short- and long-
term lines of credit in the amount of € 285.0 million (PY: € 135.0 million) 
available at the end of 2004.

Net Liquidity
in € millions

2004 2003

Cash and cash equivalents 454.5 295.4

Financial liabilities 281.6 294.6

Net Liquidity 172.9 0.8

Cash Flow Development and Capital Expenditures

Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
in € millions

2004 2003

Cash flow from operating activities 305.0 317.4

Cash flow from investing activities - 95.3 11.7

Cash flow from financing activities - 51.1 - 111.5

Cash flow related changes 158.6 217.6

Cash and cash equivalents on December 31 454.5 295.4

Cash flow from operating activities continued at a high level at € 305.0 mil-
lion (PY: € 317.4 million). As in 2003, cash flow from operating activities 
was characterized by a significant reduction in working capital of € 71.7 mil-
lion (PY: € 106.9 million), mainly attributable to an increase in income tax 
liabilities.

Cash flow from investing activities, at € - 95.3 million (PY: € 11.7 million), 
reflected the investment activities of the Company, while the prior year 
was marked by high disposal proceeds. Capital expenditures amounted to 
€ 130.9 million (PY: € 157.7 million).

Capital expenditures on intangible assets exceeded the prior year amount 
by € 14.3 million and, at € 28.3 million, most of them were for rights and 
licenses. A large portion of these was the subscriber base for the TV guide 
TV DIGITAL , which was launched in March. Axel Springer invested € 94.3 
million in property, plant and equipment including investment property, 
€ 41.8 million less than in the prior year. One of the focuses was on expand-
ing the offset printing plant Ahrensburg. In addition, the commercial office 
building project in Berlin was completed. At € 20.2 million, investments in 
non-current financial assets were € 11.6 million above the prior year and 
related mainly to the acquisition of the investments in Westfalen-Blatt Ver-
einigte Zeitungsverlage GmbH and Stepstone Deutschland AG. On Decem-
ber 31, 2004, capital expenditures of € 11.9 million, mainly for subscription 
rights, had not yet been paid out.
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Cash flow from financing activities amounted to € - 51.1 million. Thus, this 
cash outflow decreased by € 60.4 million compared to the 2003 figure, which 
had been characterized by the purchase of treasury shares that was only par-
tially financed by debt.

Net cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities increased 
cash and cash equivalents by € 158.6 million. Cash and cash equivalents 
(cash and other marketable securities) amounted to € 454.5 million at De-
cember 31, 2004.

Balance Sheet

Consolidated total assets amounted to € 2,392.4 million, € 277.3 million 
(+ 13.1 %) more than in the prior year. Fixed assets and cash and cash equiv-
alents grew on the assets side, equity and income tax liabilities increased on 
the liabilities and equities side.

in € millions 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Non-current assets 1,562.8 1,470.8

Current assets 829.6 644.3

Assets 2,392.4 2,115.1

Equity 873.4 677.8

Non-current liabilities 796.1 812.1

Current liabilities 722.9 625.2

Liabilities and Equity 2,392.4 2,115.1

Non-current assets rose by € 92.0 million (+ 6.3 %) to € 1,562.8 million. 
The increase in property, plant and equipment and investment property by 
€ 15.7 million (+ 1.5 %) to € 1,028.7 million can be attributed to extensive 
capital expenditures on printing plants and the new building in Berlin. The € 
35.2 million (- 19.7 %) decrease in intangible assets to € 143.6 million result-
ed largely from impairment losses on title rights and goodwill. Non-current 
financial assets grew by € 127.7 million (+ 56.9 %) to € 352.2 million, as the 
additional indirect investment in ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG obtained under 
the Kirch settlement was capitalized and the entire investment in ProSieben-
Sat.1 Media AG was valued at fair value.

Current assets rose by € 185.3 million (+ 28.8 %) to € 829.6 million, mainly 
because cash and cash equivalents increased by € 159.1 million (+ 53.9 %) 
to € 454.5 million. Current income tax receivables grew by € 12.7 million 
(+ 96.2 %) to € 25.9 million and other assets by € 8.3 million (+ 14.6 %) to 
€ 65.0 million.

Equity rose by € 195.6 million (+ 28.9 %) and amounted to € 873.4 million. 
The equity ratio was 36.5 % (PY: 32.0 %). 

Non-current liabilities fell by € 16.0 million (- 2.0 %) to € 796.1 million. 
Pension provisions increased by € 7.4 million (+ 2.4 %) to € 314.9 mil-
lion. The decline in other provisions by € 21.2 million (- 33.1 %) to € 42.9 
million resulted mainly from decreased restructuring provisions. As a result 
of scheduled loan repayments, liabilities due to banks were € 8.5 million 
(- 3.1 %) less than in the prior year at € 270.1 million. 

Current liabilities increased by € 97.7 million (+ 15.6 %) to € 722.9 mil-
lion, which can mainly be attributed to the increase in current income tax 
liabilities. 

Proposed Appropriation of Profits

Special Dividend Planned

Net income of Axel Springer AG, whose separate financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with the principles of German commercial and stock 
corporations law, fell from € 161.8 million to € 120.8 million. The decrease 
is the result of the utilization of tax loss carryforwards in the prior year, 
and increased expenses due to the tax audits as well as increased impair-
ment losses on non-current financial assets during the current year. After 
an addition of € 63.8 million to other revenue reserves and a withdrawal 
from the reserve for treasury shares of € 3.4 million, unappropriated net 
earnings amount to € 60.4 million. The Management Board proposes using 
€ 44.5 million of unappropriated net earnings to pay a dividend for the year 
2004 of € 1.20 as well as a one-time special dividend related to the Kirch 
settlement of € 0.25 per qualifying no-par-value share. The treasury shares 
held by Axel Springer AG do not qualify for dividends. 

Condensed Balance Sheet of Axel Springer AG
in € millions

12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Intangible assets 34.1 15.4

Property, plant and equipment 487.1 511.3

Non-current financial assets 484.8 444.8

Fixed Assets 1,006.0 971.5

Inventories 41.0 39.2

Receivables and other assets and prepaid expenses 293.6 302.1

Treasury shares and securities 196.2 184.6

Cash on hand and cash at banks 407.9 274.1

Current Assets 938.7 800.0

Total Assets 1,944.7 1,771.5

Equity 561.5 477.5

Untaxed special reserve 0 18.2

Provisions 560.7 495.5

Liabilities and deferred income 822.5 780.3

Total Liabilities and Equity 1,944.7 1,771.5

Condensed Income Statement of Axel Springer AG
in € millions

2004 2003

Revenues 1,804.3 1,739.4

Other operating income 218.2 215.9

Purchased goods and services - 521.4 - 506.8

Gross Profit 1,501.1 1,448.5

Personnel expenses - 568.6 - 620.6

Depreciation, amortization and impairments - 163.8 - 117.2

Net interest expense - 26.2 - 10.1

Income from investments 61.4 18.1

Other operating expenses - 573.3 - 520.2

Income from Operations 230.6 198.5

Taxes - 109.8 - 36.7

Net Income 120.8 161.8

Withdrawal from reserve for treasury shares 3.4 0

Addition to other revenue reserves - 63.8 - 80.9

Unappropriated Net Earnings 60.4 80.9
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Employees

During the year, Axel Springer had an average of 10,700 employees (ex-
cluding apprentices and journalism students/trainees). Compared to the prior 
year, this means that the average for the year declined by another 249 em-
ployees. 

6,917 staff were employed in the market-oriented divisions (publishing, 
electronic media and marketing), 1,292 in the service divisions and 2,491 
in the printing divisions. The publishing activities in Russia, Poland and 
Hungary increased the number of editors by 106 to 3,139. A total of 7,561 
staff meant that the Company had 355 fewer salaried employees and hourly 
wage earners. 

In 2004, the average length of service was 13.1 years; 52.4 % of staff have 
been with Axel Springer for more than ten years. Disabled employees ac-
counted for an average of 5.2 % (Axel Springer AG: 6.1 %) over the year. 
The statutory quotas for employment of the disabled were therefore largely 
met.

Consolidated Personnel Expenses Still Decreasing In 2004, personnel 
expenses fell by € 47.3 million (- 6.1 %) to € 722.0 million. In addition to 
social security contributions and pensions, personnel expenses also include 
payments for time-off (e.g. vacation, public holidays, sick days, etc.) as well 
as fringe benefits (Christmas bonus, vacation pay, anniversary bonus, long-
service bonus and capital formation payments).

Sustainability Report

Axel Springer operates an effective sustainability management which com-
plies with international requirements. Regular eco-audits and internal and 
external reporting characterized by transparency are its central components. 
In 2004, Axel Springer continued to actively pursue a rigorous environmen-
tal management and adherence to social standards; at the same time, the 
Company increased the quality of its sustainability reporting.

Axel Springer published a sustainability report which complies with the 
guidelines issued by the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). The “GRI-Guide-
lines 2002” are an internationally recognized guide for companies voluntari-
ly reporting on economic, social and ecological performance criteria.

Axel Springer has consistently followed the charted course towards optimi-
zation of the paper supply chain. About half of the printing papers contain 
recycled paper. The contracts with suppliers contain clauses on ecological 
forest utilization. Each year, Axel Springer sources approximately 470,000 
tons of printing paper from 52 paper mills in 14 countries. Paper suppliers 
are selected based on the criteria product quality, reliability of supply, ap-
propriateness of pricing as well as on ecological aspects.

With a view to the growing international presence, a catalogue of social stan-
dards was issued. In it, the Company sets out its position on, among other 
things, issues of human rights, protection of children and adolescents, em-
ployee qualification as well as the compatibility of work and family life. The 
“International Social Policy” is a binding guideline for social integrity and 
applies worldwide for all of the Company’s activities.
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Risk Management

Under the risk management policies of the Axel Springer Group, risks should 
only be accepted if they lead to the seizing of additional income opportuni-
ties and result in an increase in the value of the Company. Appropriate mea-
sures have to be taken to reduce every risk to an acceptable level or, if eco-
nomically viable, to transfer it to third parties. The Group’s risk management 
policies are laid down in a manual which applies throughout the Company. 

Risks are monitored and managed using various interrelated component sys-
tems:

As part of the corporate management, general market and revenue risks are 
detected and managed by monitoring revenue, quantity and cost trends in the 
budget, the forecast and in the reporting system. Risks arising in connection 
with capital expenditures, projects, and acquisitions are identified and mea-
sured in advance during the investment review and tracked in the reporting 
system. In addition, we have implemented a risk management system as en-
visioned by § 91 [2] of the German Stock Corporation Act [Aktiengesetz], 
covering all other risks. 

The overall responsibility for managing risks lies with the Management 
Board. Each division or Group company is responsible for the operating pro-
cesses of identifying risks early-on, measuring, managing and documenting 
them, designing and implementing appropriate countermeasures as well as 
the related communication. A central risk manager co-ordinates all risk man-
agement activities, aggregates the risks at Group level, reviews reasonability 
and completeness of the risks reported and is responsible for the continual 
development and improvement of the risk management system. In addition, 
internal audit, as well as, during the annual financial statement audit, the ex-
ternal auditors act as independent control bodies, ensuring the completeness 
and appropriateness of the risk management system. 

Once a year, a complete survey of all risks is performed and the risk inven-
tory is updated. In the ad-hoc risk surveying process, risks that are major, 
threaten the Company’s existence, or are to be monitored as well as the cor-
responding counter measures are also reviewed during the year and their as-
sessment is adjusted to reflect the current risk situation. Whether a specific 
risk threatens the existence of the Company is assessed by Axel Springer AG 
and the individual subsidiaries using the “net loss amount” criterion and its 
effect on net assets and liquidity of the Group. Risks are classified as ma-
jor, to be monitored and other risks on the basis of the “expected net loss” 
criterion, which is calculated taking into account the effects of measures to 
reduce and avoid risks both on the amount of loss and on the risk-specific 
expected value. The following risks may threaten the existence of the Com-
pany or significantly impact net assets, earnings and liquidity:

Terror Risks The only risks threatening the existence of Axel Springer are 
the danger that the corporate headquarters or the offset printing plants are 
destroyed in terrorist attacks. For this reason, in 2004, the Company obtained 
insurance against the destruction of certain buildings in terrorist attacks. 
However, an element of risk remains, which by itself could threaten the ex-
istence of the Group. To improve the security of the corporate headquarters 
and the printing plants, access controls and video surveillance in particular 
were optimized and building security services stepped up. 

Market and Competitive Risks The general market environment of the 
Axel Springer Group is characterized by the continued weakness of the do-
mestic economy, which negatively impacts the print circulation markets, the 
advertising market and the market for classified advertisements, particularly 

job advertisements. In addition, the markets are subject to strong competi-
tive pressures. The entry of new rivaling titles and publications – potentially 
also in the form of complimentary newspapers – poses a risk that sales and 
market share will be lost in the circulation and advertising business. Changed 
spending and reading habits, primarily caused by demographic change, fur-
ther aggravate this risk. 

These general market risks are primarily monitored and managed as part 
of the corporate operating management. These risks are countered by con-
stantly developing innovative and promising titles which are test marketed 
extensively before they are launched. In addition, existing titles and publi-
cations are continually improved and adjusted to changing customer needs 
and access to new markets outside Germany is pursued. In addition, various 
actions are taken with respect to pricing policies in order to remain attractive 
to existing and potential customers. 

Furthermore, a more extensive involvement in the online business is intend-
ed to win new customer groups. To this end, we are striving to continually 
expand our internet portals and to acquire profitable investments in well-
known internet portals. The investment in the online job platform StepStone 
Deutschland AG, for instance, is a critical strategic addition to the online 
classified advertisements business, together with a large number of advan-
tages: extended reach, growing variety of services and new cross-media of-
ferings for existing and new customers. 

Political and Legal Risks Political and legal risks include e.g. advertising 
restrictions and prohibitions issued by the EU. This includes primarily the to-
bacco advertising directive, which would prohibit advertising tobacco prod-
ucts in the print media and would therefore reduce advertising revenues.

New press laws and court decisions (e.g. the “Caroline” decision) signifi-
cantly restricting the scope of editorial work also increase the risk of pos-
sible claims for damages, which would lead to a financial exposure for the 
Company.

With respect to labor relations, there is a risk of possible strikes in 2005 since 
the industry-wide collective agreement for the printing industry was can-
celled. This would significantly impair the entire value-added process. As a 
counter measure, the Company in particular set up social funds to reduce the 
financial risks associated with potential industrial action.

Risks Relating to Sustainability Management The Axel Springer Group 
operates an active sustainability management which complies with interna-
tional requirements. A delay in identifying critical developments regarding 
possible ecological and social conflicts related to the sourcing and recycling 
of materials (wood, paper) could critically damage our image. To reduce this 
risk, the cooperation with experts in the wood-, pulp-, and paper industry as 
well as numerous environmental organizations was further intensified, and 
the potential ecological and social conflicts along the entire value-added 
chain were monitored on an ongoing basis. Regular eco-audits and an inter-
nal and external reporting characterized by transparency complement these 
measures. 

Financial Risks The most significant financial risks are interest rate risks 
in particular, resulting from variable interest financial liabilities and invest-
ments in interest-bearing securities, as well as foreign exchange risks re-
lated to commercial printing jobs and circulation revenues denominated in 
foreign currencies. Established principles covering and ensuring the com-
pliance with loss limits for investments serve to limit interest rate risk. In 
addition, these risks are hedged using various interest derivatives. Foreign 
exchange forward contracts are used as hedging instruments to reduce for-
eign exchange risks. Derivative financial instruments are only used if a cor-
responding hedged item exists.



37

Price, credit and liquidity risks as well as risks from fluctuations in cash 
flows are currently not relevant to the Axel Springer Group. 

Overall Risk Assessment With the exception of the terrorism risks, which 
carry a very low probability of occurrence, there are no other discernible 
risks which could jeopardize the continued existence of the Company. Con-
centrations or interdependencies of risks which might have a significant ef-
fect on the Company’s net assets, cash flows, and operating results are also 
currently not evident. 

Subsequent Events

No events occurred after year-end which affect the view of the Company’s 
situation provided by these financial statements. 

Outlook

The economic research institutes involved with the Joint Report expect im-
pulses provided by the export industry to continue to drive the overall eco-
nomic development in Germany in 2005. The world-wide economic activity 
will slow down slightly, so that the domestic economy will gain in signifi-
cance for economic growth. At 1.5 %, growth in gross domestic product will 
probably be lower than in 2004. Disposable income is forecast to grow by 
2.3 %. However, consumer spending, which is crucial to the success of Axel 
Springer’s business, will continue to lag behind this trend with an increase 
of 0.8 % in real terms. The savings rate will probably be at 10.8 %. Infla-
tion, at 1.5 %, will be somewhat less than in 2004. Against this background, 
the environment for the German print circulation market remains difficult 
for the time being.

For the euro zone countries, 2005 is not expected to see economic develop-
ment speed up (+ 2.0 %). The strong economic growth of the new EU mem-
ber states will probably level off somewhat at 4.3 % in 2005. The slower 
economic growth in Poland is the main contributor to this trend.

Despite the slightly more stable overall economy, a significant growth spurt 
is not expected for the German advertising market in 2005. The industry 
expects the focus for 2005 to remain on consolidating measures. Net adver-
tising spending for the classic media in Germany is estimated to increase 
by about 1.5 %. Particularly the EDP/communications sector is expected 
to stimulate the advertising industry in 2005. An increase in the newspaper 
job advertisement business is not expected until the second half of 2005 at 
the earliest.

In its 2005 financial year, Axel Springer will continue to vigorously imple-
ment the strategic goals of market leadership in the German-language core 
business, internationalization and digitalization. For 2005, the Management 
Board expects a slight increase in revenues provided the newly launched 
titles continue to develop successfully and the advertising markets grow. 
Continued strict cost management and the new newspapers’ and magazines’ 
gradual movement towards profitability is expected to bring EBITA for 2005 
to a level slightly above EBITA for 2004 adjusted for the effects of the Kirch 
settlement. 

Concluding Statement Pursuant to § 312 [3] 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) 

“Under the circumstances known to it at the time, Axel Springer AG received 
fair and adequate compensation for each and every legal transaction conduct-
ed with an affiliated company. During the period under review, Axel Springer 
AG neither took any action nor refrained from taking any action at the behest 
or in the interests of the controlling company or one of its affiliates.”
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Axel Springer operates on the German newspaper 
market with daily and Sunday newspapers sold 
at newsstands, national and regional newspapers 
distributed by subscription and free advertising 
publications. The company also has equity hold-
ings in regional newspaper publishing houses.

BILD Group – an Outstanding Financial Year

The BILD group saw its business continue to develop positively in 2004. 
Advertising revenues rose significantly thanks to the extremely attractive 
advertising environment for brand products generated by the European Foot-
ball Championship and marketing offensives in major cities. 

The paid circulation of BILD grew to 3.8 million copies. Additional market-
ing partners and sales channels contributed to stable earnings from newspa-
per sales. BILD was especially successful in the field of merchandising dur-
ing the year under review. Two new publishing projects carried out jointly 
with the publishing house WELTBILD stand out here: the BILD best-seller 
library with 25 planned works from well-known authors and an edition of 
the “People’s Bible”. 

BILD am SONNTAG, Germany’s largest Sunday newspaper, received a 
facelift in August with a new layout and revised content. More pages are 
now devoted to current events, and both the services and sports sections were 
expanded. The publication is now more attractive to readers and advertisers 
alike. Advertising revenues increased nicely. Average paid circulation was 
2.1 million copies. 

SPORT BILD also scored points with readers and advertisers with its new 
editorial design and concept. The revised publication enjoyed special suc-
cess in conjunction with major sporting events such as the European Football 
Championship and the Olympics. The important segment of brand article 
advertising continued to grow following the end of the European Football 
Championship. Sustained positive reader response to the more attractive 
treatment of sports topics led to an increase in subscriptions. Total circula-
tion was around 484,000 copies.

BILD special-interest publications launched in 2003 – REISE BILD, GE-
SUNDHEITS BILD and TIER BILD – continued to develop successfully 
during the past year.

WELT Group – New Compact Edition

The WELT group enjoyed a stable development compared to the previous 
year. Increased marketing expenditures in conjunction with the launch of 
WELT KOMPAKT and the new design of WELT am SONNTAG were com-
pensated for by the restructuring of publish house operations and the edito-
rial staff. DIE WELT average paid circulation grew to over 203,000 copies. 
The newspaper received recognition for journalistic quality in the form of 
a number of awards including one for excellence in the reporting of current 
events, which was presented at the European Newspaper Awards. 

The publishing house took a very promising step forward with the introduc-
tion of WELT KOMPAKT. Following a successful test phase in Berlin and 
Frankfurt, the new publication was launched in Munich and major urban ar-
eas in North Rhine Westphalia. With its handy tabloid format, a high degree 
of currentness and wide array of topics, WELT KOMPAKT was a big hit 
from the very beginning with younger readers with above-average purchas-
ing power. The advertising business of the parent publication DIE WELT is 
also profiting from this target group.

The market position of WELT am SONNTAG as Germany’s leading qual-
ity Sunday newspaper was further strengthened in 2004. The spring facelift 
given to the automobile section led to an increase in advertising – contrary 
to the general market trend. The positive development of brand article busi-
ness over the course of the entire year coupled with a significant increase in 
supplements contributed significantly to the stable development of advertis-
ing revenues. The new look acquired in August and the expansion of content, 
including a new style book, earned the publication two awards, which were 
presented at the European Newspaper Awards. Average paid circulation grew 
to around 403,000 copies for a slight increase over the previous year.

BERLINER MORGENPOST – Success through Restructuring

Competition on the Berlin newspaper market for both circulation and adver-
tising is fierce. The paid circulation of BERLINER MORGENPOST aver-
aged around 151,000 copies, while subscriptions declined. Advertising for 
the retail trade and service sectors increased over the previous year. The merg-
ing of the editorial staffs of BERLINER MORGENPOST and DIE WELT in 
2002 yielded synergetic benefits. Both newspapers enjoyed an increase in 
editorial expertise and profitability. 

Divisions
Newspapers
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B.Z. – Market Position Defended

With paid circulation of around 228,000 copies, B.Z. successfully defended 
its position as Berlin’s largest newspaper. It also remained the leader for 
advertising in newspapers sold at newsstands in Berlin/Brandenburg. B.Z. 
profited from an increase in retail trade advertising, the newspaper’s most 
important advertising market segment. New sales promotions and the intro-
duction of newspaper sales in Berlin subways and via mobile sales outlets 
brought B.Z. closer to the broader public. 

HAMBURGER ABENDBLATT – Continued Growth

With a paid circulation of around 279,000 copies during the year under re-
view, HAMBURGER ABENDBLATT was again the uncontested market 
leader in the greater Hamburg area. Readership increased over 2003. The 
advertising business benefited from a significant increase in color pages, 
whereas the supplement business declined. The three most important clas-
sified advertising categories of employment, real estate and automobiles re-
mained stable for the first time in three years. 

Holdings – Portfolio Strengthened

The publishing houses that produce LÜBECKER NACHRICHTEN, KIE-
LER  NACHRICHTEN, OSTSEE ZEITUNG and LEIPZIGER VOLKS-
ZEITUNG, in which Axel Springer holds stakes, continued to develop posi-
tively. 

Axel Springer also strengthened its holdings portfolio at the beginning of 
2004 with the addition of a 14.5% stake in the Westfalen-Blatt Vereinigte 
Zeitungsverlage GmbH in Bielefeld. With five main publications and 25 lo-
cal editions, WESTFALEN-BLATT, founded in 1847, is one of the largest 
regional newspapers in North Rhine Westphalia.

Newspapers Germany
Net paid circulation IVW, average per issue in 2004

BILD 3,816,681

BILD am SONNTAG 2,082,218

SPORT BILD 483,935

DIE WELT 203,376

WELT am SONNTAG 402,829

HAMBURGER ABENDBLATT 278,620

BERLINER MORGENPOST 150,740

B.Z. 227,585

B.Z. am SONNTAG 127,753
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The magazine portfolio contains classic publica-
tion genres devoted to cars, finance, computers, 
consumer electronics and television program-
ming. Magazines for men, women, youth and the 
family cater to all of the major target groups. 
Lifestyle and body building publications plus a 
number of high-quality special-interest magazines 
round out the portfolio.

TV guides – TV DIGITAL Successfully Launched

The launch of TV DIGITAL in March marked the successful entry of Axel 
Springer into the market for biweekly TV guides. The new publication was 
created specifically for the digital television market of the future. With an 
average paid circulation of over 1.1 million copies, TV DIGITAL quickly 
established itself as a quality publication for the digital television market. 
The magazine’s circulation has grown steadily from quarter to quarter since 
its launch. However, the circulation of established TV guides declined over 
the previous year. 

With a paid circulation of 1.7 million copies, HÖRZU defended its position 
as the largest weekly TV guide. FUNK UHR, TV NEU and BILDWOCHE  
were also able to maintain or in some cases even expand their market 
shares. 

Women’s Magazines – JOLIE Attains Outstanding Position

JOLIE from AS Young Mediahouse saw its paid circulation climb to 330,000 
copies in the highly competitive market for publications catering to young 
women. JOLIE has thus become the second-largest magazine in its segment 
only one year after its launch. 

FRAU von HEUTE, launched in April 2003, has established itself as a suc-
cessful weekly magazine with a circulation over 474,000 copies. BILD der 
FRAU also managed to maintain its market-leading position with a circula-
tion of over 1.2 million copies. 

In order to focus the portfolio on market-leading publications, the monthly 
women’s magazine ALLEGRA was discontinued following publication of the 
July issue, and JOURNAL für die FRAU was sold to Hubert Burda Media in 
December. The sale is still subject to approval by the anti-cartel office. 

COMPUTER BILD Group – AUDIO VIDEO FOTO BILD – Market 
Leader since the Start

AUDIO VIDEO FOTO BILD is the latest impressive chapter in the success 
story of the COMPUTER BILD group. Launched in December 2003, this 
publication instantly became the clear market leader in its segment. With 
average paid circulation of over 500,000 copies per month, the number of 
copies sold is almost twice that of all other publications in this segment 
combined. 

COMPUTER BILD saw its circulation grow slightly to around 846,000. The 
leading position of COMPUTER BILD extends beyond Germany. It is also 
the top publication among European computer magazines. COMPUTER 
BILD SPIELE is Europe’s largest gaming magazine with a circulation of over 
626,000 copies. In July COMPUTER BILD SPIELE became available in two 
versions: one containing a CD and another with a DVD at a higher price.

Automobile Magazines – AUTO BILD Continues on the Road 
to Success

AUTO BILD maintained its uncontested position as Europe’s largest car 
magazine with a paid circulation of around 674,000 copies. In February the 
layout received a facelift and the content was revamped and expanded. 

In September the Internet portal AUTOBILD.DE was expanded to include 
the new biweekly magazine AUTOBILD.DE-AUTOMARKT. By custom-
er request the more than 5,000 used car listings are also published under 
AUTOBILD.DE-AUTOMARKT in a cross-media marketing effort.

The quarterly magazines from AS Auto Verlag AUTO BILD TEST & 
TUNING  and AUTO BILD ALLES ALLRAD as well as the biweekly mag-
azines AUTO BILD MOTORSPORT, AUTOMOBIL TESTS and AUTO-
TUNING round out the range of car publications. 

Men’s Magazines – MAXIM Expanded

The monthly men’s magazine MAXIM with a paid circulation of around 
244,000 copies was expanded to include the special supplement MAXIM 
TECH. The new supplement is devoted to new products and tends from the 
“world of men”, especially in the fields of telecommunications, computers 
and digital photography.  

Magazines
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Youth and Music Magazines – Continued Success at AS 
Young Mediahouse

The wholly-owned subsidiary AS Young Mediahouse publishes four youth 
magazines: POPCORN, YAM!, MÄDCHEN  and STARFLASH. With three 
magazines devoted to the music scene – MUSIKEXPRESS, ROLLING 
STONE and METAL HAMMER – AS Young Mediahouse is the clear mar-
ket leader in this segment in Germany. 

Financial Magazines – New Business Magazines from 
Finanzen Verlag 

The wholly-owned subsidiary Finanzen Verlag specializes in business mag-
azines: EURO am SONNTAG, FINANZEN and MARKT und MITTEL-
STAND. In September 2004 the publishing house launched the quarterly fi-
nancial magazine FONDS & CO. Plans were also made to acquire the business 
magazine €uro from the Handelsblatt publishing group on January 1, 2005. 
€uro was to merge with FINANZEN to form the new magazine EURO. 

Family Magazines – Solid Position through Family Media 
Joint Venture 

The magazine FAMILIE&CO was added on March 1, 2004, following the 
formation of a joint venture between Family Media & Co. KG and OZ Verlag 
GmbH. The magazine Spielen und Lernen from OZ Verlag was also added 
through the joint venture. The new company is the leading publisher of fam-
ily and children’s magazines in Germany. 

Special-Interest Magazines – Achieving Growth in a Difficult 
Market Environment

The Jahr Top Special Verlag is one of the leading publishers of special-in-
terest magazines in Europe. A joint venture company formed with Jahr-Ver-
lag publishes special-interest magazines in the fields of sports, hobbies and 
leisure.

CORA Verlag – Focus on New Target Groups

CORA Verlag, a joint venture with Harlequin Enterprises, maintained its 
market leadership in the pocketbook novel segment with the romance series 
JULIA, ROMANA, BIANCA, BACCARA and TIFFANY. 

Magazines Germany
Net paid circulation IVW, average per issue in 2004

HÖRZU 1,716,256

TV DIGITAL1) 1,127,544

FUNK UHR 922,816

TV NEU 292,053

BILDWOCHE 316,037

BILD der FRAU 1,252,038

FRAU von HEUTE 474,293

JOLIE 336,185

COMPUTER BILD 845,755

COMPUTER BILD SPIELE 626,303

AUDIO VIDEO FOTO BILD 523,623

AUTO BILD 673,884

AUTOMOBIL TESTS 98,081

AUTO BILD ALLES ALLRAD 69,535

AUTO BILD MOTORSPORT 64,353

AUTO BILD TEST & TUNING 56,209

FINANZEN 110,925

EURO am SONNTAG 109,200

MAXIM 243,849

POPCORN 309,158

YAM! 242,743

MÄDCHEN 211,952

STARFLASH 114,377

ROLLING STONE 60,997

MUSIKEXPRESS 59,261

METAL HAMMER 49,730

1) Included since the 2nd quarter 2004.
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In 2004 Axel Springer published over 120 news-
papers and magazines as well as various special 
editions worldwide. In Western Europe activities 
were concentrated on Spain, France and Switzer-
land; in Eastern Europe the focus was on Hungary, 
Poland, the Czech Republic and Russia. 
The establishment of an office in the People’s 
Republic of China opens the door for entry into 
the East Asia market. 

Poland – FAKT is No. 1 

FAKT, launched on the Polish market by Axel Springer Polska in October 
2003, has become the country’s largest daily newspaper with an average 
paid circulation of over 500,000 copies and reach of more than 3.5 million 
readers daily. In recognition of its extraordinary success, FAKT garnered 
virtually all of the Polish media awards and prizes granted during the year 
under review. 

In December Axel Springer converted the Polish business magazine PROFIT 
into a licensed edition of the American business magazine Forbes. The layout 
of FORBES POLSKA is based on the American parent magazine published 
by Forbes, Inc. The content consists of articles from the original US edition 
plus reports on specific Polish topics. The news magazine NEWSWEEK  
POLSKA continues to enjoy success. 

AUTO SWIAT successfully defended its position as market leader, but the 
car magazine AUTO SUKCES had to be discontinued due to the unfavorable 
outlook for future development. Market leader KOMPUTER SWIAT and the 
established publications PANI DOMU and OLIVIA round out the portfolio 
of Axel Springer Polska. 

Poland

Tabloid Newspaper

FAKT 1) 535,912

Women’s Magazines

PANI DOMU 2) 273,225

OLIVIA 3) 259,636

News, Business Magazines

NEWSWEEK POLSKA 2) 188,587

FORBES (PROFIT) 3) 55,033

Youth Magazines

DZIEWCZYNA 3) 132,676

POPCORN 3) 127,951

True Story Magazines

CIENIE I BLASKI 3) 128,249

SEKRETY SERCA 3) 100,137

Car Magazine

AUTO SWIAT 2) 122,220

Computer Magazines

KOMPUTER SWIAT 2) 121,899

KOMPUTER SWIAT GRY 3) 65,166

PLAY 3) 53,750

Illustrated Magazine

NA ZYWO 2) 83,643

1) Net paid circulation ZKDP, average per issue 01/04 – 12/04
2) Net paid circulation ZKPD, average per issue 01/04 – 11/04
3) Net paid circulation ZKPD, average per issue 01/04 – 10/04

Hungary – New Quality Newspaper for the Great Budapest 
Area

REGGEL, the first modern quality newspaper with extraregional appeal for 
the greater Budapest area, was launched in October 2004. This is the second 
successful foreign launch – following FAKT – of an extraregional publication 
from Axel Springer. REGGEL is an independent, nonpartisan newspaper ca-
tering to educated urban readers with a broad range of interests. 

Axel Springer Budapest launched two new licensed publications on the mar-
ket in September: the 23rd international edition of AUTO BILD and the 
monthly women’s magazine GLAMOUR. The most profitable publications 
were the TV guide TVR-HÉT and the women’s magazine KISGEGYED. 
The television publication TV MÜSOR was discontinued due to unfavorable 
market development.

International
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Hungary1)

Daily Newspapers

REGGEL2) 55,130

BARANYA 46,887

KECSKEMÉT 38,251

SOMOGY 34,637

BÉKÉSCSABA 32,692

SZOLNOK 28,134

HEVES 21,523

KOMÁROM 20,944

TOLNA 19,777

Sunday Newspaper

VASÁRNAP REGGEL 171,635

Business Newspaper

VILÁGGAZDASÁG 14,123

TV Guides

TVR-HÉT 273,208

TV KÉTHETES 221,293

TVR-ÚJSÁG 157,561

SZÍNES KÉTHETES 110,880

Women’s Magazines

KISKEGYED 212,206

FANNY 97,646

GLAMOUR 86,482

HÖLGYVILÁG 86,453

GYÖNGY 56,543

Puzzle Magazines

ÜGYES 111,860

TEREFERE 50,832

KÓPÉ 46,622

ESZES 34,124

JÓ VICC 19,936

Car Magazines

AUTO BILD 70,870

AUTO MOTOR 52,473

Interior Design Magazine

LAKÁSKULTÚRA 63,176

Youth Magazines

POPCORN 57,593

100 X SZÉP 50,283

Cooking Magazine

KISKEGYED KONYHÁJA 57,261

True Story Magazine

CSÓK ÉS KÖNNY 41,799

1) Net paid circulation MATESZ, average per issue in 2004
2) Distributed circulation MATESZ, average per issue 10/04-12/04

Russia – Two New Magazines Launched

Axel Springer continued to expand its successful publishing activities 
in Eastern Europe with entry into the Russian market. In April FORBES 
RUSSIA,  a licensed edition of the American business magazine Forbes, be-
came the first publication launched by our subsidiary Axel Springer Russia. 
The weekly news magazine RUSSKIJ NEWSWEEK, another licensed pub-
lication, followed in June. 

Russia

Business Magazine

FORBES 2) 50,000

News Magazine

RUSSKIJ NEWSWEEK 1) 50,000

1) Printed circulation Axel Springer, average per issue 06/04-12/04
2) Printed circulation Axel Springer, average per issue 04/04-12/04

Czech Republic 

Axel Springer Praha is the country’s leading publishing house with its car 
magazines SVET MOTORU and AUTO TIP. During the year under review 
SVET MOTORU was able to expand its position as the country’s largest 
weekly car magazine. 

Czech Republic

Youth Magazines

TOP DIVKY 2) 69,405

POPCORN 2) 45,354

Car Magazines

SVET MOTORU 1) 45,000

AUTO TIP 1) 33,000

Computer Magazine

SVET POCITACU 2) 23,860

Men’s Magazine

PLAYBOY 1) 15,000

1) Net paid circulation Axel Springer, average per issue in 2004
2) Net paid circulation ABC, average per issue in 2004
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France – Tougher Competition for TV Guides

Last year saw the establishment of a market for biweekly TV guides in 
France. The resulting significant increase in competition on the market for 
television publications had a negative effect on the weekly TV guide TÉLÉ 
MAGAZINE published by Axel Springer. 

The monthly women’s magazines VIE PRATIQUE and BIEN DANS 
MA VIE!  continued to develop successfully. 

France1)

TV Guide

TÉLÉ MAGAZINE 557,027

Women’s Magazines

BIEN DANS MA VIE! 239,293

VIE PRATIQUE 158,371

Men’s Magazine

MEN’S HEALTH 85,413

1) Net paid circulation OJD, average per issue 07/03-06/04

Spain – Market Leader among Computer Magazines

With its eight computer and computer game magazines the Axel Springer 
subsidiary HOBBY PRESS is by far Spain’s market leader. In 2004 the pub-
lishing business profited from the above-average recovery of the Spanish 
economy.

Spain1)

Computer Magazines

COMPUTER HOY 123,193

PERSONAL COMPUTER & INTERNET 82,126

PC TODAY 35,395

Computer Game Magazines

HOBBY CONSOLAS 77,664

PLAY2MANÍA 69,231

NINTENDO ACCIÓN 55,178

MICROMANÍA  35,190

COMPUTER HOY JUEGOS 41,932

1) Net paid circulation OJD, average per issue 10/03-09/04

Switzerland – HANDELSZEITUNG Defends Position

Axel Springer is represented in Switzerland by the publishing group Handels-
Zeitung. The weekly publication HANDELSZEITUNG defended its posi-
tion as one of Switzerland’s leading business newspapers. The newspapers 
advertising business developed positively.

Switzerland1)

Business Newspaper

HANDELSZEITUNG 31,084

Finance Magazine

STOCKS 15,463

1) Net paid circulation WEMF, average per issue 2004

China – Office Established

Axel Springer opened an office in Shanghai, China, for the purpose of ex-
panding into new markets in Asia. The company also signed the initial con-
tracts for the publication of AUTO BILD. 

International Licensing Business – AUTO BILD Now in 
23 Countries

Axel Springer continued to expand its international licensing business in 
2004. Leading the way were six new editions of AUTO BILD in Estonia, 
Finland, Latvia, Slovakia, Thailand and Hungary. With country-specific edi-
tions currently published in 23 countries, AUTO BILD is the world’s fastest 
growing licensed publication.

The international portfolio of COMPUTER BILD was expanded to include 
Lithuanian, Macedonian and Italian editions. Together with its counterparts 
in Poland, Spain and the Czech Republic, COMPUTER BILD now pub-
lished in six countries.
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The Electronic Media division encompasses 
the fields of TV/radio, internet und telecommuni-
cations/mobile. 

TV/Radio – Expansion of Equity Holdings and Activities

The stake of Axel Springer AG in ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG increased from 
10.2 % to 11.9 % as a result of the settlement reached in the insolvency pro-
ceedings of Taurus TV GmbH. On January 1, 2004, Axel Springer increased 
its stake in Hamburg 1 from almost 7 % to 30 %. 

The Axel Springer portfolio contains a good number of direct and indirect 
equity holdings in some of Germany’s most successful radio stations: Ra-
dio Hamburg, radio ffn, Antenne Bayern, Radio NRW, Radio FFH and An-
tenne 1. Through Radio Holding Regiocast, among others, Axel Springer 
holds stakes in Radio Schleswig-Holstein, Radio PSR (Privater Sächsischer 
Rundfunk) and RS2 in Berlin.

Schwartzkopff TV, the successful producer of entertainment programming 
and talk shows, again expanded its range of activities. For example, the 
company produced EIN HERZ FÜR KINDER in cooperation with BILD 
and ZDF as well as DIE GOLDENE KAMERA in February in cooperation 
with HÖRZU and ZDF. The German folk-music program DIE LUSTIGEN 
MUSIKANTEN and the daily talk show BRITT were also successfully pro-
duced by Schwartzkopff TV. 

Internet – Basis for Further Growth

Whether entertainment, current news, background reports, topical informa-
tion, shopping platforms or search engines – the online activities of Axel 
Springer encompass the full spectrum of Internet communications. In ad-
dition to the online versions of existing print brands, Axel Springer is also 
represented in all major classified advertising markets with its own online 
operations. 

BILD.T-ONLINE.DE – Further Expansion The joint venture BILD.T-ON-
LINE.DE became a profitable operation in 2004. For the first time during the 
year under review the number of hits per day topped the one-million mark; 
page impressions reached 300 million per month. The position of BILD.T-
ONLINE.DE as a leading cross-media general interest portal was strength-
ened even further. Significant increases in revenues were registered in the 
areas of online advertising, cross-media alliances and the sale of so-called 
“everyman’s products”, i.e. popular, affordable products of all kinds. 

Cars, Real Estate and Jobs – Now Represented in All Major Classi-
fied Advertising Segments The automobile portal AUTOBILD.DE set a 
new record in 2004. A total of more than 650,000 car listings and over 30 
million page impressions represent a significant increase over the previous 
year.

Immonet GmbH, a joint venture with Immobilienverband Deutschland IVD, 
operates IMMONET, one of the leading platforms for real estate marketing 
on the Internet. Its position was further expanded during the 2004 financial 
year.

With the acquisition of a 49.9 % stake in StepStone Deutschland AG, a sub-
sidiary of the Norwegian company StepStone ASA, Axel Springer was able 
to expand its online classified advertising activities to include employment 
ads as a third category complementing cars and real estate. Alliances with 
print media such as DIE WELT, BERLINER MORGENPOST and HAM-
BURGER ABENDBLATT make it possible to combine print and online 
want-ads, thereby strengthening the position of Axel Springer in the strate-
gically important employment market. 

Telecommunications/Mobile – AS Interactive Defends its 
Position

AS Interactive defended its strong market position in the highly competitive 
growth market for added-value telephone services. High-profile campaigns 
conducted by AS Interactive produced a high response rate. These included 
audience voting for the Sat.1 program “Star Search” and the national “Euro-
vision Song Contest 2004” as well as successful BILD group contests. AS In-
teractive further strengthened its position in the field of mobile marketing. 

Online products
Page impressions December 2004
in thousands

www.bild.t-online.de 258,159

www.immonet.de 1) 32,974

www.autobild.de 30,839

www.berlin1.de 21,447

www.welt.de 18,605

www.stepstone.de 1) 17,217

www.abendblatt.de 10,539

www.yam.de 6,764

www.maximonline.de 4,880

www.finanzen.net 4,156

IVW-audited online offers
1) Source: Axel Springer
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The Printing and Logistics division maintains its 
five own offset and rotogravure printing facilities. 
The division’s activities also include centralized 
procurement, logistics and distribution.

Printing Plants – State-of-the-Art Technology for Higher 
Productivity

Axel Springer operates its own printing facilities geared to the publishing 
house’s own needs for newspaper and magazine printing. In order to make 
optimal use of available capacities and increase efficiency, the plants also 
accept contract printing orders and other outside printing jobs. In 2004 Axel 
Springer AG finally saw the completion of the most extensive reinvestment 
program in company history. The extensive program took years to complete. 
Axel Springer printing plants are now among the most modern in Europe. 
They ensure the highest degree of quality, flexibility and operational inde-
pendence. 

The printing market continues to suffer from the ongoing slow economy 
coupled with tough competition and cut-rate pricing. A stringent cost man-
agement program was implemented and contract printing activities were ex-
panded to improve efficiency. As a result total paper throughput grew from 
455,000 tons during the previous year to some 500,000 tons in 2004.

Offset Printing – Increased Share of Contract Printing The share of con-
tract printing at newspaper printing plants – as measured by paper throughput 
– increased again. This increase was primarily the result of a printing con-
tract concluded with Tagesspiegel at the beginning of 2004. A perquisite for 
accepting this new printing job was the successful completion of expansion 
work at the offset printing facility in Spandau. Other offset printing custom-
ers include Die Zeit, Handelsblatt and Süddeutsche Zeitung. Most of the 
contract printing performed by our offset printing plants is secured through 
long-term contracts.

Rotogravure – Secure Future Through Strong Partners The two rotogra-
vure printing plants in Ahrensburg and Darmstadt are scheduled to become 
part of a new joint company established by Axel Springer AG and the roto-
gravure printing plants of the two Bertelsmann subsidiaries of Gruner+Jahr 
and Arvato. The three joint venture partners have agreed to combine their 
German rotogravure operations in Ahrensburg, Darmstadt, Itzehoe, Dresden 
and Nürnberg beginning January 1, 2005. The agreement also calls for the 
inclusion of the Arvato printing plant in Liverpool, England, when the con-
struction of the facility is completed. The future joint company will have a 
total of 4,700 employees. Axel Springer AG will hold a 25.1 % stake in the 
new company; Arvato and Gruner+Jahr will each hold stakes of 37.45 %. 
Axel Springer believes that this step will provide long-term security for the 
European magazine printing market as well as job security for employees at 

the at rotogravure printing plants. The project is subject to the approval of 
the anti-cartel authorities.

Logistics and Distribution – Acquisition of 30 % of PIN AG 
Shares

Logistics and distribution section encompasses logistics, market analysis, 
alliances with trading associates and foreign distribution. Also included here 
are stakes in press wholesale companies, import companies in Eastern Eu-
rope and the wholly-owned subsidiary ASV Vertriebs GmbH. The main top-
ics in 2004 included complex “postal businesses”, the acquisition of new 
distribution channels and the bundling of IT distribution systems. 

Our objective is to continue to expand the activities of Axel Springer AG on 
the German distribution market and facilitate direct contact with customers. 
An alliance was formed with the publishing group Georg von Holtzbrinck 
for the purpose of acquiring a majority stake in PIN AG, which is second 
only to Deutsche Post AG in mail handling volume. PIN AG, which special-
izes in processing mail for mass mailers in major urban areas, currently has 
operations in Berlin, Leipzig and Cologne. The object of the alliance is to 
generate synergetic benefits through the exploitation of the Axel Springer 
distribution networks and to expand mail distribution activities to other ma-
jor urban areas. 

The BILD distribution network was expanded during the course of the year 
under review to some 1,200 McDonald’s Restaurants, over 400 sales outlets 
of the Kamps bakery chain and, on a test basis, to 2,500 Lidl supermarkets.

Printing and Logistics 



47

Services/Holding includes services such as cus-
tomer service, value-added telephone services, 
TV productions, logistics, sales, direct marketing, 
insurance sales and Office Buildings, and exclu-
sively internal departments such as IT, Account-
ing, Personnel and Corporate Departments.

New Building Opened in Berlin

The new event venue Ullstein-Halle, the newly constructed Axel Springer 
Passage and the new main entrance in Berlin’s old newspaper quarter were 
opened on schedule in January 2004. The Ullstein-Halle, which can seat up 
to 1,000 persons, is a flexible venue that can accommodate large events of 
all kinds including TV shows and congresses. The new Axel Springer Pas-
sage offers services for employees as well as interesting restaurants and cul-
tural opportunities. Office and shop space has also been rented out to third 
parties.

asdirekt – Success Through Modern Customer Relations 
Management

asdirekt offers a wide range of services for the management of direct cus-
tomer relations. The core markets are subscription management for newspa-
pers and magazines as well as advertising sales. asdirekt facilitates the trans-
formation from classic customer management to modern customer relations 
management. This is done by providing comprehensive solutions—from the 
integration of all aspects of subscription management to the creation of new 
business models for advertising sales. 

As a result of this successful strategy based on providing customers with 
greater benefits, asdirekt again enjoyed a double-digit increase in sales dur-
ing the recently completed financial year. Advertising sales – already at a 
high level – again more than doubled. Orders received from various internal 
and external publishing houses guarantee continued growth during the com-
ing year. 

VVDG – Verlags- und Industrieversicherungsdienste GmbH

VVDG is an insurance brokerage that functions as the central insurance de-
partment within the company. Its advises the company on matters of risk 
management and company pension plans as well as on the procurement of 
adequate insurance coverage at favorable market conditions. VVDG also 
serves considerable numbers of customers outside the company. New busi-
ness was generated primarily in the field of direct insurance and in connec-
tion with all facets of company pension plans handled by VVDG. 
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Further Information
The Share

Axel Springer shares developed considerably 
better than the market as a whole during the 2004 
financial year. The stock outperformed all 
comparative indices. Earnings per share rose 
from € 3.26 to € 4.66. 

Axel Springer Shares Better than Market Average In a stabilizing en-
vironment the Axel Springer share price jumped 22.9 % from € 70.00 at the 
beginning of the year to € 86.00 at the end of the year, whereas the DAX and 
MDAX rose 5.9 % and 18.7 % respectively over the same period. The stock 
also did well in European comparison. The Dow Jones EuroStoxx50 index 
grew 5.5 % over the same period. Axel Springer shares also outperformed 
comparable media indices. The Prime Media index of the German Stock 
Exchange increased by 11.0 %, the European Dow Jones EuroStoxx Media 
index rose 8.8 %. The low percentage of free float shares is reflected in the 

development of the share price. While total market capitalization began and 
finished the year at € 2.4 and € 2.9 billion respectively, free float-weighted 
market capitalization rose from € 257.0 million at the beginning of the year 
to € 315.8 million at the end of the year. 

Special Dividend Proposed The Management Board and the Supervisory 
Board propose the payment of a dividend of € 1.20 as well as a one-time 
special dividend related to the Kirch settlement of € 0.25 per qualifying no-
par-value share. This represents an increase of the payments to shareholders 
of 20.8 % over the previous year. The dividend yield thus amounts to 1.7 % 
of the share price at year’s end. 

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 2004 The items on the agenda of the an-
nual shareholders’ meeting of Axel Springer AG in Berlin on April 14, 2004 
were each approved by a majority vote of over 99.9 %. These included Su-
pervisory Board elections, the proposed changes to the articles of associa-
tion and a management participation program within the authorization to the 
acquire and dispose of own shares. 
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Stable Shareholder Structure, Free Float at 10.8 % The shareholder 
structure remained almost unchanged. On August 16, 2004, members of the 
Management Board purchased a total of 62,300 shares at a price of € 54.00 
per share in accordance with the provisions of the approved management 
participation program. 

Investor Relations Strengthened The goal of Investor Relations is to pro-
vide shareholders and analysts with comprehensive information at an early 
stage. In 2004 we undertook further steps to improve capital market commu-
nication. Whereas shorter reporting periods were put into effect in 2003, we 
introduced quarterly reports at the beginning of 2004. The quarterly reports 
will be made available on the Internet for downloading. For the first time the 
2004 annual report was also compiled in accordance with International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (IFRS), one year earlier than is legally required. 
Investor Relations information will also be published on the Internet.

Additionally, the measures required by the Investor Protection Improvement 
Act, which took effect on October 30, 2004, were implemented. An ad hoc 
committee was formed for the purpose of studying and evaluating ad hoc-
required procedures. The Investor Relations department maintains an insider 
registry and informs insiders of their legal obligations and sanctions. 

Share Information 
in €

2004 2003 Change

Earnings per share, basic 4.66 3.26 42.9 %

Earnings per share, diluted 4.65 3.26 42.6 %

Dividend 1.20 1.20 -

Special dividend 0.25 - -

Year-end price 86.00 70.00 22.9 %

Highest price 94.50 72.00 31.3 %

Lowest price 70.00 41.00 70.7 %

Average price 85.68 52.07 64.5 %

Listing Information

Share type Registered share with restricted tranferability

Stock exchange Frankfurt

Stock exchange segment General Standard

Securities Identification Number 550 135

ISIN DE0005501357

Reuters SPRGn.F

Bloomberg SPR GR

9.8 %

10.8 %

10.0 % 50 %

19.4 %

Shareholder Structure
in %

  Axel Springer Gesellschaft für Publizistik
50 % + 10 Aktien

  Hellman & Friedman 19.4 %
  Dr h. c. Friede Springer 10.0 %
  Axel Springer AG 9.8 %
  Free Float (round 10.8 %)
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Employees

Creativity, entrepreneurship and integrity are the 
three columns that support the corporate culture 
of Axel Springer. Axel Springer therefore provides 
ongoing qualification programs and advanced 
training for its employees as an investment in the 
future success of the company.

Qualifications and Advanced Training

Employee development requires systematic, job-related advanced train-
ing. Qualification and training programs are designed to augment job-relat-
ed knowledge while enhancing social and methodology expertise. A broad 
spectrum of advanced training programs takes into account specific employ-
ee interests and needs. During the 2004 financial year these programs fo-
cused on the development of management trainees and young employees as 
well as on interaction with customers. Educational needs were analyzed in 
order to adapt advanced training programs to the requirements of the vari-
ous departments and employees. The results of the analysis were used in de-
veloping new concepts. The program for promoting the health of employees 
was also expanded. 

Management Development

Providing support for young managers is a central task of personnel devel-
opment. A conference for prospective managers and employees with spe-
cial skills, which was held for the second time in 2004, provided young 
employees with an opportunity to demonstrate their creativity and the en-
trepreneurial skills. The event allowed participants to engage in broader, 
cross-discipline networking. A mentor program for young managers was also 
established. Here, experienced managers convey their knowledge and know-
how to young mangers through expert advice and personal feedback. 

Study Groups and Networking

In addition to targeted advanced training programs Axel Springer also sup-
ports study groups and networking endeavors that promote the exchange of 
experience and information across disciplines. Examples here include the 
Study Group for Women in Specialized and Management Positions and the 
Secretary Network. The Study Group for Equal Opportunity is designed to 
support codetermination and allow employees to develop their personal and 
job-related potential. Participation in “Girls Day”, a nationwide event that 
offers the daughters of employees an opportunity to spend a day at work with 
their parents, has achieved a high level of acceptance. 

Young Employees: Trainees, Scholarship Recipients, 
Apprentices

Journalistic training for young employees through the Axel Springer School 
of Journalism – this year with 64 students – continued at a high level. The 
trainee program requires that participants take an active part in internal proj-
ects for a period of 18 months. The scholarship program, which provides 
financial support to student employees, was continued. In 2004 a total of 95 
people participated in student traineeships. The growing of applications for 
traineeships underscores the attractiveness off the company for young people 
working on college degrees. 

Electronic Idea Management

Idea management provides incentives for employees to forward suggestions 
designed to promote efficiency and employment, job safety, environmental 
protection and technical progress within the company. The scope of idea man-
agement was expanded during the 2004 financial year. The digital processing 
of employee suggestions via the company intranet was broadened, while the 
evaluation and implementation of suggestions was greatly accelerated.

Part-Time Retirement is Finding Increasing Acceptance

The agreement on part-time retirement reached in conjunction with the ratio-
nalization protection agreement has made a large contribution to the socially 
compatible implementation of company restructuring measures. Employees 
who retire early are, among other things, partly compensated by the company 
for the resulting reduction in pension benefits. A growing number of employ-
ees took advantage of this offer in the past years. 

Vario Rente – the New Variable-Yield Company Pension Plan

In conjunction with the reorganization of voluntary social benefits, the com-
pany decided to offer Vario Rente to the employees of Axel Springer AG, 
Ullstein GmbH and Ullstein Media Marketing GmbH beginning in 2004. 
Vario Rente is a future-oriented, variable-yield, company-sponsored pension 
plan based on a salary conversion model. The goal is to facilitate the transi-
tion from social contribution-financed pensions to capital-financed retire-
ment plans in response to changing demographic structures. This new form 
of company pension plan offers employees an opportunity to provide for 
their retirement by investing part of their gross income in a capital fund. The 
new pension arrangement has been well received by employees. 
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The term Sustainability contains economic, social 
and ecological aspects of business activity. 
Axel Springer is dedicated to establishing a high 
transparency in the sustainability reports. 
The annual report comprises the sustainability 
principles, values and guidelines (see “Strategy”), 
treating employees in a fair and responsible 
manner (see “Employees”) and the social and 
ecological activities.

Axel Springer is the World’s First Media Company to Issue 
Sustainability Reports in Accordance with GRI Guidelines

Axel Springer is the first globally active media company to issue sustainabil-
ity reports that comply with the guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative 
(GRI) and meet the requirements of the comprehensive GRI criteria catalog. 
GRI guidelines are a set of internationally recognized rules that companies 
are encouraged to follow in voluntarily reporting on the economic, social and 
ecological aspects of their operations. The initiative was established in 1997 
in cooperation with the United Nations Environmental Program (UNEP). 

The Axel Springer Sustainability Report for 2003 has been certified by PwC 
Deutsche Revision AG and is available on the Internet at www.axelsprin-
ger.de ➞ Sustainability.

International Social Policy: an Obligatory Set of Guidelines for 
All Activities

In light of its growing global presence, Axel Springer has developed a cata-
log of social standards, which serve as guidelines for all of the company’s 
activities. These standards include the company’s position on matters of hu-
man rights as well as an express commitment to follow the law, to provide 
protection for children and youth, to treat employees in a fair and responsi-
ble manner, to ensure compatibility between job and family, and to promote 
good health and security. As a set of obligatory guidelines our International 
Social Policy applies to all company activities worldwide. For example, a pi-
lot project is currently being carried out in Russia for the purpose of ensuring 
operational transparency and preventing job-related accidents in conjunction 
with Russian forestry operations that supply wood for making paper. 

Transparent Supplier Chain 

In 2004 Axel Springer continued its efforts to optimize the paper chain. Ap-
proximately half of the paper used in printing containes recycled paper. Con-
tracts concluded with suppliers stipulate that ecological guidelines are to be 
followed in all forestry operations. Axel Springer procures approximately 
470,000 tons of paper annually from 52 paper producers in some 14 countries. 
Paper suppliers are chosen according to the criteria of product quality, reli-
ability of delivery, appropriateness of the price and ecological compatibility.

Environmental Audit of the Printing Processes Updated 

Axel Springer reviews the company`s internal processes on an ongoning 
basis to ensure that the necessary standards are observed. The Ahrensburg 
printing center, the Darmstadt rotogravure printing plant and the Essen-
Kettwig offset printing plant updated their certification in accordance with 
the EC environmental auditing regulations in 2004.

Save the Sumatra tiger 

HÖRZU has now launched a special project aimed at promoting “ecology 
and environmental protection.” As a special bonus new subscribers can now 
request that the magazine publisher donate 50 euros for the specific purpose 
of protecting the Sumatra tiger in Indonesia. The program was created by 
the World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF). In lending its support to this WWF 
project HÖRZU has become the first German magazine to blaze new trails 
in active environmental and wildlife protection. 

Recognition for Sustainability Activities 

Axel Springer received several prizes and awards in 2004 for its efforts to 
promote sustainability. The Munich-based rating agency oekom research 
gave Axel Springer a B+, thereby putting it at the top of the rankings. The 
rating agency analyzed and rated a total of 25 media companies accord-
ing to 200 ecological and social indicators. The German Study Group for 
Environmentally Conscious Management (B.A.U.M.) bestowed its “Envi-
ronmental Prize 2004” on the publishing house (in the category of “Large 
Companies”). In presenting the award Ernst Ulrich von Weizäcker, a scien-
tist, praised the exemplary sustainability efforts of the company. In this in 
this year’s HANSA  environmental rankings of the German Society for the 
Preservation of Nature (NABU) Axel Springer received the first price for its 
cooperative pilot project to procure FSC certification for Russian forestry 
operations, which provide wood to paper suppliers, as well as for its efforts 
in ecologically rejuvenating the green areas located on the premises of the 
Ahrensburg printing center. 

Sustainability
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Good and responsible corporate governance have 
a top priority at Axel Springer. The company ad-
heres to all stock and capital market regulations 
and other German laws. The recommendations 
of the German Corporate Governance Code are 
followed except for four deviations. Management 
Board and Supervisory Board report as follows 
about Corporate Governance at Axel Springer:

Management Board and Supervisory Board have taken suitable measures 
to monitor and implement the Corporate Governance principles. Corporate 
Governance compliance officer is the Chief Financial Officer, his deputy 
is the head of the Legal Department. The implementation of and compli-
ance with the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code 
(hereafter referred to as Code) in the version last published on July 4, 2003 
are monitored every three months. The Chairman of the Board and Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board are informed about the status on a regular basis. 

Substantial changes to the Securities Trading Act (WpHG) became effec-
tive on October 30, 2004 through the Investor Protection Improvement Act 
(AnSVG). Axel Springer took measures for implementing the new require-
ments. In particular, an Ad-hoc Committee was formed for identifying and 
evaluating circumstances and events in the company requiring an ad-hoc 
publication. Members of the Ad-hoc Committee are the Divisional Director 
of Human Resources and Law, the Head of Corporate Communication, the 
Head of Group Controlling and the Head of Investor Relations. The Ad-hoc 
Commitee reports to the Management Board. Axel Springer has drawn up 
the required insider directory. It is managed by the Investor Relations depart-
ment. The insiders are informed about the legal obligations and sanctions. 
All persons concerned have been informed about the new regulations con-
cerning Directors’ Dealings (duties to report according to § 15a WpHG).

Shareholders and Shareholders’ Meeting

Our shareholders who are listed in the share register and who registered for 
the shareholders’ meeting before the prescribed deadline are entitled to par-
ticipate in the shareholders’ meeting and to exercise their right to vote. The 
regular annual shareholders’ meeting is held during the first eight months 
of the financial year. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board presides over 
the shareholders’ meeting. The shareholders’ meeting makes decisions on all 
the matters assigned to it by law. These matters include the discharge of the 
Management Board and the Supervisory Board, election of the members of 
the Supervisory Board and the appointment of auditors. The shareholders’ 
meeting also makes decisions concerning capital increases and changes in 
the articles of association.

Our goal is to take all measures to facilitate the participation of shareholders 
in the shareholders’ meeting. The participation documents are made avail-
able to the shareholders in time on the internet. A proxy is also appointed for 
the shareholders’ meeting, whom shareholders can commission to exercise 
their voting right in accordance with their instructions. On April 14, 2004 
the General Meeting passed a change to the Articles of Association which 
allows General Meetings to be transmitted with sound and picture either in 
part or in full at the order of the chairman of the meeting in future. The trans-
mission can also be carried out in a form to which the public has unlimited 
access. The form of transmission is to be announced when the general meet-
ing is convened.

Corporate Governance
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The Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of Axel Springer AG consists of nine members elect-
ed by the shareholders’ meeting. The term of office of the Supervisory Board 
is five years; re-election is possible. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
is elected by the members of the Supervisory Board; the term of office of the 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board corresponds to the term of office of the 
Supervisory Board. On April 14, 2004 the General Meeting elected Dr Ger-
hard Cromme, Leonhard H. Fischer, Klaus Krone, Dr Michael Otto, Brian 
M. Powers, Axel Sven Springer, Dr h. c. Friede Springer and Dr Giuseppe 
Vita for a further five years. Prof Dr Wolf Lepenies was elected new into 
the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board re-elected Dr Giuseppe Vita 
as Chairman of the Supervisory Board. Every member of the Supervisory 
Board is obligated to immediately disclose to the Supervisory Board any 
conflicts of interest.

The Supervisory Board appoints the members of the Management Board. It 
monitors and advises the Management Board on the business management. 
Management Board decisions of significant importance require the approval 
of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board normally meets five times 
a year and holds meetings, if necessary, without the Management Board. 
Meetings and voting are permitted in writing, by telephone, fax or using 
other forms of telecommunication following the change to the Articles of As-
sociation passed by the General Meeting on April 14, 2004. The Supervisory 
Board discusses at regular intervals the development of business, planning 
and strategy regarding major investments. The Supervisory Board compiles 
the financial statements of Axel Springer AG and approves the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group. The Supervisory Board has also examined 
the efficiency of its work in the fiscal year 2004.

The members of the Supervisory Board receive fixed and variable compen-
sation. The variable compensation depends on the level of the distributed 
dividend. The functions of Chairman of the Supervisory Board and Deputy 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board as well as Chairman and membership of 
the committees are taken into account in determining the amount of compen-
sation. Contrary to Number 5.4.5 Clauses 6 and 7 of the Code the informa-
tion regarding the compensation of the members of the Supervisory Board 
and payments for services provided individually by Supervisory Booard 
members in the Notes of the Consolidated Financial Statements is not indi-
vidualized as competitors do not publish corresponding information either. 
The directors and officers’ liability insurance (D&O insurance) contains a 
suitable deductible for members of the bodies since December 15, 2004. 

Committees of the Supervisory Board According to the Rules 
of Procedure:

Executive Commitee

Responsibilities Members in 2004

Publishing and journalistic matters

Strategy, financial planning

Investments, financing

Preparation of organizational decisions for 

the Management Board

Preparation of the proposal for the election 

of Supervisory Board members

Approval of the sale of registered shares of 

Axel Springer AG and of granting 

subscription rights

Single procedures according to rules of 

procedure

Dr Giuseppe Vita (Chairman)

Dr h. c. Friede Springer 

(Vice Chairwoman)

Dr Gerhard Cromme

Klaus Krone

Personnel Committee

Responsibilities Members in 2004

Preparation of decisions on the appointment 

and dismissal of Management Board 

members

Decision on conclusion, change and 

termination of employment contracts 

Management Board members

Decision on granting credit in accordance 

with §§ 89, 115 Stock Corporation Act (AktG)

Approval of contracts with Supervisory Board 

members in accordance with § 114 Stock 

Corporation Act (AktG)

Representation of the company in legal 

transactions with members of the 

Management Board

Single procedures according to rules of 

procedure

Dr Giuseppe Vita (Chairman)

Dr h. c. Friede Springer 

(Vice Chairwoman)

Dr Gerhard Cromme (since 14.04.04)

Dr Joachim Theye (until 14.04.04)
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Audit Committee

Responsibilities Members in 2004

Preparation of decisions for approving the 

financial statements and the consolidated 

financial statements

Preliminary examination of financial 

statements, dependency report, consolidated 

financial statements, management report and 

group management report

Examination of the proposal for appropriation 

of the profits

Examination of interim financial statements 

respectively interim reports

Examination of the risk management system

Discussion of the audit report and the 

auditor’s report on inspection of the interim 

accounts with the auditor

Preparation of the proposal for electing the 

auditor to the General Meeting

Placing of the audit order for the financial 

statements and consolidated financial 

statements, stipulation of audit focus

Dr Giuseppe Vita (Chairman)

Dr h. c. Friede Springer 

(Vice Chairwoman)

Leonhard H. Fischer

Management Board

The Management Board is responsible for running the company. The board 
currently consists of four members. The Management Board regularly, 
promptly and comprehensively informs the Supervisory Board about all rel-
evant issues relating to planning, business development, the risk situation 
and risk management. Every member of the Management Board is obligated 
to immediately disclose to the Supervisory Board any conflicts of interest.

The compensation of the Management Board members consists of fixed and 
variable components. The variable salaries have a cash component and a 
share component. A maximum amount has been defined for the variable cash 
payments. They are based on the results, i.e. they are dependent on the per-
formance of the individual and the success of the Group. One part is tied to 
achieving a certain company value, which is determined on the basis of the 
EBITA. The target agreement and the stipulation of achieving the target for 
the cash component are carried out between the chairman of the Supervi-
sory Board and the member of the Management Board. By passing the man-
agement participation program in the General Meeting on April 14, 2004 
a variable compensation component with long-term incentives was created 
for all members of the Management Board: Based on this the members of 
the Management Board acquired shares in the company using own cash, 
the acquired shares must be held for several years. In combination with this 
corporate participation the members of the Board received stock options. 
How many options can be exercised depends on the profit development of 
the company and the duration of the future work on the Management Board. 
The company has almost no financial burden from the management partici-
pation program. Due to a contract entered into with the companies managed 
by the shareholder Hellman & Friedman Axel Springer AG is entitled to buy 
back the number of shares which were previously sold to the members of 
the Management Board at a comparable price. Alternatively it will receive 
cash compensation. Due to this financial security for the company no price-
based limitation was introduced for the management participation program. 
The detailed description of the management participation program can be 

found at www.axelspringer.de ➞ Investor Relations ➞ Shareholders’ Meet-
ing 2004. A rescind action has been filed against the resolution made by the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. The rescind action was rejected by the Ber-
lin District Court of First Instance. The verdict is not yet final, an appeal has 
been filed. The information regarding the compensation of members of the 
Management Board in the Notes of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
is not individualized (Number 4.2.4 Clause 2 of the Code) as competitors do 
not publish corresponding information either. The directors and officers’ li-
ability insurance (D&O insurance) contains a suitable deductible for mem-
bers of the bodies since December 15, 2004.

Accounting and Auditing

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year 2004 were pre-
pared for the first time in accordance with IFRS/IAS, i.e. one year sooner 
than required by law. The financial statements 2003 and the quarterly fi-
nancial statements in the fiscal year 2004 were still prepared according to 
the principles of the German HGB (deviation from Number 7.1.1 Clause 3 
Code). The interim financial statements will be prepared according to IFRS 
from 2005.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by the Management 
Board, audited by the auditors and reviewed by the Supervisory Board. The 
consolidated financial statements are published within 90 days after the end 
of the reporting period, the quarterly reports within 45 days.

The company takes full advantage of the option to present some of the in-
formation in a list of equity holdings instead of in the Notes to the Financial 
Statements/Consolidated Financial Statements. The list of equity holdings 
includes statutory information. If disclosure of the equity holdings and the 
income during the last financial year is not required under these rules, this 
information is not indicated – a deviation from Number 7.1.4, clause 3 of the 
Code – in order to avoid disadvantages for individuals concerned.

The consolidated financial statements describe the relationship with share-
holders who are classified as related parties as defined by the applicable ac-
counting regulations.

It has been agreed with the auditors, PwC Deutsche Revision Aktiengesell-
schaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Hamburg, that the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board and/or the Audit Committee is to be informed immedi-
ately of any reasons for exclusion or indications of partiality that become ap-
parent during the audit and that the auditors report immediately on all issues 
and incidents, which are important for the assignments of the Supervisory 
Board that become apparent during the course of the audit. An agreement has 
also been made for the auditors to inform the Chairman of the Audit Commit-
tee and/or indicate in the audit report if they discover facts during the course 
of the audit of the financial statements, which show that the declaration of 
conformity issued by the Management Board and the Supervisory Board in 
accordance with § 161 of the Stock Corporation Act is inaccurate.
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Transparency

Providing consistent, comprehensive and prompt information to all capital 
market participants has a high priority at Axel Springer. Reports on the busi-
ness situation and results of Axel Springer AG are presented in the Annual 
Report, at the annual results press conference and in the interim reports. 
Since the first quarter of the fiscal year 2004 Axel Springer has been pub-
lishing quarterly reports.

Information is also provided through ad hoc releases to the extent that this 
is legally required, through press releases and through the company web-
site. The articles of association of Axel Springer AG are also available on 
the website. The publication dates of financial reports are published in the 
financial calendar with sufficient prior notice. Changes in the composition 
of the shareholder structure subject to the mandatory reporting requirements 
of § 25 of the German Securities Trade Act (WpHG) as well as the acquisi-
tion and sale of shares by persons who assume management tasks at Axel 
Springer in accordance with § 15a of the WpHG (directors’ dealings) are also 
published by the Management Board.

Axel Springer AG published the declaration of conformity in accordance 
with § 161 of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG) on schedule in December 
2004. The declaration of conformity is available on the Internet at www.axel-
springer.de ➞ InvestorRelations ➞ Corporate Governance. 

Declaration of Conformity:

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board of Axel Springer AG de-
clare the following pursuant to § 161 of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG):

“The recommendations of the Government Commission on the German Cor-
porate Governance Code (Code), as published by the Ministry of Justice on 
July 4, 2004 in the official section of the electronic Federal Gazette, are met 
with the following deviations:

1. The list published by the company of third-party enterprises in which it 
holds a financial stake of not insignificant importance to the company, 
contains the statutory information (Number 7.1.4 Clause 3 of the Code).

 If disclosure of the equity holdings and the income during the last finan-
cial year is not required under these rules, the information is not indi-
cated in order to avoid disadvantages for individuals concerned. 

2.  The information regarding the compensation of members of the Manage-
ment Board in the Notes of the Consolidated Financial Statements is not 
individualized (Number 4.2.4 Clause 2 of the Code). 

 The information is not indicated individualized, because this information 
is also not published by competitors. 

3. The management participation program passed by the General Meeting 
on 14 April 2004 does not contain any cap for extraordinary unforesee-
able developments (Number 4.2.3 Clause 6 of the Code). 

 The company has almost no financial burden from the management par-
ticipation program. Due to a contract entered into with the companies 
managed by the shareholder Hellman & Friedman Axel Springer AG is 
entitled to buy back the number of shares which were previously sold to 
the members of the Management Board at a comparable price. Alterna-
tively it will receive cash compensation. Due to this financial security for 
the company no price-based limitation was introduced for the manage-
ment participation program.

4. The information regarding the compensation of the members of the Su-
pervisory Board and payments for services provided individually by Su-
pervisory Booard members in the Notes of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements is not individualized (Number 5.4.5 Clause 6 and 7 of the 
Code). 

The information is not indicated individualized, because this information is 
also not published by competitors. 

The recommendations of the code in the version effective from July 4, 2003 
were met since the declaration of conformity of December 2003 with the 
afore-mentioned (Subclauses 1- 4) and the following exceptions: The finan-
cial statements 2003 and the quarterly interim accounts in the fiscal year 
2004 were prepared in accordance with the principles of the German HGB 
(Number 7.1.1 of the Code). Until December 15, 2004 no deductible of the 
members of the bodies was agreed for the D&O insurance (Number 3.8 
Clause 3 Code).”

Berlin, Dezember 2004
Axel Springer AG

The Supervisory Board The Management Board
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Axel Springer AG, 
Berlin, consisting of the balance sheet, the income statement, the statements 
of changes in equity and cash flows as well as the notes to the financial 
statements for the business year from January 1 to December 31, 2004. The 
preparation and the content of the consolidated financial statements accord-
ing to the International Financial Reporting Standards of the IASB (IFRS) 
are the responsibility of the Company’s Board of Managing Directors. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion, based on our audit, whether the con-
solidated financial statements are in accordance with IFRS.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accor-
dance with German auditing regulations and generally accepted standards for 
the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaft-
sprüfer in Deutschland (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consoli-
dated financial statements are free of material misstatements. Knowledge 
of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the 
Group and evaluations of possible misstatements are taken into account in 
the determination of audit procedures. The evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements are examined on a 
test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the Board 
of Managing Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a rea-
sonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the net assets, financial position, results of operations and cash flows of 
the Axel Springer Group for the business year in accordance with IFRS.

Our audit, which also extends to the combined management report for Axel 
Springer group and Axel Springer Aktiengesellschaft prepared by the Board 
of Managing Directors for the business year from 1 January to 31 Decem-
ber 2004, has not led to any reservations. In our opinion, on the whole the 
combined management report, together with the other information of the 
consolidated financial statements, provides a suitable understanding of the 
Group’s position and suitably presents the risks of future development. In 
addition, we confirm that the consolidated financial statements and the com-
bined management report for the business year from 1 January to 31 Decem-
ber 2004 satisfy the conditions required for the Company’s exemption from 
its duty to prepare consolidated financial statements and the combined man-
agement report in accordance with German accounting law. 

Hamburg, February 25, 2005 

PwC Deutsche Revision Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Nienborg    ppa. Wilke
Auditor    Auditor

Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at December 31, 2004
EUR thousands

ASSETS Note 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Non-Current Assets 1,562,821  1,470,867  

Fixed assets 1,524,526  1,416,289  

 Intangible assets (6) 143,577  178,749  

 Property, plant and equipment (7) 996,959 1,013,007  

 Investment property (8) 31,760 0

 Non-current financial assets (9) 352,230  224,533  

   Investments in associated companies and joint ventures accounted for under the equity method 76,959  147,846  

  Other non-current financial assets 275,271  76,687  

Receivables and other assets (11, 12, 13) 534  5,569  

Deferred taxes (30) 37,761  49,009  

Current Assets 829,571  644,279  

Inventories (10) 48,672  46,482  

Trade receivables (11) 204,696  206,018  

Receivables due from related parties (12) 30,838  26,472  

Current income tax receivables 25,850  13,174  

Other assets (13) 64,969  56,695  

 Financial assets 55,089 46,707

 Miscellaneous assets 9,880 9,988

Cash and cash equivalents (14) 454,546  295,438  

Total Assets 2,392,392  2,115,146  
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as at December 31, 2004
EUR thousands

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY Note 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Equity (15) 873,399  677,812  

Subscribed capital 102,000  102,000  

Additional paid-in capital 23,467 0  

Consolidated retained earnings 860,203  754,051  

Other accumulated equity 58,036 - 4,556  

Treasury shares - 181,203  - 184,585  

Minority interests 10,896  10,902  

Non-Current Liabilities 796,047  812,098  

Pension provisions (16) 314,877  307,500  

Other provisions (17) 42,904  64,085  

Financial liabilities (18) 259,518  277,124  

Other non-current liabilities (19, 21) 31,750  19,217  

Deferred taxes (30) 146,998  144,172  

Current Liabilities 722,946  625,236  

Pension provisions (16) 16,982  16,672  

Other provisions (17) 157,512 150,791

Financial liabilities (18) 22,036  17,502  

Trade payables 164,835  178,369  

Liabilities due to related parties (19) 37,159  34,590  

Current income tax liabilities (20) 158,708 45,980

Other liabilities and accruals (21) 165,714  181,332  

 Financial liabilities 40,802 53,028

  Other liabilities and accruals 124,912 128,304

Total Liabilities and Equity 2,392,392  2,115,146  
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Consolidated Income Statement

Consolidated Income Statement
EUR thousands

Note 2004 2003

Revenues (22) 2,402,035  2,320,685  

Other operating income (23) 186,668  80,021  

Change in inventories and internal costs capitalized 2,410  3,626  

Purchased goods and services (24) - 745,272  - 704,984  

Gross Profit 1,845,841  1,699,348  

Personnel expenses (25) - 721,990  - 769,333  

Depreciation, amortization and impairments (26) - 117,262  - 96,199  

Other operating expenses (27) - 716,693  - 672,611  

Income from investments (28) 40,169  28,597  

 Equity income from associated companies and joint ventures 18,696  17,494  

 Other investment income 21,473  11,103  

Net financial expenses (29) - 34,319  - 24,370  

Income taxes (30) - 142,124  - 96,131  

Income from Continuing Operations 153,622  69,301  

Loss/Income from Discontinued Operations (2) - 6,075  42,257  

Consolidated Net Income 147,547  111,558  

Consolidated net income attributable to Group shareholders 142,872  109,505  

Consolidated net income attributable to minority interests 4,675  2,053  

Basic Earnings per Share from Continuing Operations (in EUR) (31) 4.86 2.00

Diluted Earnings per Share from Continuing Operations (in EUR) (31) 4.85 2.00

Basic Earnings per Share (in EUR) (31) 4.66 3.26

Diluted Earnings per Share (in EUR) (31) 4.65 3.26

Reconciliation to EBIT, EBITA, EBITDA

Income from continuing operations 153,622 69,301

Net financial expenses 34,319 24,370

Income taxes 142,124 96,131

EBIT before Adjustments for Non-Recurring Items 330,065 189,802

Non-recurring items (35) - 14,529 4,084

EBIT – Adjusted for Non-Recurring Items 315,536 193,886

Impairment losses on goodwill 20,218 21,471

EBITA – Adjusted for Non-Recurring Items 335,754 215,357

Depreciation, amortization and impairments on fixed assets (excl. goodwill) 97,044 74,728

EBITDA – Adjusted for Non-Recurring Items 432,798 290,085
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
EUR thousands

Note 2004 2003

Consolidated net income 147,547 111,558

Depreciation, amortization, impairments on and increases in value of fixed assets 118,055 100,324

Equity income from associated companies and joint ventures - 18,696 - 17,494

Dividends received from associated companies and joint ventures accounted for under the equity method 15,493 9,825

Gains on disposals of fixed assets - 2,566 -837

Income(-)/losses(+) from discontinued operations 6,075 - 42,257

Increase/decrease in non-current provisions - 12,993 16,574

Change in deferred taxes 11,222 32,874

Other non-cash income and expenses - 30,820 0

Increase/decrease in inventories - 2,195 5,558

Increase/decrease in trade receivables 366 - 4,974

Increase/decrease in other assets - 6,310 20,402

Decrease/increase in current provisions 2,129 28,487

Decrease/increase in trade payables - 15,358 27,327

Increase/decrease in receivables due from and liabilities due to related parties - 6,107 - 4,298

Decrease/increase in other liabilities 99,162 34,361

Cash Flow from Operating Activities (33) 305,004 317,430

Proceeds from disposals of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 1,291 12,547

Proceeds from disposals of consolidated affiliated companies 20,000 148,172

Proceeds from disposals of other non-current financial assets 0 9,719

Net cash inflow on initial consolidation 14,383 0

Purchases of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and investment property - 110,736 - 150,129

Purchases of other non-current financial assets - 20,236 - 8,634

Cash Flow from Investing Activities - 95,298 11,675

Dividends paid

 Dividends paid to shareholders of Axel Springer AG - 36,720 - 22,100

 Dividends paid to minority shareholders - 4,685 - 5,255

Capital contributions received 3,382 3,024

Purchase of treasury shares 0 - 184,585

Repayments of finance lease obligations - 4,349 - 4,118

Additions to other financial liabilities 4,588 120,000

Repayments of other financial liabilities - 13,311 - 18,443

Cash Flow from Financing Activities - 51,095 - 111,477

Cash Flow-Related Changes in Cash and Cash Equivalents 158,611 217,628

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 497 - 1,407

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period (32) 295,438 79,217

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period (32) 454,546 295,438
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Statement of Changes in Equity

Statement of Changes in Equity 2004
EUR thousands

Number of 
Shares 

Outstanding 

(Shares)

Subscribed 
Capital

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital

Consoli-
dated 

Retained 
Earnings

Treasury 
Shares

Other Accumulated Equity Total Minority 
Interests

Consolida-
ted EquityCurrency 

Translation 
Adjustment

Changes in 
Fair Values 

of Financial 
Instru ments

Other

Balance 01/01/2004 30,600,000  102,000    754,051  - 184,585  - 2,068  - 945  - 1,543  666,910  10,902  677,812  

 Consolidated net income   142,872  142,872  4,675  147,547  

  Currency translation differences 1,868  1,868  70  1,938  

  Change in fair values of financial 

instruments 31,629   31,629  1,047  32,676  

Consolidated Comprehensive Income   142,872  1,868  31,629   176,369  5,792  182,161  

Sale of treasury shares 62,300  3,382  3,382  3,382  

Dividends paid - 36,720  - 36,720  - 4,685  - 41,405  

Management Participation plan 3,561 3,561  3,561  

Other changes recognized directly in 

equity for companies accounted for under 

the equity method 29,095  29,095  29,095  

H&F call option 19,906  19,906  19,906  

Change in consolidation group   - 1,113  - 1,113  

Balance 12/31/2004 30,662,300  102,000  23,467 860,203  - 181,203  - 200  30,684  27,552 862,503  10,896  873,399  

Statement of Changes in Equity 2003
EUR thousands

Number of 
Shares 

Outstanding 

(Shares)

Subscribed 
Capital

Consoli-
dated 

Retained 
Earnings

Treasury 
Shares

Other Accumulated Equity Total Minority 
Interests

Consolida-
ted EquityCurrency 

Translation 
Adjustment

Changes in 
Fair Values 

of Financial 
Instru ments

Other

Balance 01/01/2003 34,000,000  102,000  666,368  - 1,142  767,226  11,368  778,594  

 Consolidated net income 109,505  109,505  2,053  111,558  

  Currency translation differences - 2,068  - 2,068  - 417  - 2,485  

  Change in fair values of financial instruments 197  197  491  688  

Consolidated Comprehensive Income 109,505  - 2,068  197  107,634  2,127  109,761  

Purchase of treasury shares - 3,400,000  - 184,585  - 184,585  - 184,585  

Dividends paid - 22,100  - 22,100  - 5,255  - 27,355  

Other changes recognized directly in equity for 

companies accounted for under the equity method - 1,543  - 1,543  - 1,543  

Contributions by minority shareholders 3,024  3,024  

Other changes 278  278  - 362  - 84  

Balance 12/31/2003 30,600,000  102,000  754,051  - 184,585  - 2,068  - 945  - 1,543  666,910  10,902  677,812  
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Segment Reporting - Primary Reporting Format
EUR thousands

Newspapers Magazines Printing Services/Holding Consolidated Total

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

External revenues 1,398,398 1,353,552 771,396 749,979 144,147 132,317 88,094 84,837 2,402,035 2,320,685

Internal revenues 18,285 14,164 4,596 4,994 460,486 447,476 151,728 151,122 635,095 617,756

Segment Revenues 1,416,683 1,367,716 775,992 754,973 604,633 579,793 239,822 235,959 3,037,130 2,938,441

EBITDA 257,180 188,020 30,806 74,460 43,127 43,158 101,685 -15,553 432,798 290,085

 other non-cash income included therein 32,810 32,810

 income from investments included therein 7,119 10,772 7,386 6,083 2,574 1,633 23,089 15,876 40,169 34,364

  thereof accounted for under the equity method 3,462 7,253 7,142 5,728 8,092 4,513 18,696 17,494

Depreciation, amortization and impairments - 6,494 - 5,881 - 21,032 - 3,557 - 40,553 - 41,525 - 28,965 - 23,765 - 97,044 - 74,728

 thereof impairments 14,790 14,790

EBITA 250,686 182,139 9,774 70,903 2,574 1,633 72,720 - 39,318 335,754 215,357

Impairment losses on goodwill - 15,547 - 18,418 - 2,314 - 1,800 - 3,610 - 20,218 - 21,471

EBIT 250,686 166,592 -8,644 70,903 2,574 - 681 70,920 - 42,928 315,536 193,886

Non-recurring items - 6,480 1,526 - 2,221 13,003 4,617 14,529 - 4,084

Earnings before Interest, Taxes and 

Discontinued Operations 250,686 160,112 - 7,118 68,682 2,574 - 681 83,923 - 38,311 330,065 189,802

Capital expenditures 10,383 2,727 23,684 7,053 42,752 61,937 45,794 78,412 122,613 150,129

Segment assets 253,497 261,349 218,770 228,507 680,417 679,054 674,882 584,358 1,827,565 1,753,267

  thereof accounted for under the equity method 62,421 64,612 14,538 13,654 69,580 76,959 147,846

Segment liabilities 324,029 320,028 168,693 168,189 214,097 232,568 218,342 226,443 925,161 947,228

Employees 4,482 4,617 2,942 2,777 2,488 2,640 788 915 10,700 10,949

Segment Reporting - Secondary Reporting Format
EUR thousands

Domestic Foreign Consolidated Total

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Consolidated revenues 2,028,433 1,991,464 373,602 329,221 2,402,035 2,320,685

Capital expenditures 116,911 142,889 5,702 7,240 122,613 150,129

Segment assets 1,716,500 1,616,763 111,065 136,504 1,827,565 1,753,267

Notes
Segment Reporting 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes 
in Fixed Assets

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Fixed Assets 2004
EUR thousands

Cost

01/01/2004

Initial / 
Deconsoli-

da tion

Currency 
Translation 
Differences Additions Disposals

Reclassifi-
cations 12/31/2004

Intangible Assets

Purchased rights and licenses 136,545 0 540 26,109 - 10,041 382 153,535

Internally generated rights 8,821 0 0 1,242 0 0 10,063

Goodwill 124,042 - 19,309 2 0 - 39 0 104,696

Advance payments made 411 0 - 3 923 - 22 - 366 943

269,819 - 19,309 539 28,274 - 10,102 16 269,237

Property, Plant and Equipment

Land, rights similar to land and buildings including buildings on third-party land 514,906 0 133 22,772 - 5,554 84,270 616,527

Technical equipment and machinery 809,470 - 12,547 207 17,073 - 26,304 20,356 808,255

Other equipment, furniture and fixtures 163,153 - 190 650 20,359 - 22,464 5,349 166,857

Equipment under finance leases 28,529 0 0 0 0 0 28,529

Advance payments made and construction in progress 174,679 0 315 23,174 - 539 - 168,274 29,355

1,690,737 - 12,737 1,305 83,378 - 54,861 - 58,299 1,649,523

Investment Property 0 0 0 10,961 0 58,283 69,244

Non-Current Financial Assets

Investments in subsidiaries 59,367 2,325 157 2,257 - 392 0 63,714

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures accounted 

for under the equity method 147,846 - 107,389 0 51,995 - 15,493 0 76,959

Other investments in associated companies and joint ventures 77,524 0 0 718 - 87 3,489 81,644

Investments in other related companies 10,584 180,829 - 2 8,167 - 618 0 198,960

Loans 3,788 0 0 6,620 - 90 0 10,318

Securities and other non-current financial assets 7,327 0 16 491 - 1,037 - 3,489 3,308

306,436 75,765 171 70,248 - 17,717 0 434,903

Total 2,266,992 43,719 2,015 192,861 - 82,680 0 2,422,907

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Fixed Assets 2003
EUR thousands

Cost

01/01/2003

Initial / 
Deconsoli-

da tion

Currency 
Translation 
Differences Additions Disposals

Reclassifi-
cations 12/31/2003

Intangible Assets

Purchased rights and licenses 138,476 - 4,731 - 1,133 9,867 - 7,028 1,094 136,545

Internally generated rights 5,088 0 0 3,733 0 0 8,821

Goodwill 157,832 - 33,771 0 29 - 48 0 124,042

Advance payments made 1,003 - 29 0 411 - 3 - 971 411

302,399 - 38,531 - 1,133 14,040 - 7,079 123 269,819

Property, Plant and Equipment

Land, rights similar to land and buildings including buildings on third-party land 504,825 - 337 - 397 5,208 - 269 5,876 514,906

Technical equipment and machinery 802,794 - 617 - 336 40,070 - 97,697 65,256 809,470

Other equipment, furniture and fixtures 180,172 - 7,357 - 749 13,052 - 23,097 1,132 163,153

Equipment under finance leases 28,529 0 0 0 0 0 28,529

Advance payments made and construction in progress 169,456 - 2 0 77,759 - 147 - 72,387 174,679

1,685,776 - 8,313 - 1,482 136,089 - 121,210 - 123 1,690,737

Non-Current Financial Assets

Investments in subsidiaries 64,925 - 5,742 - 273 4,227 - 3,770 0 59,367

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures accounted 

for under the equity method 141,754 0 0 18,723 - 12,631 0 147,846

Other investments in associated companies and joint ventures 78,523 0 - 6 506 - 1,499 0 77,524

Investments in other related companies 9,057 0 0 2,163 0 - 636 10,584

Loans 7,879 0 0 738 - 4,829 0 3,788

Securities and other non-current financial assets 6,967 0 0 1,000 - 1,276 636 7,327

309,105 - 5,742 - 279 27,357 - 24,005 0 306,436

Total 2,297,280 - 52,586 - 2,894 177,486 - 152,294 0 2,266,992
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Depreciation, Amortization and Impairments Carrying Values

01/01/2004

Initial / 
Deconsoli-

da tion

Currency 
Translation 
Differences Additions Disposals

Reclassifi-
cations 12/31/2004 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

68,725 0 289 24,061 - 8,971 0 84,104 69,431 67,820

874 0 0 1,306 0 0 2,180 7,883 7,947

21,471 - 2,314 1 20,218 0 0 39,376 65,320 102,571

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 943 411

91,070 - 2,314 290 45,585 - 8,971 0 125,660 143,577 178,749

140,452 0 38 11,135 - 2,819 0 148,806 467,721 374,454

381,195 - 12,547 180 39,449 - 24,171 0 384,106 424,149 428,275

113,192 - 171 408 18,432 - 20,000 122 111,983 54,874 49,961

5,612 0 0 1,435 0 0 7,047 21,482 22,917

37,279 0 0 742 - 277 - 37,122 622 28,733 137,400

677,730 - 12,718 626 71,193 - 47,267 - 37,000 652,564 996,959 1,013,007

0 0 0 484 0 37,000 37,484 31,760 0

42,328 0 0 793 0 0 43,121 20,593 17,039

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 76,959 147,846

28,568 0 0 0 - 23 3,489 32,034 49,610 48,956

5,597 0 0 0 0 0 5,597 193,363 4,987

1,913 0 0 0 0 0 1,913 8,405 1,875

3,497 0 0 0 0 - 3 ,489 8 3,300 3,830

81,903 0 0 793 - 23 0 82,673 352,230 224,533

850,703 - 15,032 916 118,055 - 56,261 0 898,381 1,524,526 1,416,289

Depreciation, Amortization and Impairments Carrying Values

01/01/2003

Initial / 
Deconsoli-

da tion

Currency 
Translation 
Differences Additions Disposals

Reclassifi-
cations

Increases 
in value 12/31/2003 12/31/2003 01/01/2003

71,372 - 3,937 - 279 7,828 - 6,412 153 0 68,725 67,820 67,104

116 0 0 758 0 0 0 874 7,947 4,972

0 0 0 21,471 0 0 0 21,471 102,571 157,832

153 0 0 0 0 - 153 0 0 411 850

71,641 - 3,937 - 279 30,057 - 6,412 0 0 91,070 178,749 230,758

131,760 - 179 - 80 9,147 - 196 0 0 140,452 374,454 373,065

431,610 - 395 - 356 40,735 - 90,127 - 272 0 381,195 428,275 371,184

125,233 - 5,343 - 487 14,648 - 21,131 272 0 113,192 49,961 54,939

4,176 0 0 1,436 0 0 0 5,612 22,917 24,353

37,103 0 0 176 0 0 0 37,279 137,400 132,353

729,882 - 5,917 - 923 66,142 - 111,454 0 0 677,730 1,013,007 955,894

38,573 - 1,443 0 5,198 0 0 0 42,328 17,039 26,352

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 147,846 141,754

29,767 0 0 0 0 0 - 1,199 28,568 48,956 48,756

5,519 0 0 78 0 0 0 5,597 4,987 3,538

6,550 0 0 50 - 4,687 0 0 1,913 1,875 1,329

3,499 7 0 0 - 7 0 - 2 3,497 3,830 3,468

83,908 - 1,436 0 5,326 - 4,694 0 - 1,201 81,903 224,533 225,197

885,431 - 11,290 - 1,202 101,525 - 122,560 0 - 1,201 850,703 1,416,289 1,411,849
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General Information

(1) Introduction 

By application of Section 292a of the German Commercial Code (“HGB”), 
the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2004 of Axel Springer 
AG were drawn up for the first time in accordance with the International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted and published by the Interna-
tional Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The requirements of IFRS were 
satisfied in full, leading to the presentation of a true and fair view of the as-
sets, financial condition and operating results of Axel Springer AG and the 
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements (hereinafter referred to as the “Axel Springer Group”). 
The IFRS consolidated financial statements are in conformity with the Eu-
ropean Union Directive on Corporate Accounting (Directive 83/349/EWG). 
Significant differences between the accounting treatment according to IFRS 
and that according to the regulations of the German Commercial Code will 
be discussed in the context of the first-time adoption of IFRS in Section (4) 
below. 
To improve the readability of the financial statements, certain individual 
items of the income statement and balance sheet have been aggregated. 
These items are explained in the notes to the financial statements. The in-
come statement is formatted in accordance with the cost summary method.
The consolidated financial statements are denominated in euros. Bar-
ring an indication to the contrary, all amounts are stated in euro thousands 
(€ 000s). 
The consolidated financial statements and the consolidated management re-
port have been filed with the Commercial Register of the Berlin-Charlotten-
burg Local Court under the No. HR 4998. 

(2) Consolidation

(a) Consolidation Principles All significant domestic and foreign 
subsidiaries  in which Axel Springer AG is able to control, directly or indi-
rectly, the financial and operating policies of the company are included in the 
consolidated financial statements of the Axel Springer Group. 
The equity consolidation was performed by application of the purchase 
method as at the date of acquisition. Under the purchase method, the ac-
quired proportion of the fair value of the purchased assets and liabilities of 
the subsidiary at the date of acquisition are deducted from the cost of acqui-
sition of the interest in the subsidiary. Any remaining positive difference is 
capitalized as goodwill. Negative goodwill arising on the consolidation of 
equity at the date of acquisition is recognized immediately as income. The 
date of acquisition is that date when the ability to control the net assets and 
the financial and operating activities of the acquired company passes to the 
Axel Springer Group.
The hidden reserves and liabilities uncovered as a result of the fair value 
measurement of the assets and liabilities upon initial consolidation are either 
carried at cost, amortized or reversed in subsequent periods, depending on 
the development of the assets and liabilities to which they relate. In subse-
quent periods, any derivative goodwill is subjected to an impairment test at 
least once a year and if an impairment loss has been found to exist the carry-
ing amount is written down to the lower realizable value.
With regard to the application of these methods to acquisitions that occurred 
prior to the transition to IFRS at January 1, 2003, please see Section (4) be-
low. 
Expenses and income and receivables and payables between consolidated 
companies are eliminated. Intermediate profits are eliminated, if they are 
material. 

Companies which the Axel Springer Group manages jointly with other part-
ners are included in the consolidated financial statements by the equity meth-
od, which is also applied to significant associated companies. Associated 
companies are defined as companies in which the Axel Springer Group can 
exert significant influence over the financial and operating policies of the 
company. With regard to calculating the goodwill and the proportional fair 
value of the assets and liabilities, the principles applied to full consolida-
tion apply here as well. The IFRS financial statements of these companies 
as at the Group’s balance sheet date serve as the basis for consolidation by 
the equity method. Losses from associated companies or joint ventures that 
do not exceed the carrying amount of the investment or any other long-term 
receivables related to the financing of these companies are not recognized, 
unless the Axel Springer Group is bound by additional contribution require-
ments. It is not necessary to eliminate intermediate profits because they are 
not material. 
The separate financial statements of Axel Springer AG and its subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures included in the consolidated financial state-
ments have been drawn up on the basis of uniform accounting and valuation 
methods.

(b) Consolidation Group The consolidation group of the Axel Springer 
Group breaks down as follows:

12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Fully Consolidated Companies

Domestic 31 32

Foreign 17 17

Fully Consolidated Special-Purpose Entities

Domestic 4 3

Foreign 1 1

Companies Consolidated by the Equity Method 

Domestic 5 5

Foreign 1 1

Three real estate investment trusts and the pension fund of the subsidiaries in 
Switzerland were included in the financial statements as fully consolidated 
special-purpose entities. Furthermore, the AS UNIVERSAL-FONDS invest-
ment fund established in 2004 was consolidated as well.

The consolidation group is detailed in the List of Equity Holdings on pp. 
88 et seq. 
The exemption provisions of Section 264 Para. 3 HGB and Section  264b 
HGB have been applied.

In connection with the settlement agreement of August 6, 2004 between Axel 
Springer AG, Taurus TV GmbH i.I., KirchMedia GmbH & Co. KGaA i.I. and 
other parties, the shareholders of SAT.1 Beteiligungs GmbH resolved to amend 
the articles of incorporation and the internal rules of procedure of SAT.1 Be-
teiligungs GmbH. As a result of these resolutions, SAT.1 Beteiligungs GmbH 
was divided into two business segments, each managed by the corresponding 
shareholder under its own responsibility, with due consideration  paid to the 
basic corporate law framework that governs both segments.
As a result of this change, the equity held in SAT.1 Beteiligungs GmbH is 
no longer valued by the equity method, from the effective date of the cor-
responding resolution in September 2004. Because the Axel Springer Group 
now has the ability to control this company, the business segment of SAT.1 
Beteiligungs GmbH assigned to the Axel Springer Group has been consoli-
dated. 
A total of 56 subsidiaries (PY: 50 subsidiaries), 15 joint ventures (PY: 15 
joint ventures) and 59 associates (PY: 58 associates) were not included in 
the consolidated financial statements for 2004 because they are immaterial in 
terms of their overall effect on the assets, financial condition and operating 
results of the Axel Springer Group. Most of the non-consolidated subsidiar-
ies are non-operational.
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(c) Discontinued Operations As part of the strategic reorientation to focus 
on the core activities of the Axel Springer Group, the Books and Logistics 
segments were sold in 2003. In connection with these divestments, the com-
panies Ullstein Heyne List GmbH & Co. KG and Weltkunst Verlag GmbH 
in the Books segment and company Fünfzehnte “Media” Vermögensverwal-
tungsgesellschaft mbH, with its subsidiaries “Overbruck” Spedition GmbH 
and Z.Z.-Verlagsservice Eichberg GmbH & Co. KG in the Logistics seg-
ment, were sold.  
The companies Ullstein Heyne List GmbH & Co. KG and Fünfzehnte “Me-
dia” Vermögensverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH and its subsidiaries were de-
consolidated with effect as of January 1, 2003. The company Weltkunst Ver-
lag GmbH was deconsolidated as of September 30, 2003.
The following gains/losses resulted from the sale of discontinued operations 
in 2003:

EUR thousands Books Logistics Total

Cash inflow 64,807 40,000 104,807

+ Set-off with liabilities 0 20,000 20,000

+ As yet unpaid component 0 20,000 20,000

= Purchase Price 64,807 80,000 144,807

./. Cash of the discontinued operations 312 239 551

./.

Other net assets of the discontinued 

operations 68,447 24,988 93,435

./.

Adjustments of balance sheet items of 

the vendor 9,468 0 9,468

= Gain/Loss on the Sale - 13,420 54,773 41,353

+ Current taxes effect 14,029 0 14,029

./. Deferred taxes effect 13,125 0 13,125

= Net Gain on the Sale - 12,516 54,773 42,257

The net assets of the business operations in question break down as follows: 

EUR thousands Books Logistics Total

Short-term assets 135,500 39,432 174,932

+ Long-term assets 36,142 1,945 38,087

+ Cash 312 239 551

+ Deferred tax assets 26 0 26

Assets 171,980 41,616 213,596

./. Long-term debts 19,405 206 19,611

./. Short-term debts  83,739 16,183 99,922

./. Deferred tax liabilities  77 0 77

Liabilities 103,221 16,389 119,610

= Net Assets 68,759 25,227 93,986

 
The discontinued operations of Weltkunst Verlag GmbH did not have a ma-
terial effect on the net assets, financial position and operating results, nor on 
the cash flows of the Axel Springer Group in 2003. Therefore, the income 
and expenses of Weltkunst Verlag GmbH for the period from January 1, 2003 
to September 30, 2003 have not been disclosed herein. 
In financial year 2004, subsequent expenses related to the divestments of the 
Books segment at Ullstein Heyne List GmbH & Co. KG and Weltkunst Ver-
lag GmbH were incurred in the total amount of EUR 6,075 thousand.

(d) Translation of Financial Statements Denominated in Foreign Cur-
rency The assets and liabilities of subsidiaries for which the functional cur-
rency is not the euro have been translated at the exchange rate in effect on the 
balance sheet date. Derivative goodwill and hidden reserves and liabilities 
that have been recognized in connection with the first-time consolidation of 
a subsidiary have also been translated at the exchange rate in effect on the 
balance sheet date. Items of the income statement have been translated at the 
weighted average exchange rate for the year in question. Equity components 
of the subsidiaries have been translated at the respective historical exchange 
rate at the date of origination. The foreign exchange differences resulting 

from the translation have been recognized as a currency translation adjust-
ment within the item of other accumulated equity and/or minority interests. 
The exchange rates to the euro used to translate significant foreign financial 
statements underwent the following changes from the preceding year: 

Foreign Currency 
for One Euro

Average 
Exchange Rate

Exchange Rate on 
Balance Sheet Date

2004 2003 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Czech koruna 31.8910 31.8471 30.3950 32.5733

Russian ruble 36.7242 34.6021 37.7300 36.6300

Hungarian forint 251.6600 252.5252 245.6250 261.2330

Polish zloty 4.5268 4.3840 4.0740 4.6882

Swiss franc 1.5438 1.5193 1.5540 1.5593

(3) Explanation of Accounting and Valuation Methods 

(a) Recognition of Income and Expenses Revenues are recognized at 
the time when goods are sold or services rendered, provided that the amount 
of revenue can be reliably measured and it is probable that economic ben-
efits will flow to the enterprise. Revenues are stated net of any discounts 
allowed.
In the case of publishing products, revenue is not recognized for that portion 
of products sold which can be expected, on the basis of historical experience 
values, to be returned. 
 In the case of business activities about which it can be determined that the 
significant risks and rewards do not lie with the Axel Springer Group and/or 
the Group only collects income in the interest of third parties, only the corre-
sponding commission income or proportion of revenue accruing to the Axel 
Springer Group are recognized as revenues.
Operating expenses are recognized either when the corresponding goods or 
services are sold or rendered or at the time of their origination.
Interest expenses and income are recognized on an accrual basis in the pe-
riod of their occurrence. Interest expenses incurred in connection with the 
acquisition and production of certain assets are not capitalized as assets in 
the financial statements of the Axel Springer Group. 
Income or expenses from profit/loss transfer agreements are recognized at 
the end of the financial year. They are measured as the profit or loss deter-
mined in accordance with the accounting rules of commercial law. Dividend 
income is recognized at the date of distribution; the distribution period is 
normally the period in which a legal entitlement is constituted. 

(b) Intangible Assets Internally generated intangible assets are measured 
as the sum of costs incurred in the development phase from the time when 
the technical and economic feasibility has been demonstrated until the time 
when the intangible asset has been completed. The capitalized production 
costs include all costs that are directly or indirectly allocable to the develop-
ment phase. 
Purchased intangible assets are measured at cost. 
Internally generated and purchased intangible assets that have a determin-
able useful life are amortized by the straight-line method over their expected 
useful lives, starting from the time when they become available for use by 
the enterprise, as follows: 

Useful Life 
in Years

Software 3-8

Licenses 3-8

Supplier rights 3-8

Web sites 3-5

Intangible assets with an indeterminable useful life, which in the Axel 
Springer Group include derivative goodwill and title rights, are not subject-
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For purposes of conducting the impairment test, derivative goodwill is at-
tributed to the reporting units to which goodwill has also been allocated in 
the internal reporting system of the Axel Springer Group. In general, these 
reporting units correspond to specific titles of the Axel Springer Group, in-
cluding, in particular, separate titles within a single title group. 
Impairment losses are reversed if the reasons for the impairment loss cease 
to exist in subsequent periods. In such cases, the highest amount to which 
the asset can be restated is that amount which would have resulted if the 
impairment loss had not been recognized. A recognized impairment loss in 
goodwill is never reversed.

(f) Non-Current Financial Assets and Financial Instruments Non-cur-
rent financial assets are recognized in the financial statements of the Axel 
Springer Group at the date of delivery, which is to say, the settlement date.
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures that have not been 
consolidated or included by the equity method in the consolidated financial 
statements are classified for valuation purposes as “available-for-sale” assets 
according to IAS 39. Other non-current financial assets and instruments are 
classified, depending on their nature and purpose, either as “available-for-
sale” financial instruments or as “held-to-maturity” financial assets accord-
ing to IAS 39. 
Available-for-sale assets are measured at their fair values on the balance 
sheet date. If the fair value cannot be determined, these financial assets are 
measured at amortized cost. Moreover, options to buy shares in unlisted 
companies in which the Axel Springer Group holds an investment are car-
ried at amortized cost because it is not possible to reliably determine the fair 
value of such derivatives.
The common shares and preferred shares of ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG, 
which are held for the segment of SAT.1 Beteiligungs GmbH that is assigned 
to the Axel Springer Group, are stated under other non-current financial as-
sets from shares in other related companies. The fair value of these shares 
is determined on the basis of the listed stock market price of the preferred 
shares of ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG at the balance sheet date. For this pur-
pose, a discount is deducted from the stock market price to account for the 
prohibition on the sale of this stock which is currently in effect. The discount 
was determined on the basis of a reference transaction at the time when the 
shares were first recognized as assets in accordance with IAS 39; it will be 
reversed pro rata temporis over the period of time remaining until the sale 
prohibition for these shares expires in January 2007. Additionally, the vary-
ing features of the non-exchange-traded common shares as compared to the 
preferred shares which are held by Axel Springer AG were taken into ac-
count for valuation purposes.
The fair value of the other financial instruments of this category is deter-
mined by application of the discounted cash flow (DCF) method. However, 
the income from investments is considered to be not reliably measurable in 
those cases when sufficiently detailed information is not available, when the 
net profits or losses of these companies are highly volatile, when the fungi-
bility/comparability of the investments in such companies are highly restrict-
ed, when the Axel Springer Group has no influence on the profit distribution 
policies of the company by virtue of its status as a minority shareholder or 
when the distributions do not regularly occur in the same or subsequent fi-
nancial year. 
Any unrealized gains or losses resulting from the changes in fair value of 
the financial instruments are recognized in other accumulated equity and the 
resultant tax effects are taken into account. Changes in fair value are not rec-
ognized in income until the corresponding non-current financial assets are 
sold or a permanent impairment loss is recognized. 
Assets held to maturity are measured at amortized cost by application of the 
effective interest method. An impairment loss is recognized for such assets 
when the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, based on the 
originally determined effective rate of interest. 

ed to amortization. At present, the use of these assets by the company is not 
limited by any economic or legal restrictions. The carrying amounts of these 
intangible assets are subjected to an impairment test at least once a year. 
Whenever events or changed circumstances suggest that a fixed asset may 
have been permanently impaired, Axel Springer AG conducts an impairment 
test to determine whether it is necessary to recognize an impairment loss. An 
impairment loss is recognized if the present value of the future cash flows ex-
pected to flow from the asset is less than the carrying amount of that asset. 
For the purpose of periodically testing title rights and goodwill for possible 
impairment losses, Axel Springer AG defines cash-generating units to which 
non-current assets and net current assets can be allocated. The future cash 
flows of such cash-generating units are discounted by application of a capital 
cost rate determined with reference to comparable companies. An impair-
ment loss is recognized when the present value of the future cash flows is 
less than the carrying amount of the non-current  and net current assets of the 
cash-generating unit, including the goodwill and title rights allocated to it.

(c) Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and equipment are mea-
sured at cost and depreciated by the straight-line method over their expected 
useful lives. The cost of self-produced assets comprise all directly attribut-
able costs and all overhead costs incurred in connection with the production 
process. Any gains or losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment 
are recognized as other operating income or expenses.
Leased assets over which a company of the Axel Springer Group retains 
beneficial ownership (finance leases) are recognized as fixed assets and mea-
sured at the present value of the future lease payments or the lower fair value 
of the leased asset and depreciated by the straight-line method. The present 
value of the payment obligations associated with the future lease payments 
is recognized as a liability.
For depreciation purposes, the following useful lives have been established 
as uniform guidelines for the entire Group:

Useful Life 
in Years

Buildings 30 – 50

Leasehold improvements 5 – 15

Printing machines 15 – 20

Editing systems 3 – 6

Other operational and business equipment 3 – 14

When it is reasonably certain that ownership of the assets leased under fi-
nance lease will pass to a company of the Axel Springer Group at the end of 
the lease period, such assets are depreciated over their useful lives. 
Low-value assets are fully expensed in the year of acquisition.
Government grants in the form of capital expenditure subsidies and premi-
ums granted for the acquisition or construction of long-term assets are rec-
ognized as deferred income and presented among the Other liabilities. In 
subsequent periods, the deferred income item is released and recognized as 
income over the useful life of the asset for which the grant was extended.

(d) Investment Property In accordance with the cost model option defined 
in IAS 40, investment property which the Axel Springer Group intends to 
lease out to third parties is measured at amortized cost. Such property is de-
preciated by the straight-line method over a useful life of 50 years.

(e) Recognition of Impairment Losses in Intangible Assets and Prop-
erty, Plant and Equipment Impairment losses are recognized in intangible 
assets, including derivative goodwill, and in property, plant and equipment, 
when as a result of certain events the carrying amount of the asset is no lon-
ger matched by the expected net selling price or the discounted sum of fu-
ture cash flows from the continued use of the asset. If it is not possible to 
determine the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the cash flow for 
the next-higher group of assets for which such a cash flow can be determined 
is applied. 
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(g) Inventories Inventories are measured at cost. 
Costs of purchase are determined on the basis of a weighted average value. 
Production costs include all costs directly related to the units of production 
and production-related overhead costs. 
Inventories are measured at the balance sheet date as the lower of the pur-
chase or conversion cost and the net realizable value. The net realizable 
value is the estimated selling price less the estimated costs to be incurred 
until the sale. 
The net realizable value of goods and services in progress is calculated as 
the net realizable value of the finished goods and services less the remaining 
costs of completion.
Semi-finished goods from the production processes of the printing plants 
are measured at their respective fully-costed carrying amounts. If the fully-
costed carrying amounts of commercial printing jobs are higher than the cor-
responding market values at the balance sheet date, they are marked down to 
the expected net selling prices.
Original values are reinstated whenever the reasons justifying an earlier 
writedown no longer exist.

(h) Receivables and Other Assets Trade receivables and other assets are 
measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly at-
tributable to the acquisition. In subsequent periods, they are measured at 
amortized cost. 
Appropriate allowances are taken to account for discernible default risks. 
These allowances have been determined on the basis of historical loss rates 
and risk assessments of individual cases.

(i) Cash Cash is composed of cash in banks and cash on hand.

(j) Pension Provisions The provisions for pension obligations are calcu-
lated by the projected unit credit method, in accordance with IAS 19, under 
which future changes in compensation and benefits are taken into account. 
The pension obligations are measured on the basis of expert actuarial opin-
ions. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows. The discount rate applied 
for this purpose is determined with reference to high-quality corporate bonds 
that match the underlying pension obligations with respect to currency and 
maturity.

If and when the actuarial gains and losses resulting from changes in actuarial 
parameters exceed 10 % of the higher pension obligations or plan assets at 
the beginning of the financial year, the amount exceeding the 10 % limit is 
recognized in income over the remaining service years of the employees en-
titled to benefits (corridor method). 
The service cost and the realized actuarial gains and losses are recognized 
in personnel expenses. The interest component contained in the pension ex-
penses is stated separately as part of interest expenses.

(k) Other Provisions Other provisions have been formed to account for all 
discernible legal and constructive obligations of the Axel Springer Group to 
third parties, provided that the settlement of the obligation is probable and 
the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. In accordance with 
IAS 37, the amount of each provision corresponds to the expected settlement 
amount. In the case of long-term provisions, the expected settlement amount 
is discounted to present value at the balance sheet date by application of ap-
propriate market rates of interest. 
Provisions are recognized for restructuring expenses only when the intended 
measures have been sufficiently concretized and announced on or before the 
balance sheet date. 

(l) Liabilities Liabilities are measured initially at fair value, plus any transac-
tion costs. In subsequent periods, they are measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method. 

(m) Deferred Taxes Deferred taxes are recognized to account for the future 
tax effects of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and li-
abilities and the carrying amounts of such assets and liabilities in the IFRS 
financial statements and for loss carryforwards. Deferred taxes are measured 
on the basis of the tax laws enacted prior to the end of the financial year in 
which it is probable that the differences will reverse or the tax losses can be 
utilized. Deferred tax assets are recognized for temporary differences or tax 
losses only when the ability to utilize them in the near future appears to be 
reasonably certain. 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized to account for temporary differences 
resulting from the fair value measurement of assets and liabilities obtained 
through acquisitions. Deferred taxes are recognized for temporary differ-
ences relating to derivative goodwill only when the derivative goodwill can 
be utilized for tax purposes. 
Deferred tax assets are netted with deferred tax liabilities only when such 
deferred taxes relate to income taxes assessed by the same taxation authority 
and when current tax assets and liabilities can be netted.

(n) Derivative Financial Instruments Derivative financial instruments are 
utilized in the Axel Springer Group to hedge against currency and interest 
rate risks. 
As a rule, derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. Chang-
es in the fair values of derivative financial instruments that satisfy the criteria 
of IAS 39 are accounted for differently, depending on the type of hedging 
relationship. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that serve the purpose 
of hedging the exposure to variability in future cash flows (cash flow hedg-
es) are not recognized in income, but in other accumulated equity, together 
with the resultant tax effects. The amounts recognized in other accumulated 
equity are charged off when the underlying transaction is recognized on the 
balance sheet or income statement. 
In the case of certain derivatives used by the Axel Springer Group, which do 
not satisfy the criteria of IAS 39 for recognition as a hedging transaction, de-
spite the hedging effect which they have economically, changes in fair value 
are recognized in income by virtue of being classified as fair value through 
profit and loss. 

(o) Management Participation Plan The Management Participation Plan 
for members of the Management Board that was approved by the sharehold-
ers at the annual meeting of April 14, 2004 is accounted for in accordance 
with IFRS 2. The compensation components of the Management Participa-
tion Plan to be recognized as expenses over the vesting period are measured 
as the fair value of the entitlement to purchase shares and the options grant-
ed at the time when they were granted. The fair values of the entitlement to 
purchase shares and the options granted are determined on the basis of the 
Black-Scholes model.

(p) Transactions in Foreign Currencies Purchases and sales in foreign 
currencies are translated at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. 
Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate 
on the balance sheet date. Any foreign exchange gains or losses resulting 
from such translations are recognized in income.

(q) Fair Value of Financial Instruments The fair values of financial instru-
ments are determined on the basis of appropriate market prices or valuation 
methods. (See also Section 3(f).) In the case of cash and other short-term 
non-derivative financial instruments, the fair values are equivalent to the 
carrying amounts at the respective reporting dates. 
In the case of long-term receivables and other assets, as well as long-term 
provisions and liabilities, the fair values are determined as the sum of the 
expected cash flows based on reference interest rates in effect on the balance 
sheet date. The fair values of derivative financial instruments were deter-
mined on the basis of the forward exchange rates and reference interest rates 
in effect on the balance sheet date.
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(r) Use of Estimates The preparation of the IFRS consolidated financial 
statements requires estimates and assumptions that have an influence on the 
presentation of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities 
at the balance sheet date and the presentation of income and expenses. Sig-
nificant estimates and assumptions relate in particular to the definition of 
uniform, Group-wide useful lives for depreciation purposes, the rates used 
in determining allowances for doubtful receivables, the actuarial parame-
ters used to measure pension provisions, the valuation parameters used to 
measure the fair value of options in the Management Participation Plan, the 
definition of product return rates and the ability to utilize deferred tax assets 
in the future. The amounts that actually materialize in the future may differ 
from the amounts determined on the basis of estimates and assumptions.

(4) Effects of the First-Time-Adoption of IFRS

(a) Principles of First-Time Adoption The consolidated financial state-
ments of the Axel Springer Group at December 31, 2004 were prepared in 
accordance with the principles applicable to the first-time adoption of IFRS 
as set forth in IFRS 1. The International Financial Reporting Standards that 
were obligatory as of December 31, 2004 were applied retrospectively for 
purposes of these consolidated financial statements. With regard to the appli-
cation of those International Financial Reporting Standards that were already 
published, but not yet obligatory as of December 31, 2004, see Section (5). 
The following simplification options allowed by IFRS 1 with respect to the 
retrospective application of the IFRS that were obligatory as of Decem-
ber 31, 2004 were exercised for purposes of drawing up the IFRS opening 
balance sheet at January 1, 2003: 
–  All acquisitions effected by the Axel Springer Group prior to January 1, 

2003 were stated in the IFRS opening balance sheet according to the ac-
counting methods applied in the consolidated financial statements drawn 
up in accordance with the German Commercial code (“HGB”). For such 
acquisitions, the derivative goodwill in the IFRS opening balance sheet 
at January 1, 2003 is the same as the derivative goodwill in the HGB fi-
nancial statements at December 31, 2002. It was not necessary to recog-
nize any impairment losses in such items of goodwill pursuant to IAS 36 
in the IFRS opening balance sheet at January 1, 2003. Negative goodwill 
amounts were charged off without effect on income in the IFRS opening 
balance sheet.

 Seven companies that had not been included in the HGB consolidated 
financial statements at December 31, 2002 were fully consolidated in the 
IFRS opening balance sheet at January 1, 2003. These companies are the 
following:

  – Immonet GmbH, Hamburg
  –  ZZ-Kurier Gesellschaft für Zeitungs- und Zeitschriftenvertrieb 

mbH, Hamburg
  – Axel Springer Praha a.s., Prague
  –  Axel-Springer-Immobilien-Fonds-I Dr.Rühl & Co.KG, Düsseldorf
  –  Axel-Springer-Immobilien-Fonds-II- Produktionszentrum Dr.Rühl 

& Co.KG, Düsseldorf
  –  Axel-Springer-Immobilien-Fonds-III- Ostflügel Dr.Rühl & Co.KG, 

Düsseldorf
  –  Personalvorsorgestiftung der Handelszeitung und Finanzrundschau 

AG, Zurich
 In accordance with IFRS 1, the equity consolidation at January 1, 2003 

was effected by offsetting the cost of acquisition against the proportion 
of equity held in these companies at the IFRS carrying amounts. The re-
sulting derivative goodwill amounts are substantive. 

 Furthermore, the companies
  – Cora Verlag GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg
  –  Leipziger Verlags- und Druckereigesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, 

Leipzig
  – Jahr Top Special Verlag Verlag GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg
  – Ostsee-Zeitung GmbH & Co. KG, Rostock

 which were fully consolidated, or proportionally consolidated, in the 
HGB consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2002, were in-
cluded in the IFRS opening balance sheet by the equity method. The 
shares in SAT 1 Beteiligungs GmbH, Munich, and in Emap France/Axel 
Springer (EMAS) S.E.N.C., Suresnes, which were carried at amortized 
cost in the HGB consolidated financial statements, were included in the 
IFRS opening balance sheet for the first time by the equity method. The 
above-described method of first-time consolidation of subsidiaries ac-
cording to IFRS 1 were applied analogously to these investments. The 
resulting negative goodwill was not recognized in income, but directly 
in equity.

– In the IFRS opening balance sheet at January 1, 2003, pension and simi-
lar obligations were measured at the present value of the corresponding 
obligations.

– The currency translation adjustment for financial statements denomi-
nated in foreign currencies was set at zero in the IFRS opening balance 
sheet. 

– Derivative goodwill arising from the acquisition prior to January 1, 
2003, of foreign subsidiaries using a functional currency other than the 
euro was not adjusted by application of the exchange rate in effect on the 
balance sheet date.  

The differences relative to the recognition and measurement of assets and 
liabilities between the IFRS opening balance sheet at January 1, 2003, as 
compared to the HGB rules, resulting from the first-time adoption of IFRS, 
were recognized in the item of consolidated retained earnings or other accu-
mulated equity and in the minority interests.  

(b) Changes in Consolidated Equity and Consolidated Net Income 
from HGB to IFRS The application of IFRS produced the following effects 
on the consolidated equity of the Axel Springer Group at January 1, 2003 or 
December 31, 2003: 

EUR thousands Note 12/31/2003 01/01/2003

HGB Equity 807,652 703,547

Adjustment of deferred taxes (i) 89,016 131,264

Adjustment of accounting by the equity method (ii) 26,568 19,767

Adjustment of derivative goodwill (iii) 9,517 - 1,241

Capitalization of finance leases (iv) 9,261 6,579

Adjustment of provisions for compensation 

claims of commercial agents (v) 8,668 11,303

Capitalization of internally generated intangible 

assets (vi) 7,818 4,390

Adjustment of provisions for restructuring measures (vii) 6,682 269

Adjustment of other provisions (viii) 4,719 4,073

Adjustment of useful lives and depreciation methods (ix) 3,578  - 1

Change of consolidation group (x) 3,479 4,256

Adjustments to allowances for doubtful receivables (xi) - 136 4,754

Adjustment of recognition of investment income (xii) - 18,087 - 15,432

Valuation new building in Berlin (xiii) - 37,000 - 37,000

Adjustment of accounting for pension obligations (xiv) - 58,894 - 57,944

Recognition of treasury stock (xv) - 184,585 0

Other effects - 444 10

IFRS Equity 677,812 778,594

The effects resulting from the conversion from HGB to IFRS on the con-
solidated net income before minority interests for financial year 2003 are 
as follows:
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EUR thousands Note 2003

HGB Net Income for the Year 130,230

Adjustment of derivative goodwill (iii) 11,169

Adjustment of accounting by the equity method (ii) 7,837

Adjustment of provisions for restructuring methods (vii) 6,330

Adjustment of useful lives and depreciation measures (ix) 5,049

Capitalization of internally generated intangible assets (vi) 3,447

Capitalization of finance leases (iv) 2,682

Adjustment of other provisions (viii) 729

Change of consolidation group (x) 481

Adjustment of accounting for pension obligations (xiv) - 821

Adjustment of currency translation of foreign subsidiaries (xvi) - 2,039

Adjustment of recognition of investment income (xii) - 2,307

Adjustment of provisions for compensation claims of commercial 

agents (v) - 2,624

Adjustments of allowances for doubtful receivables (xi) - 4,743

Adjustment of deferred taxes (i) - 41,214

Other effects - 2,648

IFRS Net Income for the Year 111,558

The main differences between the accounting and valuation methods of HGB 
and IFRS relate to the following areas, in particular: 
(i) According to IAS 12, deferred taxes must be recognized for all tempo-

rary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the IFRS balance sheet and the tax bases of such assets and liabilities 
and for tax loss carryforwards. Under IFRS, moreover, deferred taxes 
are to be calculated on the basis of the tax rates that will apply in the 
future. Under HGB rules, on the other hand, only deferred tax liabilities 
and deferred tax assets arising on consolidation must be recognized. 
Furthermore, deferred tax assets may not be recognized for tax loss car-
ryforwards and the recognition of any other deferred tax assets is op-
tional. For the HGB consolidated financial statements, deferred taxes 
are calculated on the basis of the currently applicable tax rate.

(ii) For purposes of including associated companies and joint ventures 
in the IFRS consolidated financial statements according to the equity 
method, the financial statements of these companies were adjusted to 
bring them into conformity with the IFRS recognition and measure-
ment methods applied in the Axel Springer Group. The resulting ad-
justments were recognized in the carrying amounts of the investments 
in the associates and joint ventures. 

(iii) According to IFRS 3, derivative goodwill is not to be amortized. In the 
HGB consolidated financial statements, on the other hand, the deriva-
tive goodwill is generally amortized and recognized in income over 
the expected useful life.

 Existing negative goodwill amounts were reversed and recognized in 
equity at the time of conversion to IFRS 3. Negative goodwill amounts 
from later acquisitions are to be recognized in income at the date of ac-
quisition.In the HGB consolidated financial statements, negative good-
will was amortized and recognized in income over a period of 10 years.

(iv) According to IAS 17, leased items should be recognized as assets on 
the balance sheet of the economic owner, which is to say, that party 
which retains or obtains substantially all the risks and rewards incident 
to ownership. Under HGB rules, the leased assets are attributed also 
on the basis of economic ownership, but there is a difference of de-
gree. Consequently, certain leases which had been treated as operating 
leases in the HGB consolidated financial statements are classified as 
finance leases in the IFRS consolidated financial statements.

(v) In accordance with Section 89b HGB, the expected compensation 
claims of commercial agents upon termination of their contracts are  
accrued on a pro-rata basis over the duration of the contractual rela-
tionship in the HGB consolidated financial statements. In the IFRS 
consolidated financial statements, on the other hand, the obligation for 
which a provision can be formed according to IAS 37 is created only 
at the time of termination of the contract. 

(vi) According to IAS 38, expenditures for internally generated intangible 
assets are to be capitalized from the time when the technical and eco-
nomic feasibility has been demonstrated and thereafter amortized. Un-
der HGB, on the other hand, internally generated intangible assets may 
not be capitalized, as a rule. 

(vii) Under IFRS, a provision for restructuring expenses may be recognized 
only if the conditions set out in IAS 37 are met. In general, the rec-
ognition criteria for such obligations as they are set out in IAS 37 are 
more restrictive than the corresponding HGB conditions. 

 Furthermore, certain restructuring expenses that relate to future busi-
ness activities may not be included in the provision for restructuring 
expenses in the IFRS consolidated financial statements.

(viii) According to IAS 37, provisions may be recognized only to account 
for an external obligation, the occurrence of which is considered to 
be probable and the amount of which can be reliably measured. Pro-
visions for expenses, which are permissible under HGB, are not per-
missible in the IFRS consolidated financial statements. In the IFRS 
consolidated financial statements, the provisions were measured at the 
most probable amount. Under IFRS, moreover, long-term provisions 
must be discounted to present value.

(ix) Intangible assets with uncertain useful lives are not subjected to amor-
tization in the IFRS consolidated financial statements. In the HGB 
consolidated financial statements, on the other hand, intangible assets 
are still subjected to amortization. 

(x) Due to the change of consolidation methods, changes occurred in the 
consolidated equity and/or the consolidated net income before minori-
ty interests, particularly in those companies in which outside investors 
hold shares, due to the inclusion of minority interests in net income or 
equity.

(xi) In the IFRS consolidated financial statements, allowances for doubt-
ful receivables were recognized only when the expected default risk 
could be substantiated by means of appropriate experience values. In 
the HGB consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2002, the 
allowances for doubtful receivables were formed on the basis of gen-
eralized rates.

(xii) In the IFRS consolidated financial statements, dividends or profit dis-
tributions receivable are recognized only at the time of the profit ap-
propriation resolution, whereas in the HGB consolidated financial 
statements, such receivables were recognized already at the end of the 
financial year, under certain conditions.

(xiii) In measuring the fair value of the section of the newly constructed build-
ing in Berlin that was intended to be leased to third parties, an impair-
ment loss was recognized at January 1, 2003, in accordance with IAS 36, 
to account for the expected vacancies and the declining market price.

(xiv) In the HGB consolidated financial statements, provisions for pensions 
are measured primarily by application of the going concern method 
defined in Section 6a of the German Income Tax Act (“EStG”), based 
on a constant rate of interest of 6 %. In the IFRS consolidated financial 
statements, on the other hand, provisions for pensions are calculated 
by application of the projected unit credit method defined in IAS 19. 
Under this method, actuarial assumptions concerning future increases 
in compensation and benefits are taken into consideration, in addition 
to the long-term market rate of interest currently in effect. Such ac-
tuarial assumptions are not taken into consideration under the going 
concern method of Section 6a EStG. 

(xv) According to IFRS, treasury shares should be deducted as cost of ac-
quisition of equity. In the HGB consolidated financial statements, trea-
sury shares are presented as an asset.

(xvi) In the IFRS consolidated financial statements, the income and expens-
es of foreign subsidiaries for which the functional currency is not the 
euro are translated at the average exchange rate for the year. In the 
HGB consolidated financial statements, they are translated at the ex-
change rate in effect on the balance sheet date, giving rise to differ-
ences in the profit/loss contributions of these companies in euros to the 
consolidated net income for the Group.
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(c) Effects on the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement The first-time 
adoption of IFRS gave rise to only minor changes in cash and cash equiva-
lents and in the composition of net cash flow for the period. These changes 
resulted from the expansion of the consolidation group and the change from 
the pro-rata consolidation to the equity method for joint ventures, and the 
changed classification of finance leases.

(5) Newly Issued Reporting Standards of the IASB 

In December 2003, as part of its “improvement project,” the IASB issued re-
vised versions of 13 standards. The revised standards were retroactively ap-
plied in full to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2004, 
with the exception of the simplification options allowed by IFRS 1.
Also in December 2003, the IASB issued revised versions of IAS 32 “Finan-
cial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation“ and IAS 39 “Financial Instru-
ments: Recognition and Measurement,” which are obligatory for financial 
years that commence on or after January 1, 2005. These revised versions 
have already been applied in the consolidated financial statements at De-
cember 31, 2004.
In February 2004, the IASB issued IFRS 2 “Share-based Payments.” IFRS 2 
governs the recognition and measurement of goods and services when the 
consideration given for them depends on the value of certain equity instru-
ments of the company receiving the goods or services. This standard is 
obligatory for financial years that commence on or after January 1, 2005, 
although certain transitional rules apply. IFRS 2 was applied retroactively 
to December 31, 2004, in the IFRS consolidated financial statements of the 
Axel Springer Group at December 31, 2004.
With IFRS 3 “Business Combinations,” which was published in March 2004, 
the IASB established new rules for accounting for acquisitions. IFRS 3 is 
applicable to acquisitions agreed on or after March 31, 2004. Transitional 
arrangements were defined for derivative goodwill arising on acquisitions 
that occurred before this date. The publication of IFRS 3 entailed concur-
rent changes in IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” and in IAS 38 “Intangible 
Assets.” IFRS 3 and the revised versions of IAS 36 and IAS 38 were retro-
actively applied, from January 1, 2003 onward, in the IFRS consolidated fi-
nancial statements at December 31, 2004, in accordance with the provisions 
of IFRS 1.
Also in March 2004, the IASB published IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” and 
IFRS 5 “Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.“ 
IFRS 4 is relatively unimportant for the Axel Springer Group and therefore 
was not applied ahead of time. IFRS 5 has been applied in the IFRS consoli-
dated financial statements. 

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet 

(6) Intangible Assets

The changes occurring in each category of intangible assets of the Axel Spring-
er Group are represented in the Statement of Changes in Fixed Assets.
The carrying amount of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, exclud-
ing intangible assets classified as goodwill, is EUR 36,447 thousand (PY: 
EUR 51,237 thousand).

The internally generated intangible assets consist of software solutions and 
web sites.
An impairment loss of EUR 20 thousand (PY: EUR 408 thousand) in pur-
chased software was recognized in 2004 because this software is no longer 
being used in the Axel Springer Group.
Impairment losses of EUR 35,008 thousand (PY: EUR 21,471 thousand) 
were recognized in goodwill on the basis of the future prospects for business 
success. These impairment losses related to the following reporting units:

EUR thousands 2004 2003

Les Publications Grand Public SAS, Levallois-Perret/France 17,418 -

Axel Springer Young Mediahouse GmbH, Munich 14,790 -

Schwartzkopff TV-Productions GmbH & Co KG, Hamburg 1,800 3,610

Axel Springer Praha a.s., Prague/Czech Republic 1,000 -

Handelszeitung und Finanzrundschau AG, Zurich/Switzerland - 15,547

GMZ Druckerei GmbH & Co KG, Berlin - 2,314

Impairment Losses in Goodwill and Title Rights 35,008 21,471

In France, 14-day TV programming guides have become increasingly popu-
lar since the end of 2003. The growing competition posed by this format 
considerably worsened the profit outlook for the weekly title TÉLÉ MAGA-
ZINE, which made it necessary to recognize an impairment loss for Les Pub-
lications Grand Public SAS in 2004. 
The negative trends affecting the sales and advertising performance of youth 
magazines has permanently worsened the profit outlook of Axel Springer 
Young Mediahouse GmbH. Thus, it was necessary to recognize an impair-
ment loss in the title rights of the company in 2004.
Schwartzkopff TV-Productions GmbH & Co. KG was not able to complete-
ly offset the loss of several commissioned productions with new orders. For 
this reason, impairment losses were recognized in the derivative goodwill of 
this company in the financial years 2003 and 2004.
No major changes are expected to occur in the exchange rate parity between 
the euro and the Czech koruna in the next few years. Due to the strong ap-
preciation of the euro in 2004, however, coupled with the slowing growth 
of the Czech newspaper market and additional new competition in the seg-
ment of automotive magazines, the profits of Axel Springer Praha a.s. will 
be permanently lower than originally expected. Therefore, it was necessary 
to recognize an impairment loss in the goodwill of this company in 2004.
The severe slump of the Swiss advertising market, especially with regard 
to financial and business advertisements, coupled with declining circula-
tion numbers, have had a negative effect on the profitability, despite the cost 
reduction measures that were initiated. This situation made it necessary to 
recognize an impairment loss in the goodwill of Handelszeitung und Finanz-
rundschau AG in 2003.
Effective January 1, 2004, the company GMZ Druckerei GmbH & Co. KG, 
Berlin, was deconsolidated because the business operations were transferred 
to Axel Springer AG. Consequently, the derivative goodwill was written off 
in 2003.
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(7) Property, Plant and Equipment

The changes occurring in property, plant and equipment are summarized in 
the Statement of Changes in Fixed Assets of the Axel Springer Group. 
The assets stated under finance leases consist of two printing machines that 
are being used by the Axel Springer Group under a sale-and-lease-back ar-
rangement. The corresponding contracts were signed in 1999 and 2000 and 
each one has a lease period of 72 months. The Axel Springer Group has the 
option of purchasing the printing machines from the lessor at their residual 
value upon expiration of the lease terms.
At December 31, 2004, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 
with acquisition or production costs of EUR 195,127 thousand were being 
used, although they have been fully written off. 

(8) Investment Property 

At December 31, 2003, the investment property was still in the construction 
phase and was therefore stated under Construction in progress. The carrying 
amount at December 31, 2003 was EUR 21,283 thousand and the accumu-
lated impairments taken in view of the expected rental prospects of the prop-
erty amounted to EUR 37,000 thousand. When the property was completed 
at the beginning of 2004, it was reclassified from Construction in progress 
to Investment property.
Rental revenues of EUR 1,236 thousand were generated in 2004 and rental 
expenses of EUR 5,758 thousand were incurred. Efforts to lease the build-
ing began in January 2004. Due to the general market conditions in Berlin, 
the leasing and pricing situation at the Berlin location is difficult. In 2004, 
the tenancy rate was approx. 44 %. It is estimated that the tenancy rate will 
rise to 55 % in 2005. 
The fair value of the investment property was EUR 31,852 thousand at De-
cember 31, 2004. The Axel Springer Group determined the fair value by 
means of the discounted cash flow method (DCF method), based on the es-
timated cash flows to result from the leasing of the property. A discount rate 
of 8.0 % and a perpetuity capitalization rate of 7.0 % were applied.

(9) Non-Current Financial Assets

The changes in non-current financial assets are summarized in the Statement 
of Changes in Fixed Assets of the Axel Springer Group. 
The associated companies and joint ventures accounted for by the equity 
method reported total net profits of EUR 18,696 thousand (PY: EUR 17,494 
thousand), total revenues of EUR 113,015 thousand (PY: EUR 112,100 thou-
sand), total assets of EUR 117,653 thousand (PY: EUR 178,745 thousand) 
and total liabilities of EUR 53,316 thousand (PY: EUR 68,242 thousand) in 
their financial statements.
The non-consolidated equity interests in subsidiaries and the available-for-
sale financial instruments carried under Other financial instruments in Fixed 
assets were measured at fair value on the balance sheet date, or if such fair 
value could not be reliably measured due to the lack of an active market, 
nor reliably measured by some other method, they were stated at amortized 
cost, as follows: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

At fair value 209,739 29,528

At amortized cost 55,114 42,803

Available-for-Sale Financial Instruments Carried Under 

Fixed Assets 264,853 72,331

(10) Inventories

The inventories break down as follows: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Raw materials and supplies 38,518 36,426

Semi-finished goods 8,067 7,591

Finished goods and merchandise 2,087 2,465

Inventories 48,672 46,482

Inventories of EUR 14,416 thousand (PY: EUR 15,237 thousand) were mea-
sured at their net realizable value. The valuation allowance for these invento-
ries amounted to EUR 4,296 thousand at December 31, 2004 (PY: EUR 4,685 
thousand), of which amount EUR 389 thousand was recognized in income in 
2004 (PY: EUR -81 thousand).

(11) Trade Receivables 

The trade receivables break down as follows: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Trade receivables, nominal 214,719 216,228

Allowances for doubtful receivables 9,969 10,146

Trade R-eceivables 204,750 206,082

(12) Receivables Due from Related Parties 

The receivables due from related parties break down as follows: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Receivables due from associates and other joint ventures 14,713 14,856

Receivables due from non-consolidated subsidiaries 7,825 5,434

Receivables due from other related persons and companies 5,395 3,474

Receivables due from joint ventures accounted for 

by the equity method 2,905 2,928

Receivables Due from Related Parties 30,838 26,692

Allowances for doubtful receivables amounting to EUR 26,293 thousand 
(PY: EUR 25,204 thousand) were taken at December 31, 2004 to account 
for discernible default risks. 

(13) Other Assets

The Other assets break down as follows: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

H&F call option 20,745 0

Claims to payment of purchase price 10,010 20,000

Receivables from employees 2,475 3,495

Credit balances with suppliers 1,991 2,962

Other assets 20,348 25,535

Financial Assets 55,569 51,992

Prepaid expenses 6,418 6,312

Other taxes 3,462 3,676

Other Assets (other than Financial Assets) 9,880 9,988

Other Assets 65,449 61,980
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By agreement of April 8, 2004, the shareholders H&F Rose Partners, L.P. 
and H&F International Rose Partners, L.P. (collectively referred to as “H&F” 
in the following) granted to Axel Springer AG call options for the purchase 
of Axel Springer AG shares. The exercise of these options is subject to the 
condition precedent that options be exercised by the Management Board un-
der the corresponding Management Participation Plan. Thus, Axel Springer 
AG is entitled to purchase one share from H&F for every share issued to 
a member of the Management Board under the Management Participation 
Plan. 
In the event that H&F would no longer have a sufficient number of Axel 
Springer AG shares to settle the call options because it will have sold the 
shares, Axel Springer AG will be entitled to a cash settlement in the amount 
of the difference between the sale price attained by H&F on the sale of its 
shares and the exercise price of the call option. The amount of the cash settle-
ment will be determined with reference to the number of options which the 
Management Board will still be entitled to exercise. 
According to IAS 32, the call options must be recognized as non-current fi-
nancial assets and measured at fair value on the balance sheet date because 
of the settlement option allowed to H&F. The fair value is determined by ap-
plication of an option pricing model. 
At the time when H&F granted the options to Axel Springer, the fair value 
of the options was EUR 19,906 thousand. Because the granting of options 
by H&F is characterized as a shareholder transaction, the capital reserve 
was increased by the amount of the fair value. The changes in fair value of 
the options in the time after they were granted are recognized in the item of 
other net financial expenses.

(14) Cash and Cash Equivalents

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Cash 439,050 290,014

Marketable securities due in up to three months 15,496 5,424

Cash and Cash Equivalents 454,546 295,438

The marketable securities, which are assigned to the available-for-sale cat-
egory, are measured at fair value without exception. 

(15) Equity 

The changes in consolidated equity are summarized in the Statement of 
Changes in Equity.

(a) Subscribed Capital The subscribed capital of EUR 102,000,000 is fully 
paid up. Based on the percentage of subscribed capital that each share repre-
sents, the shares are valued at EUR 3 per share, unchanged from the previ-
ous year. The subscribed capital is divided into 34,000,000 registered shares, 
which can be transferred only with the consent of the company.
The company Axel Springer Gesellschaft für Publizistik GmbH & Co, Ber-
lin, which holds 50 % plus ten shares, was registered as the shareholder hold-
ing more than 50 % of the company’s equity at the balance sheet date. Dr h.c. 
Friede Springer holds 90 % of the equity in Axel Springer Gesellschaft für 
Publizistik GmbH & Co, Berlin, and was also registered as directly holding 
10 % of the equity of Axel Springer AG at the balance sheet date.

(b) Capital Reserve The capital reserve was created primarily as a result 
of a shareholder contribution in the form of financial instruments granted in 
2004 (H&F call option, see Secton (13)). In addition, the capital reserve also 
contains the imputed compensation component of the Management Partici-
pation Program, which was simultaneously recognized as Personnel expens-
es, in accordance with IFRS 2 (see Section 15 (f)).

(c) Consolidated Retained Earnings The consolidated retained earnings 
comprise the profits of the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements for past periods and the current period. This item also contains 
the adjustment entries for the derivative goodwill in the HGB consolidated 
financial statements up until December 31, 2002, in accordance with the 
treatment prescribed by IFRS 1. 
The consolidated retained earnings contain the following retained earnings 
accounts of Axel Springer AG, which are not available for distribution due 
to statutory restrictions or restrictions set forth in the company’s articles of 
incorporation and bylaws: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Statutory reserve 10,200 10,200

Treasury shares reserve 181,203 184,585

On the subject of the change in consolidated net earnings resulting from the 
agreement between Axel Springer AG and H&F at the time when the call op-
tions were granted, please refer to Section (13). 

(d) Other Accumulated Equity The other accumulated equity breaks down 
as follows: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale securities 31,482 - 338

Other changes not recognized in income for companies 

accounted for by the equity method 27,552 - 1,543

Currency translation adjustments for financial statements in 

foreign currency - 200 - 2,068

Changes in fair value of derivatives used in cash flow hedges - 798 - 607

Other Accumulated Equity 58,036 - 4,556

The Other changes for companies accounted for by the equity method re-
sulted mainly from a capital increase in which the Group did not partici-
pate. The increase in the net assets for the Group resulting from the capital 
increase was attributed to Other accumulated equity, with no effect on the 
income statement.

(e) Treasury Shares By virtue of the authorization given by the sharehold-
ers at the annual meeting of April 16, 2003, Axel Springer AG purchased 
3,400,000 shares at a price of EUR 54.00 per share, plus directly allocable 
costs, in November 2003. 
Of this number, 62,300 shares were sold to members of the Management 
Board on August 16, 2004 at the price of EUR 54 per share, plus 2 % inter-
est per annum from July 1, 2004, making it EUR 54.13 per share, under the 
terms of the Management Participation Plan approved by the shareholders at 
the annual meeting of April 14, 2004.

(f) Management Participation Plan On April 14, 2004, the shareholders 
at the annual meeting of Axel Springer AG approved a Management Partici-
pation Plan, under which the members of the Management Board of Axel 
Springer AG are entitled to purchase shares of Axel Springer AG. 
Under the terms of the Management Participation Plan, 62,300 shares were 
offered to the members of the Management Board for purchase on or after 
July 1, 2004 (”Purchase of Shares”). The Management Board purchased the 
shares in August 2004. The purchase price for the shares was EUR 54.00 per 
share, plus 2 % interest from July 1, 2004. Under the terms of the plan, the 
members of the Management Board are obligated to hold the shares for at 
least five years. A sale before this time is possible in the event that a majority 
of the shares of Axel Springer AG held by the shareholders Hellman & Fried-
man Rose Partners, L.P. and Hellmann & Friedman International Rose Part-
ners, L.P., and the companies affiliated with them, would be sold (referred to 
hereinafter as the “H&F majority sale”). In this case, the Management Board 
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would be entitled to sell 50 % of their shares on the first anniversary and the 
remaining 50 % on the second anniversary of the H&F majority sale.
In connection with the purchase of the 62,300 shares, moreover, the members 
of the Management Board were granted, for each share purchased, eight ad-
ditional options (referred to hereinafter as the “Options”) to purchase shares 
of Axel Springer AG. These options entitle their holders to purchase up to 
498,400 shares at a price of EUR 54.00 per share, plus 2 % interest from July 
1, 2004. Nonetheless, if certain EBITA targets are not met in 2005 and 2007, 
the number of options that can be exercised by the members of the Manage-
ment Board will decrease by 10 % and 50 %, respectively. 
If the H&F majority sale should come to pass, 50 % of the options received 
can be exercised on the first anniversary and the remaining 50 % on the sec-
ond anniversary of the H&F majority sale, but not prior to the expiration of 
two years after the granting of the options. Upon the expiration of five years 
from the date of granting, the options can be exercised independently of 
an H&F majority sale. Once the conditions for exercise have been met, the 
Management Board can exercise the options within a period of 24 months. 
The development in 2004 is summarized in the table below:

Purchase 
of Shares Options

Balance at 1/1/2004 0 0

Offer to purchase shares 62,300 –

Purchase of shares - 62,300 –

Granting of options – 498,400

Exercise of options – 0

Expired options – 0

Balance at 12/31/2004 0 498,400

thereof exercisable at 12/31/2004 0

For the Purchase of Shares exercised in 2004, the average market price of 
Axel Springer AG shares was EUR 89.00. 
The 498,400 options remaining at December 31, 2004 have a maximum life 
of approx. 6.5 years. The exercise price for these options is EUR 54.00, plus 
2 % interest until the date of exercise. 
The fair values of the entitlement to purchase shares and the options granted 
were determined by application of the Black-Scholes model at the time when 
they were granted. The following parameters were applied for this purpose: 

Purchase 
of Shares Options

Share price in EUR 82.00 82.00

Exercise price in EUR 54.13 60.97

Interest rate for risk-free investments in % 2.07 3.70

Expected life in years 0.33 6.00

Expected volatility in % 27.50 27.50

Expected dividend yield in % 1.67 1.67

Fair value at date of granting, in EUR 26.18 32.14

An amount of EUR 3,561 thousand, representing the compensation compo-
nent of the options, was recognized as personnel expenses in 2004. In accor-
dance with IFRS 2, the capital reserve was increased by the same amount. 
The projected total cost of the imputed compensation component of the Man-
agement Participation Plan is EUR 16,048 thousand.
The intrinsic value of an option at December 31, 2004 was EUR 31.59.
On the subject of the agreement between Axel Springer AG and Hellman & 
Friedman Rose Partners, L.P. and Hellmann & Friedman International Rose 
Partners, L.P. in connection with the Management Participation Plan, please 
refer to Section (13). 

(g) Minority Interests The minority interests relate mainly to the following 
companies: 

12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Bild.T-Online.de AG & Co. KG, Berlin 5,545 4,345

Employee pension fund of Handelszeitung und Finanzrundschau 

AG, Zurich/Switzerland 4,364 4,760

Other subsidiaries 987 1,797

Minority Interests 10,896 10,902

(16) Pension Provisions

Provisions for pensions have been established to account for the obligations 
arising from vested pension rights and current benefits for former and ac-
tive employees of the Axel Springer Group and their survivors. The pension 
plans are organized in accordance with the legal, tax-related and economic 
conditions in each country. 
The pension plans within the Axel Springer Group are defined benefit plans 
without exception. The pension commitments are based on company-wide 
agreements and, in some few cases, individual agreements with fixed pay-
out amounts. The defined benefit plans are backed by provisions.
Axel Springer VarioRente has offered its employees a new voluntary pension 
plan since 2004. Under the new plan, Axel Springer guarantees a minimum 
return on the employees’ deferred compensation.
In accordance with IAS 19, the pension provisions for the defined benefit 
plans were calculated on the basis of actuarial assumptions. The following 
parameters were applied in 2003 and 2004: 

2004 2003

Discount rate 5.0 % 5.25 %

Salary trend 0 - 2.5 % 0 - 2.5 %

Pension trend 1.5 % 1.75 %

With respect to life expectancies, the 1998 Mortality Tables of Dr Klaus 
Heubeck were used for the German companies of the Axel Springer Group. 
Expenses of EUR 22,070 thousand (PY: EUR 21,464 thousand) were in-
curred for defined benefit plans in 2004. These expenses break down as 
follows: 

EUR thousands 2004 2003

Service cost 5,647 5,429

Effects of plan reductions and settlements 52 - 48

Other effects - 203 11

Personnel Expenses 5,496 5,392

Interest expenses 16,574 16,072

Pension Expenses 22,070 21,464

The net obligation for pensions recognized in the balance sheet experienced 
the following changes in 2004: 

EUR thousands 2004 2003

Provision at January 1 324,172 316,019

Pension expenses 22,070 21,464

Employee contributions 2,035 0

Currency translation effects 304 2

Changes in consolidation group - 15 - 1,567

Transfer of pension obligations -  35 4,311

Payments to retirees - 16,672 - 16,057

Provision at December 31 331,859 324,172
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The value of the provision breaks down as follows: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Present value of pension obligations funded by provisions 331,216 324,245

Unrealized actuarial gains and losses 643 - 73

Provision 331,859 324,172

Under defined contribution plans, the Group makes payments to government 
pension insurance carriers in accordance with applicable laws and regula-
tions. The ongoing contribution payments are stated as social security pay-
ments in Personnel expenses (see Section (25). Beyond paying the contribu-
tions, the Group bears no further performance obligations.

(17) Other Provisions

The Other provisions break down as follows:

EUR 
thousands

Balance at 
1/1/2004 Utilization Release Allocation

Other 
Changes

Balance at 
12/31/2004

Part-time 

working 

scheme for 

older 

employees 43,185 15,217 674 18,267 - 487 45,074

Structural 

measures 45,436 26,508 2,914 15,916 - 1,318 30,612

Other 

obligations 

towards 

employees 26,600 21,712 420 24,796 4 29,268

Returns 34,160 33,543 429 26,650 17 26,855

Litigation 

expenses 17,127 3,397 7,828 4,269 26 10,197

Discounts 

and rebates 6,173 5,251 901 9,812 12 9,845

Site 

restoration 

obligations 1,462 231 461 4,475 32 5,277

Other taxes 6,616 2,830 0 200 0 3,986

Other items 34,117 14,468 2,001 21,836 - 182 39,302

Other 

Provisions 214,876 123,157 15,628 126,221 - 1,896 200,416

The provisions for obligations towards employees include variable compen-
sation tied to performance, loyalty bonuses and bonuses for serving with the 
company for a certain number of years. 
The Other changes result from changes in the consolidation group and from 
currency translation differences.

(18) Financial Liabilities

The financial liabilities break down as follows: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Liabilities due to banks 270,073 278,622

Liabilities under finance leases 9,307 13,656

Other financial liabilities 2,174 2,348

Financial Liabilities 281,554 294,626

The liabilities due to banks at December 31, 2004 are characterized by the 
utilization amounts, interest rates and maturities set forth in the table below. 
All liabilities are denominated in euros. 

2004
 EUR thousands

2003
 EUR thousands Interest rate in % Maturity

100,000 100,000 3-month-Euribor + 0.5 12/23/2006

42,891 43,844 5.64 10/31/2012

26,250 30,000 3-month-Euribor + 0.75 09/30/2011

22,458 23,128 6.73 07/31/2011

19,326 20,354 5.65 06/30/2012

17,500 20,000 3-month-Euribor + 0.75 09/30/2011

13,615 14,046 5.09 11/30/2013

13,500 16,500 3.99 03/31/2009

8,628 9,107 3-month-Euribor + 0.3 10/17/2022

The interest rates indicated above are effective rates of interest. In the case 
of fixed-interest loans, the interest fixing date corresponds to the maturity 
date.
In addition, Axel Springer AG has access to confirmed short-term and long-
term credit facilities in the total amount of EUR 285,000 thousand (PY: 
135,000 thousand), which have not been utilized to date.

(19) Liabilities Due to Related Parties 

The liabilities due to related parties break down as follows: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Liabilities due to non-consolidated subsidiaries 23,690 24,424

Liabilities due to joint ventures accounted for by the equity 

method 5,585 3,054

Liabilities due to associates and other joint ventures 5,277 3,880

Liabilities due to other related persons and companies 3,234 3,332

Liabilities Due to Related Parties 37,786 34,690

(20) Current Income Taxes Liabilities

The increase resulted from the improved operating result, the Kirch settle-
ment and the effects of the tax audit. 

(21) Other Liabilities and Accruals

The Other liabilities break down as follows: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Liabilities due to employees 19,217 31,261

Customer credits 13,545 14,901

Liabilities for derivatives 2,959 2,221

Other financial liabilities 33,884 19,223

Financial Liabilities 69,605 67,606

Prepaid subscriptions 38,489 37,558

Other taxes 27,095 26,380

Liabilities due to social insurance carriers 15,465 16,040

Accrued liabilities 28,913 33,303

Liabilities for contributions and dues 7,535 7,941

Capital expenditure subsidies 7,415 7,082

Other Liabilities and Accruals (other than Financial) 124,912 128,304

Other Liabilities and Accruals 194,517 195,910
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The liabilities due to employees consist exclusively of outstanding wage and 
salary payments, management bonus and severance award claims.
The increase in the item of other financial liabilities resulted mainly from 
the payment terms granted in connection with the acquisition of supplier 
rights in 2004.
The accrued liabilities relate to vacation days earned but not yet taken.

Notes to the Consolidated Income 
Statement 

(22) Revenues

Revenues break down as follows: 

EUR thousands 2004 2003

Circulation 1,169,604 1,125,493

Advertising 944,980 912,693

Printing 144,147 132,317

Other 143,304 150,182

Revenues 2,402,035 2,320,685

(23) Other Operating Income

The Other operating income breaks down as follows: 

EUR thousands 2004 2003

Income from other deliveries and ancillary services 27,647 30,699

Income from release of provisions 15,628 12,942

Income from release of allowances for doubtful receivables 12,528 10,982

Income from disposal of intangible assets, property, plant and 

equipment 9,612 944

Rental and leasing income 3,723 2,265

Foreign exchange gains 2,420 162

Income from release of capital expenditure subsidies 876 831

Income from chargebacks to related persons and companies 828 2,562

Remaining other operating income 113,406 18,634

Other Operating Income 186,668 80,021

The item of remaining other operating income for 2004 contains the effects 
of the Kirch settlement. By agreement of August 6, 2004, the parties Axel 
Springer AG, Taurus TV GmbH i.I., KirchMedia GmbH & Co. KGaA i.I. and 
other parties reached a settlement in resolution of the legal dispute between 
the parties relative to the put option claim of Axel Springer AG for the shares 
held by Axel Springer AG in ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG and ISPR Interna-
tionale Sportrechte-Verwertungsgesellschaft mbH. As part of this settlement, 
Axel Springer AG waived its rights under the put option. In return, Axel 
Springer AG received a money payment of EUR 60,275 thousand and indi-
rectly 3,916,240 shares of ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG, the fair value of which 
at the time of transfer amounted to EUR 26,960 thousand. Moreover, the in-
solvency administrator of KirchMedia GmbH & Co. KGaA i.I. recognized a 
claim of Axel Springer AG in the amount of EUR 325,000 thousand, which 
will be considered in the further course of the insolvency proceeding. 

(24) Purchased Goods and Services

The purchased goods and services break down as follows: 

EUR thousands 2004 2003

Cost of raw materials and supplies and purchased goods 359,999 352,687

Cost of purchased services 385,273 352,297

Purchased Goods and Services 745,272 704,984

Paper costs accounted for EUR 262,582 thousand (PY: EUR 255,028 thou-
sand) of the Cost of raw materials and supplies. The cost of purchased ser-
vices was predominantly composed of costs for third-party printer services 
and professional fees.

(25) Personnel Expenses

The personnel expenses break down as follows: 

EUR thousands 2004 2003

Wages and salaries 617,714 665,578

Social security 91,214 94,619

Pension expenses 5,496 5,392

Other employee benefits 4,005 3,744

Expenses for share-based compensation 3,561 0

Personnel Expenses 721,990 769,333

The wages and salaries for the past financial year include restructuring ex-
penses of EUR 20,303 thousand (PY: EUR 37,275 thousand). The pension 
expenses relate to benefits paid by the Axel Springer Group for pension com-
mitments and similar obligations. The interest portion of the pension expens-
es is stated in the Net financial expenses. 
The table below indicates the average number and breakdown of employees 
in the Axel Springer Group in 2004 and 2003:

2004 2003

Salaried employees 5,483 5,634

Editors 3,139 3,033

Wage-earning employees 2,078 2,282

Number of Employees 10,700 10,949

(26) Depreciation, Amortization and Impairments

The depreciation, amortization and impairments break down as follows: 

EUR thousands 2004 2003

Impairment losses in derivative goodwill 20,218 21,471

Amortization of other intangible assets 10,558 8,178

Impairment losses in other intangible assets 14,810 408

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 68,265 66,142

Impairment losses in property, plant and equipment 2,927 0

Depreciation of investment property 484 0

Depreciation, Amortization and Impairments 117,262 96,199

On the subject of the impairment losses in derivative goodwill and on other 
intangible assets, please refer to Section (6).
The impairment losses in property, plant and equipment mainly relate to a 
printing machine and leasehold improvements that can no longer be used.
The impairments of financial assets are included in the Income from invest-
ments.
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(27) Other Operating Expenses 

The Other operating expenses break down as follows: 

EUR thousands 2004 2003

Advertising expenses 158,827 135,174

Shipping costs 157,090 145,693

Commissions and other compensation 101,863 87,324

Expenses for outside personnel 92,971 89,212

Maintenance and repairs 48,071 43,397

Rental and leasing expenses 32,222 37,256

Adjustment of allowances for doubtful receivables 11,766 11,445

Travel expenses 15,596 14,247

Payments to related persons and companies 8,564 11,287

Miscellaneous taxes 6,616 4,720

Foreign exchange losses 556 1,663

Miscellaneous expenses 82,551 91,193

Other Operating Expenses 716,693 672,611

The rental and leasing expenses relate to agreements for the rental or leasing 
of real property, motor vehicles and office equipment, which are classified 
as operating leases. 

(28) Income from Investments

The income from investments breaks down as follows: 

EUR thousands 2004 2003

Equity income from joint ventures 10,604 13,822

Equity income from associated companies 8,092 4,513

Equity losses from joint ventures 0 - 841

Other investment income, net 21,473 11,103

Income from Investments 40,169 28,597

(29) Net Financial Expenses

The net financial expenses breaks down as follows: 

EUR thousands 2004 2003

Interest income on bank balances 6,497 3,927

Interest income on loans and securities 148 228

Other interest income 3,877 5,967

Interest Income 10,522 10,122

Interest expenses for liabilities due to banks - 11,339 - 9,017

Interest expenses for pension provisions and similar employee 

obligations - 16,574 - 16,072

Interest expenses under finance leases - 619 - 850

Expenses for interest rate derivatives - 479 - 887

Other interest expenses - 15,564 - 5,760

Interest and Similar Expenses - 44,575 - 32,586

Other Net Financial Expenses - 266 - 1,906

Net Financial Expenses - 34,319 - 24,370

The increase in the item of other interest expenses resulted from the inter-
est due on subsequent tax payments necessitated by the findings of the tax 
audit.

(30) Income Taxes

The income taxes paid or owed in every country and the deferred taxes are 
recognized under Income taxes. The income taxes consist of the trade tax, 
corporate income tax and solidarity surtax payable in Germany, and the cor-
responding foreign income taxes. 
Income tax expenses are broken down below with respect to the origin:

EUR thousands 2004 2003

Current taxes in Germany 129,064 62,025

Current taxes outside Germany 2,056 1,195

Current Taxes 131,120 63,220

Deferred taxes in Germany 10,990 33,417

Deferred taxes outside Germany 14 - 506

Deferred Taxes 11,004 32,911

Income Taxes for Continuing Operations 142,124 96,131

Income taxes for discontinued operations - 725 - 904

Income Taxes 141,399 95,227

In the table below, the notional income tax expenses that would have arisen 
if the tax rate of the Group parent company Axel Springer AG, which is 
39.50 % (PY: 39.33 %), had been applied to the IFRS consolidated profit be-
fore taxes and minority shares, are reconciled with the income tax expenses 
appearing in the income statement: 

EUR thousands 2004 2003

IFRS profit before income taxes 288,946 206,785

Group tax rate 39.50 % 39.33 %

Expected Tax Expenses 114,134 81,329

Differing tax rates 1,956 - 2,458

Change of tax rates 52 - 390

Permanent differences 13,212 5,086

Corrections for deferred taxes - 7,817 3,972

Income taxes relating to prior years 14,841 9,690

Uncreditable income taxes 161 356

Non-deductible operating expenses 5,911 4,387

Tax-exempt income - 3,779 - 3,975

Other effects 2,728 - 2,770

Tax Expenses on the Income Statement 141,399 95,227

Companies having the legal form of a corporation resident in Germany are 
subject to corporate income tax at the rate of 25 % (PY: 26.5 %, due to the 
temporary increase caused by the Flood Victims Solidarity Act) and a soli-
darity surtax of 5.5 % of the corporate income tax owed. In addition, these 
companies and subsidiaries having the legal form of an unincorporated firm 
are subject to trade tax, the amount of which is determined in accordance 
with assessment rates that vary from one municipality to the next. In the case 
of corporations, the trade tax is deductible from the tax base for purposes of 
the corporate income tax. Starting with the 2004 assessment period, the use 
of tax loss carryforwards against the tax bases for corporate income tax and 
trade tax is subject to limitations. Existing tax losses carried forward can be 
applied without limitation against a positive tax base of up to EUR 1 million, 
but exceeding amounts can be reduced by no more than 60 %.
The effects of different tax rates for unincorporated firms and for foreign 
income taxes from the tax rate applicable to the group parent company Axel 
Springer AG are explained in the reconciliation of differences caused by dif-
ferent tax rates in Germany and abroad. 
The permanent differences result mainly from the amortization of goodwill 
and other valuation adjustments made in connection with corporations that 
are not taken into account for tax purposes. The item of corrections for de-
ferred taxes mainly contains the effects of tax loss carryforwards that were 
not recognized as assets in the previous year.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized to account for temporary 
differences and tax loss carryforwards, as follows: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Deferred 

Tax Assets

Deferred 

Tax 

Liabili ties 

Deferred 

Tax Assets

Deferred 

Tax 

Liabili ties 

Intangible assets 3,773 5,061 3,054 5,028

Assets under finance leases 0 4,798 0 3,483

Other property, plant and equipment 141 161,542 149 150,839

Non-current financial assets 12,927 18,629 13,239 15,109

Inventories 1,161 0 1,041 0

Receivables and other assets 17,561 1,685 17,975 660

Pension provisions 25,560 0 24,898 0

Other provisions 10,644 96 7,132 22

Liabilities 4,216 2,158 6,268 2,655

Temporary Differences 75,983 193,969 73,756 177,796

Tax Loss Carryforwards 8,749 0 8,877 0

Total 84,732 193,969 82,633 177,796

Balance set-off - 46,971 - 46,971 - 33,624 - 33,624

Recognized on Balance Sheet 37,761 146,998 49,009 144,172

The deferred tax assets and liabilities contain deferred tax assets in the 
amount of EUR 438 thousand  (PY: EUR 398 thousand) and deferred tax li-
abilities in the amount of EUR 1,253 thousand  (PY: EUR 0), which are due 
to temporary differences in available-for-sale financial instruments and to 
derivatives used in cash flow hedges. Because these items are recognized not 
in income, but in equity, the associated deferred taxes are also recognized in 
other accumulated equity. 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to account for temporary differences 
and tax loss carryforwards to the extent that the ability to utilize them in 
the near future is probable. In financial years 2004 and 2003, no deferred 
tax assets were recognized with respect to corporate income tax for tempo-
rary differences in the amount of EUR 29,782 thousand and tax loss carry-
forwards in the amount of EUR 9,846 thousand and no deferred tax assets 
were recognized with respect to trade taxes for temporary differences in the 
amount of EUR 61,077 thousand and tax loss carryforwards in the amount of 
EUR 34,306 thousand because it did not appear probable that sufficient tax-
able income could be generated in the near future that would make it possible 
to utilize these temporary differences and loss carryforwards.
Under the current state of the law in Germany, the ability to carry forward 
temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards in Germany is not subject 
to any restrictions. With respect to tax loss carryforwards established outside 
Germany, an amount of EUR 1,870 thousand (PY: EUR 5,361 thousand) can 
be carried forward within the next five years.

(31) Earnings per Share 

The basic and diluted earnings per share are presented below: 

2004 2003

Profit/loss from continuing operations after 

minority interests EUR thousands 148,947 67,248

Profit/loss from discontinued operations EUR thousands - 6,075 42,257

Group Share of Consolidated Net Profit 

for the Year  EUR thousands 142,872 109,505

Weighted average shares outstanding  thousands 30,623 33,627

Dilution effect from exercise of options thousands 80 0

Weighted Average Shares, Diluted  thousands 30,703 33,627

Earnings per Share from Continuing Operations

 basic EUR 4.86 2.00

 diluted EUR 4.85 2.00

Earnings per Share from Discontinued Operations

 basic EUR - 0.20 1.26

 diluted EUR - 0.20 1.26

Group Share of Consolidated Net Profit per Share 

 basic EUR 4.66 3.26

 diluted EUR 4.65 3.26

Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement

(32) Breakdown of Cash and Cash Equivalents

The cash and cash equivalents are composed of the following elements: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Cash on hand and cash in banks 439,050 290,014

Marketable securities due in up to three months 15,496 5,424

Cash and Cash Equivalents 454,546 295,438

None of the cash and cash equivalents stated in the consolidated cash flow 
statement was used for bank guarantees or security deposits.

(33) Other Disclosures

Payments for income taxes, interest and investment income are contained in 
the cash flow from operating activities as follows: 

EUR thousands 2004 2003

Interest paid 12,455 12,169

Interest received 8,775 5,501

Taxes paid 53,774 46,136

Taxes received 16,616 39,555

Investment income received 22,910 17,351

At December 31, 2004, capital expenditures of EUR 11,996 thousand, con-
sisting mainly of purchased supplier rights, were recognized but not yet 
paid.
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Notes on Segment Reporting 

(34) General Information

The segment reporting is performed in accordance with IAS 14. In line with 
the internal organization of the Group, the primary reporting format is by 
the business segments of the Axel Springer Group. The secondary report-
ing format is by the geographical regions in which the Axel Springer Group 
operates.

(a) Business Segments The Newspapers segment includes daily newspa-
pers and Sunday newspapers, superregional and regional subscribed news-
papers and advertising supplements. The Internet portals Bild.-T-Online and 
Immonet are also included in this segment. In addition, this segment includes 
investments in newspaper publishing companies in Germany. 
The Magazines segment includes program magazines, women’s magazines, 
men’s magazines, youth magazines, computer magazines, business maga-
zines, news magazines and family magazines. The selection is rounded out 
by numerous special-interest magazines. Furthermore, this segment includes 
investments in magazine publishing companies in Germany and abroad. 
The Printing segment includes three offset printing plants (PY: four printing 
plants), two rotogravure printing plants and investments in two offset print-
ing plants outside Germany. The printing plants serve the purpose of ensur-
ing the availability of necessary printing capacities.
Services/Holding includes services such as customer service, value-added 
telephone services, TV productions, logistics, sales, direct marketing, insur-
ance sales and Office Buildings, and exclusively internal departments such 
as IT, Accounting, Personnel and Corporate Departments.

(b) Geographical Regions The activities of the Axel Springer Group are 
conducted not only in Germany but also in the rest of Europe, so that the 
secondary segmentation by geographical region is divided into the segments 
Germany and International. 

(35) Segment Information

The segment information was compiled on the basis of the recognition and 
measurement methods applied to draw up the consolidated financial state-
ments. 
External revenues represent revenues from the sale of publishing products 
and the provision of services to parties not related to the Group. 
Internal revenues result from the exchange of goods and services between 
the various segments. The transfer pricing is based on cost coverage.
The internationally used indicator EBITA (earnings before interest, taxes 
and amortization of goodwill) is used to measure segment earnings. Accord-
ing to the terms of the Management Participation Plan, which is based on 
the EBITA calculation, non-recurring items include effects from the sale of 
subsidiaries, business divisions and investments, as well as writedowns and 
writeups of investments, effects from the sale of real properties and special 
writedowns and writeups of real properties. In 2004, the effects from a real 
property sale and writeups and writedowns of investments were deducted; 
in 2003, writeups and writedowns of investments were deducted. The same 
principles were applied for the presentation of non-recurring effects in the 
income statement.
The earnings before interest, taxes and discontinued operations is derived 
from EBITA in accordance with IAS 14.
Segment assets are composed of the assets required to operate the individual 
segments. They include intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and 

investments in joint ventures and associated companies, as well as short-
term current assets, with the exception of marketable securities and receiv-
ables related to current and deferred income taxes. Due to the cash clearing 
arrangement, cash and cash equivalents are not segmented. Derivative good-
will is attributed to the appropriate segments.
The segment liabilities are composed of the operating liabilities and provi-
sions of the individual segments. Liabilities due to banks, liabilities under fi-
nance leases and liabilities under current and deferred taxes are not included 
among the segment liabilities. 
The capital expenditures contain expenditures for intangible assets and for 
property, plant and equipment. 
For purposes of the geographical segment reporting, the revenues are seg-
mented according to the location of the head office of the Group company, 
which is in most cases also the location of the head office of the customer. 
The segment assets and capital expenditures were determined with reference 
to the location of the head office of the Group company. 
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Other Disclosures

(36) Financial Instruments

(a) Non-Derivative Financial Instruments The fair values of the non-de-
rivative financial instruments are summarized below: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Carrying 

Amount Fair value 

Carrying 

Amount Fair Value

Equity and Liabilities

Liabilities due to banks 270,073 279,416 278,622 284,056

Liabilities under finance leases 9,307 9,256 13,656 13,880

Other financial liabilities 2,174 2,312 2,348 2,525

In the case of the other non-derivative financial instruments, the carrying 
amounts are the same as the fair values.

(b) Interest Rate and Currency Risks/Derivative Financial Instruments 
The Axel Springer Group employs derivative financial instruments to hedge 
its interest rate and currency risks. The use of financial derivatives is gov-
erned by internal regulations of the Axel Springer Group and is limited to 
hedging existing transactions and planned transactions which are considered 
to be sufficiently probable. These internal regulations establish the respon-
sibilities, framework of action and reporting requirements and require the 
strict separation of trading and settlement activities.
To reduce the interest rate risk (cash flow risk) arising from liabilities to 
banks that originally featured variable interest rates, the Axel Springer 
Group employs interest rate derivatives in the form of interest rate swaps 
and forward rate agreements. Existing swap transactions are matched to the 
hedged transactions with respect to their amount and maturity. The Forward 
Rate Agreements used are 3-month contracts that extend into the third quar-
ter of 2005; they are maturity-matched to the fixed interest period of the 
hedged transaction.

A loan that originally featured a variable interest rate was converted into a 
fixed-rate 6.4 % loan by means of an interest rate swap. The swap transaction 
serves the purpose of hedging interest rate risks and is maturity-matched to 
the underlying transaction. The loan will be in effect until October 17, 2022 
and interest and principal payments are due on a quarterly basis. The market 
value of the interest rate swap at 12/31/2004 was EUR - 1,545 thousand (PY: 
EUR - 1,237 thousand)  
The foreign exchange risk resulting from the international operations is 
hedged by means of forward rate agreements with reference to the strategic 
currencies defined for the overall Group. These transactions consist of for-
ward sale contracts, the due dates of which correspond to the expected dates 
of receipt of the foreign currency amounts in question.

The notional values and market values of the derivatives are summarized 
below:

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Notional 

Amount Fair Value 

Notional 

Amount Fair Value

Assets

Currency derivatives 1,439 13 4,583 39

Total 1,439 13 4,583 39

Equity and Liabilities

Interest rate derivatives 152,378 2,812 59,107 2,079

Currency derivatives 0 0 6,023 142

Total 152,378 2,812 65,130 2,221

The increase in the notional amount of interest rate derivatives stated on the 
equity and liabilities side of the balance sheet in 2004 resulted mainly from 
the use of forward rate agreements to hedge the floating-rate loan of EUR 
100,000 thousand (see Section (18)). 
On the subject of the H&F call option, please refer to Section (13).

(c) Credit Risk The Axel Springer Group is exposed to the risk that business 
partners may not be able to fulfill their obligations toward the Axel Springer 
Group. The maximum risk of loss is represented by the nominal values stated 
under each category of financial asset.
To reduce the credit risk, the Group conducts credit checks of its business 
partners. Investments in securities are made only in instruments with first-
class ratings. Appropriate allowances for doubtful receivables, especially 
trade receivables, are formed to account for discernible default risks.

(37) Significant Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures 

The significant subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are listed in the 
List of Equity Holdings on pp. 88 et seq. 
The List of Equity Holdings of Axel Springer AG and the Group has been 
filed with the Commercial Register of the Berlin-Charlottenburg Local Court 
in accordance with Section 313 Para. 4 HGB.

(38) Relationships with Related Parties 

In accordance with IAS 24, the related parties of the Axel Springer Group 
are defined as those persons and companies that control or can exert a sig-
nificant influence over the Axel Springer Group or that are controlled or 
subject to significant influence by the Axel Springer Group. Accordingly, 
the members of the Springer family, the companies controlled or subject to 
significant influence by this family, the active members of the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board of Axel Springer AG and the subsidiaries, as-
sociates and joint ventures of the Axel Springer Group have been defined as 
related parties. 
The receivables and payables due from and to related parties are subject to 
terms and conditions that are customary for the market.
In addition to the business relationships with the subsidiaries included in the 
consolidated financial statements by way of full consolidation, the following 
business relationships existed with related parties: 
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Relationships with related companies:

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Balance Sheet

Loans to related companies 8,405 1,875

Receivables due from related companies 30,838 26,692

Liabilities due to related companies 37,786 34,690

2004 2003

Income Statement 

Services provided for related companies 97,566 108,912

Services received from related companies 59,924 66,301

Net financial income/expenses 374 1,383

At the balance sheet date, the loans to related companies relate in particular 
to an associated company accounted for by the equity method.
The receivables due from related companies resulted almost entirely from 
the exchange of goods and services in the course of trade. They include 
EUR 9,748 thousand (PY: EUR 10,207 thousand) due from associates, 
EUR 3,879 thousand (PY: EUR 3,797 thousand) due from non-consolidat-
ed subsidiaries, EUR 2,905 thousand (PY: EUR 2,765 thousand) due from 
joint ventures accounted for by the equity method, EUR 4,848 thousand (PY: 
EUR 4,716 thousand) due from other joint ventures and EUR 4,169 thou-
sand (PY: EUR 3,474 thousand) due from other related companies.
Valuation allowances were deducted from the receivables stated above. At 
the balance sheet date, significant valuation allowances had been charged 
against receivables due from non-consolidated subsidiaries in the amount 
of EUR 23,942 thousand (PY: EUR 22,613 thousand) and against receiv-
ables due from associates in the amount of EUR 2,255 thousand (PY: 
EUR 2,495 thousand). New valuation allowances of EUR 1,329 thousand 
(PY: EUR 1,077 thousand) were established and charged against income for 
receivables due from non-consolidated subsidiaries.
Liabilities due from related companies likewise mostly resulted from the ex-
change of goods and services in the course of trade. They include EUR 23,683 
thousand (PY: EUR 24,174 thousand) in liabilities due to non-consolidated 
affiliated companies, EUR 4,711 thousand (PY: EUR 3,809 thousand) in lia-
bilities due to associates and EUR 3,653 thousand (PY: EUR 2,840 thousand) 
in liabilities due to joint ventures accounted for by the equity method.
Services rendered for related companies mostly relate to the distribution 
of newspapers and magazines. Revenues of EUR 53,233 thousand (PY: 
EUR 55,587 thousand) were generated with Other related companies in 
2004. Furthermore, revenues of EUR 41,017 thousand (PY: EUR 46,924 
thousand) were generated with associates. 
Services received from related companies were rendered primarily by joint 
ventures accounted for by the equity method. Of the total amount, EUR 
16,980 thousand (PY: EUR 14,101 thousand) related to purchased publish-
ing products and EUR 22,122 thousand (PY: EUR 21,606 thousand to print-
ing services. In addition, services were purchased from non-consolidated 
subsidiaries in the amount of EUR 17,819 thousand (PY: EUR 22,355 thou-
sand).
A significant long-term contract for the printing of newspapers is in effect 
with one of the joint ventures accounted for by the equity method. The term 
of this contract is indefinite. The order volume was approx. EUR 22 million 
in both 2004 and 2003.

Relationships with related persons: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Balance Sheet

Pension obligations towards related persons 2,018 1,806

2004 2003

Income Statement

Expenses from relationships with related persons 21,504 19,052

In 2004, the fixed compensation of the members of the Management Board 
of Axel Springer AG amounted to EUR 6,213 thousand (PY: EUR 6,493 
thousand) and the variable compensation amounted to EUR 9,508 thousand 
(PY: EUR 10,775 thousand). Besides the amounts that were actually paid, 
the variable compensation also includes amounts set aside in provisions for 
the performance-dependent compensation expected to be paid in the finan-
cial years 2005 to 2007. A portion of the variable compensation is contingent 
on the attainment of a certain economic value-added, which was calculated 
on an EBITA basis.
Of the above-mentioned fixed and variable compensation, an amount of 
EUR 10,146 thousand was disbursed in 2004 or will be disbursed in 2005.
In 2004, the Management Board of Axel Springer AG purchased 62,300 
shares for EUR 3,382 thousand as part of the Management Participation 
Plan. In connection with this purchase, the Management Board was also 
granted the option to purchase an additional eight shares for each share pur-
chased. If certain EBITA targets are not reached in financial years 2005 and 
2007, however, the number of additionally purchasable shares will be re-
duced. The Management Participation Plan is accounted for in accordance 
with IFRS 2. Accordingly, the imputed compensation component of EUR 
3,561 thousand for 2004 was recognized as personnel expenses, in addition 
to the above-mentioned compensation, and the capital reserve was increased 
by the same amount. For more information on the subject of the Management 
Participation Plan, please refer to Section (15).
The pension obligations towards related persons relate to members of the 
Management Board. An amount of EUR 212 thousand (PY: EUR 226 thou-
sand) was allocated to the pension provisions in 2004.
The compensation paid to the Supervisory Board in 2004 amounted to 
EUR 2,010 thousand (PY: EUR 1,558 thousand), of which EUR 800 thou-
sand (PY: EUR 568 thousand) was fixed compensation and EUR 1,210 thou-
sand (PY: EUR 990 thousand) was variable compensation.
An amount of EUR 1,995 thousand (PY: EUR 1,939 thousand) was paid to 
former Management Board members and their survivors and an amount of 
EUR 26 thousand was paid to former special executives (PY: EUR 26 thou-
sand). A total of EUR 28,208 thousand (PY: EUR 28,721 thousand) has 
been allocated to the pension provision for obligations to former Manage-
ment Board members and their survivors and a total of EUR 262 thousand 
(PY: EUR 275 thousand) has been set aside for former special executives.

(39) Contingent Liabilities

The contingent liabilities of the Axel Springer Group are presented below: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Guarantees 24,391 25,800

At December 31, 2004, property, plant and equipment worth EUR 189,510 
thousand (PY: EUR 205,214 thousand) had been pledged as security for li-
abilities.
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(40) Other Financial Commitments

The Other financial commitments of the Axel Springer Group break down 
as follows: 

EUR thousands 12/31/2004 12/31/2003

Order obligations for 

- Intangible assets 2,521 1,125

- Property, plant and equipment 52,906 89,463

- Inventories 10,017 5,794

Future payments under operating leases 85,822 49,842

Long-term purchase obligations 459,000 354,070

Other Financial Commitments 610,266 500,294

The long-term purchase obligations relate to paper purchasing contracts.

At December 31, 2004 the future payment obligations under leases break 
down as follows: 

EUR thousands
Due in up to 

One Year

Due in more 
than One 

Year and up 
to Five Years 

Due in more 
than Five 

Years Total

Future payments under finance leases 4,918 4,795 0 9,713

Future payments under 

operating leases 18,119 66,346 1,357 85,822

Total 23,037 71,141 1,357 95,535

In the table below, the future payments under finance leases are reconciled 
with the carrying amount of the liabilities appearing on the balance sheet at 
December 31, 2004: 

EUR thousands
Due in up to 

One Year

Due in more 
than One 

Year and up 
to Five Years 

Due in more 
than Five 

Years Total

Payments 4,918 4,795 0 9,713

Interest portion 375 31 0 406

Principal Portion  4,543 4,764 0 9,307
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(41) Supervisory Board and Management Board 

The Supervisory Board was composed of the following persons in 2004:

Supervisory Board Member Seats on Other Legally Mandated Supervisory Boards Seats on Comparable Domestic and Foreign Boards 

Dr Giuseppe Vita
Chairman
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of 
Schering AG, Berlin

Allianz Lebensversicherungs-AG
Hugo Boss AG (Chairman)
Medical Park AG
Schering AG (Chairman)
Vattenfall Europe AG

Riunione Adriatica di Sicurtà (RAS) S.p.A., Italy (Chairman of the 
Board of Directors)
Techosp S.p.A., Italy 
Marzotto S.p.A., Italy

Dr h c Friede Springer
Vice Chairwoman 
Businesswoman, Berlin

Alba Berlin AG

Dr Gerhard Cromme
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of 
ThyssenKrupp AG, Düsseldorf

Allianz AG
Deutsche Lufthansa AG
E.ON AG
E.ON Ruhrgas AG
Hochtief AG (since 6/1/04)
Siemens AG
ThyssenKrupp AG (Chairman)
Volkswagen AG

Suez S.A., France
BNP Paribas S.A., France

Leonhard H. Fischer
Member of the Management of Crédit 
Suisse Group, Switzerland, and CEO of 
the Winterthur Group

DBV Winterthur Holding AG (Chairman)
Winterthur Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH (Chairman, until 11l/11/04)
WinCom Versicherungs-Holding AG (Chairman, until 11/11/04)

Klaus Krone
Businessman, Berlin

Spütz AG (3/4 to 9/7/04)

Prof Dr Wolf Lepenies (since 4/14/04)
University professor, Berlin

Dr Michael Otto
Chairman of the Management Board of 
Otto GmbH & Co., Hamburg

Deutsche Bank AG (until 7/29/04)
Gerling-Konzern Versicherungs-Beteiligungs-AG
Schwab Versand GmbH (Chairman)

Board of Directors of Baur Versand mbH (Chairman of the Advisory 
Board, until 12/31/04)
FORUM Grundstücksgesellschaft mbH 
Handelsgesellschaft Heinrich Heine GmbH (Chairman of the Advisory 
Board)
3 Suisses International S.A., France
Crate & Barrel Holdings, Inc., USA (Board Chairman)
Euromarket Designs, Inc., USA (Board Chairman)
Freemans plc, Great Britain (Board Chairman)
Grattan plc, Great Britain (Board Chairman)
Otto-Sumishio Inc., Japan (Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
until 12/31/04)
Spiegel, Inc., USA (Board Chairman)

Brian M. Powers
CEO of the investment group Hellman & 
Friedman LLC, San Francisco, California, USA

ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG (since 5/7/04) SLEC Holdings Limited, Great Britain
Bambino Holdings Limited, Great Britain

Axel Sven Springer
Journalist, Hamburg

Dr Joachim Theye (until 04/14/04)
Zurich, Switzerland

Gerling-Konzern Versicherungs-Beteiligungs-AG (Chairman)

The following persons were members of the Management Board in 2004:

Management Board Member Seats on Other Legally Mandated Supervisory Boards Seats on Comparable Domestic and Foreign Boards 

Dr Mathias Döpfner Chairman and CEO
Newspapers Division
Journalist

Bayerische Hypo- und Vereinsbank AG, (since 4/29/04)
ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG
Schering AG

dpa Deutsche Presse Agentur GmbH 
AKTUELL Presse-Fernsehen GmbH & Co. KG 
Leipziger Verlags- und Druckereigesellschaft mbH & Co. KG 

Rudolf Knepper Vice Chairman
Printing and Logistics Division
Master’s Degree in Engineering and Business 
Engineering

Steffen Naumann
Chief Operating Officer & Chief Financial 
Officer
Master’s Degree in Business Administration 
and Economics 

Axel Springer Young Mediahouse a.s., Czech Republic (until 4/1/04)
Axel Springer International Finance B.V., Netherlands

Dr Andreas Wiele
Magazines and International Divisions
Lawyer

Jahr Top Special Verlag GmbH & Co. KG 
Axel Springer Young Mediahouse a.s., Czech Republic (until 4/1/04)
Axel Springer Praha a.s., Czech Republic (Supervisory Board 
Chairman; since 11/1/04)
Handelszeitung und Finanzrundschau AG, Switzerland 

Hubertus Meyer-Burckhardt 
(until 06/30/2004)
Electronic Media Division
TV Producer

Bild.T-Online.de Verwaltungs AG 
ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG (until 5/7/04)

SAT.1 Beteiligungs GmbH (until 6/30/04)
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(42) Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate 
Governance Code

Axel Springer AG has made the Declaration of Conformity with the German 
Corporate Governance Code issued by the Management Board and Supervi-
sory Board in December 2004 in accordance with Section 161 of the German 
Stock Corporations Act (“AktG”) permanently available to its shareholders 
at the company’s web site under www.axelspringer.de → Investor Relations 
→ Corporate Governance. The declaration of conformity is also printed on 
page 55 of this Annual Report.

(43) Disclosures Relative to Securities Transactions and/or 
Equity Investments Pursuant to Section 15a WpHG and 
Sections 21 et seq. WpHG

In accordance with Section 15a Para.1 Sub-para. 1 of the German Securities 
Trading Act (“WpHG”), Axel Springer AG was notified by Dr h.c. Friede 
Springer of the sale of 1,184 shares of the company (WKN 550 135) at the 
price of EUR 80.22 on February 18, 2004. 

Axel Springer AG reported on August 19, 2004 that it had sold treasury 
shares on August 16, 2004 and that the treasury shares still held by the com-
pany represented 9.82 % of the capital and voting rights of the company. 
Thus, the percentage of voting rights held fell below the 10 % limit pursuant 
to Section 21 WpHG. Axel Springer AG can not exercise the voting rights 
attached to the treasury shares. 

The Company had no further notifications.

(44) Dividend proposal

In accordance with the German Stock Corporations Act, the dividends dis-
tributable to shareholders are determined on the basis of the unappropriated 
earnings calculated in accordance with the rules of German Commercial Law 
and stated in the annual financial statements of Axel Springer AG. The an-
nual financial statements for the year 2004 show unappropriated earnings of 
EUR 60,392,653. The Management Board will propose that EUR 44,460,335 
of the unappropriated earnings be used to distribute a dividend for fiscal year 
2004 of EUR 1.20 per qualifying share (PY: EUR 1.20) and an additional, 
one-time payment of EUR 0.25 per qualifying share with a view to the gain 
on the Kirch settlement and that the remaining amount of EUR 15,932,318 
be allocated to the other revenue reserves of Axel Springer AG. The treasury 
shares held by Axel Springer AG do not qualify for dividends.

Berlin, February 25, 2005

Axel Springer AG

(Dr Mathias Döpfner)  (Rudolf Knepper)

(Steffen Naumann)  (Dr Andreas Wiele)
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Media Glossary

Audiotex Automatic processing of added-value voice and fax services in 
landline or mobile phone networks.

Classified ads business Small ads that generally appear in daily newspa-
pers arranged in specific categories, e.g. jobs, property and cars.

Content marketing Sale or licensing of content for different media, e.g. 
internet, television, newspapers or magazines.

Content production Production of content for different media, e.g. inter-
net, television, newspapers or magazines.

Contract printing Production of printing orders for third parties to in-
crease profitability by utilizing free capacities.

Digitization Conversion of creative output that has already been used for 
print media to electronic media, e.g. internet, television or radio.

Free advertiser Publication that appears periodically and is financed ex-
clusively by advertising revenues.

General-interest magazine Magazine which in contrast to a → special-
interest magazine aims to reach a wide public.

Gross advertising revenues Revenues generated by advertisers as a re-
sult of the placement of advertisements. Gross advertising revenues do not 
take any rebates, discounts or other price reductions into account that are 
granted to advertisers and agencies.

IVW German circulation auditing organization.

Licensed edition Print medium that appears on the basis of permission 
granted by a licensor to duplicate or perform works that are protected by 
copyright.

Newsstand paper Newspaper which in contrast to a → subscription news-
paper is distributed via retail outlets.

Offset printing Printing process that works on the principle that oil and 
water do not mix. The printing areas on the printing plate repel water and 
attract the greasy ink, while the non-printing areas attract water and repel 
the greasy ink.

Online marketing company Company that has specialized in the market-
ing of advertising facilities in the internet.

Page impressions Important criterion for analysing the → reach of web-
sites. Page impressions are an accurate measure of how often the individual 
pages of a site are viewed by internet users.

Paid content Content in the internet for which the user has to pay.

Portal Websites covering a wide range of different subjects that help users 
to navigate the internet. Classic portals developed out of search engines and 
cover the entire range of internet services. Special portals such as car or book 
portals try to cover the complete range of their target group’s interests via a 
joint entry platform.

Reach Percentage of a target group that is reached at least once by an ad-
vertising vehicle or a combination of advertising vehicles.

Rotogravure printing Printing process in which the printing areas are re-
cessed in a cylinder, while the non-printing areas are raised. 

Special-interest magazine Magazine which in contrast to a → general-
interest magazine covers highly specific subjects.

Subscription newspaper Newspaper which in contrast to a → newsstand 
paper is distributed primarily by delivery.

Teletext Non-interactive services which distribute texts and graphics via 
television.

Glossary
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Financial Glossary

Associated companies Companies are classified as associated compa-
nies if the Axel Springer Group has the ability to exert significant influence 
over the financial and operating policies of the company by participating in 
the corresponding decision processes. These are mainly investments where 
the Axel Springer Group has between 20 % and less than 50 % of voting 
rights.

Basic earnings per share Net income for the year divided by the weight-
ed average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Cash Cash on hand and cash in an entity’s current bank accounts.

Cash and cash equivalents Cash on hand and cash at banks plus highly 
liquid funds such as certain marketable securities or demand and term de-
posits.

Cash flow Inflow of funds generated during a period.

Cash settlement price Share price officially quoted only once during a 
trading day, as opposed to the price quoted during continuous trading.

Consolidation group Group of companies included in a set of consoli-
dated financial statements.

D&O insurance Liability insurance for members of corporate governing 
bodies or management (directors and officers) against claims arising out of 
their corporate service. 

Deferred taxes Deferred taxes are recognized to account for the future 
tax effects of temporary differences between the book values of assets and 
liabilities for tax purposes and the carrying amounts of such assets and li-
abilities in the IFRS financial statements as well as for realizable loss car-
ryforwards.

Derivative financial instruments Financial instruments for which the 
value is based on an underlying transaction or value (e.g. security, interest 
rate, currency, loan). Derivative financial instruments are utilized to hedge 
currency and interest rate risks.

Diluted earnings per share The calculation of diluted earnings per share 
additionally includes the effects of potential ordinary shares (e.g. from man-
agement participation plans). The calculation follows IAS 33.

EBIT Earnings before Interest and Taxes.

EBIT Earnings before Interest, Taxes and Amortization = earnings before 
interest, taxes and goodwill impairments.

EBITDA Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization = 
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and impairments.

EBITA margin EBITA divided by revenues.

Equity method The equity method is a method of accounting for invest-
ments in consolidated financial statements under which changes in net assets 
are added to or deducted from acquisition cost of the investment. The equity 
method is used for investments in joint ventures and associated companies.

Equity ratio Equity divided by total liabilities and equity.

Expected net loss Amount determined in the risk management process. 
It is calculated by multiplying the amount of the loss by the probability that 
the loss will be incurred.

Fair value Amount for which assets or liabilities could be traded between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Market pric-
es (e.g. stock exchange quotations) and reference transactions or valuation 
models are used to measure fair value.

Free float Portion of a company’s shares held by shareholders with relatively 
small shareholdings, both in terms of number and percentage of shares held.

IFRS Acronym for International Financial Reporting Standards.  General 
term for the accounting standards issued by the IASB. The IFRS consist of 
a theoretical Framework as well as a large number of International Account-
ing Standards (IAS) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
covering specific subject areas in detail. The Standards are supplemented by 
Interpretations of specific topics issued by the Standing Interpretations Com-
mittee (SIC) and the International Financial Reporting Committee (IFRIC).

ISIN Acronym for International Securities Identification Number. Interna-
tional identification number for securities used to identify securities unam-
biguously worldwide.

Joint venture Form of cooperation where the joint venture is founded and 
managed by two or more legally separate entities.

No-par-value share Share without par value which expresses the amount 
of investment in an entity in terms of a percentage of equity. 

Option Right to purchase (call option) or sell (put option) the item under-
lying the option from or to the counterparty either during or at the end of a 
fixed period at a price established in advance.

Risk inventory Documentation of all information gained during risk analy-
sis (identification and assessment of risks). A risk inventory provides infor-
mation about an entity’s risk situation in a condensed format.

Risk management Systematic approach by management to recognizing, 
analyzing, assessing and managing risks jeopardizing the entity.

Special purpose entities Under IAS 27 in connection with SIC 12, a spe-
cial purpose entity has to be consolidated if the Axel Springer Group controls 
the special purpose entity in substance or if, in substance, the majority of the 
risks and rewards from the special purpose entity’s operations rest with Axel 
Springer. This requirement is not conditional on the Axel Springer Group 
holding an equity interest in the special purpose entity.

Statement of cash flows Statement showing the sources and uses of cash 
during a fiscal year.
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Companies consolidated:

          Fully consolidated                    Consolidated by the equity method

1) Control/profi t and loss transfer agreement with the parent company.

2) Via ‚Axel Springer Verlag‘ Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin.

3) 82.85% via KH Invest Investitionsberatung GmbH, Budapest/Hungary, and Postabank Press Werbeagentur für Anzeigenorganisation AG, Budapest/Hungary.

4) Consolidation of the division attributable to the Axel Springer Group.

5) § 264 Section 3 of the German Commercial Code /HGB) was applied.

6) § 264b of the German Commercial Code /HGB) was applied.

7) Consolidated for the fi rst time.

100 % AS Auto-Verlag  1)  5)

   GmbH, Hamburg
   Capital: EUR 0.025 million 

100 % Bergedorfer Buch- 6)

   druckerei von Ed. Wagner 
   (GmbH  & Co.), Hamburg
   Capital: DM 1.0 million

50 % Leipziger Verlags- und  6)

   Druckereigesellschaft
   mbH & Co. KG, Leipzig
   Capital: EUR 21.0 million

100 % WBV Wochenblatt 
   Verlag GmbH, Hamburg
   Capital: EUR 1.73 million

 100 % Berliner Wochenblatt  1)

   Verlag GmbH, Berlin
   Capital: EUR 0.06 million 

 100 % “Sächsischer Bote”  1)

   Wochenblatt Verlag GmbH,
   Dresden
   Capital: DM 0.05 million

 100 % Punkt Direktvertriebs 
   GmbH, Berlin
   Capital: DM 0.101 million

 75 % Niendorfer Wochenblatt 6)

   Verlag GmbH & Co. KG,
   Hamburg
   Capital: DM 0.04 million 

100 % AS Zeitschriften 1)  5)

    Berlin GmbH, Berlin
   Capital: EUR 0.025 million 

100 % Axel Springer Young  1)  5)

   Mediahouse GmbH,
   Munich
   Capital: EUR 0.05 million 

100 % Finanzen Verlags- 1)  5)

   gesellschaft für 
   Kapitalmarktinformationen
   mbH, München
   Capital: DM 0.2 million

50 % Ostsee-Zeitung GmbH
   & Co. KG, Rostock
   Capital: EUR 5.114 million

24.5 %  Kieler Zeitung Verlags- 
und Druckerei KG-GmbH & 
Co.-, Kiel

   Capital: DM 1.8 million 

23.438 % A. Beig Druckerei u. Verlag
   GmbH & Co. KG,
   Pinneberg
   Capital: EUR 3.68 million 

49 % Lübecker Nachrichten
   GmbH, Lübeck
   Capital: EUR 1.6 million 

24.8 % „Lühmanndruck“ Harburger
   Zeitungsgesellschaft mbH
   & Co. KG., Hamburg
   Capital: DM 1.0 million 

100 %  ‚Axel Springer Verlag‘ 1)  5)

   Beteiligungsgesell-
   schaft mbH, Berlin
   Capital: EUR 9.87356 million 

 100 %  Ullstein GmbH,  1)  5)

   Berlin
   Capital: EUR 3.2 million

  100 % Ullstein Media  1)  5)

   Marketing GmbH,
   Berlin
   Capital: EUR 0.03 million 

 50 %  Cora Verlag GmbH &  6)

   Co. KG, Hamburg
   Capital: EUR 0.102 million

 50 %  Jahr Top Special Verlag  6)

   GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg
   Capital: EUR 2.01 million

 94 %  Petöfi  Zeitungs- und
   Buchverlag GmbH
   Kecskemét/Hungary
   Capital: HUF 65.0 million

 94 %  Népújság GmbH,
   Békéscsaba/Hungary
   Capital: HUF 75.0 million 

100 % AS Osteuropa GmbH,
   Berlin
   Capital: EUR 0.026 million

 95 %  ZAO „Axel Springer 
Russia“, Moscow/Russia

   Capital: RUB 68.946 million 

100 %  Axel Springer Praha a.s.,
    Prague/Czech Republic
   Capital: CZK 2.368 million 

100 %  HOBBY PRESS S.A.,
   Madrid/Spain
   Capital: EUR 1.2 million 

100 %  Axel Springer France
    S.A.S., Levallois-Perret/

France
   Capital: EUR 47.6 million 

 100 % Les Publications Grand
    Public SAS,  Levallois-

Perret/France
   Capital: EUR 26.6 million 

  100 %  Axel Springer Presse 
S.A.S., Levallois-Perret/
France

   Capital: EUR 5.1 million 

 50 % EMAP France/Axel Springer
   (EMAS) S.E.N.C.,
   Suresnes/France
   Capital: EUR 0.1525 million 

100 %  Axel Springer Polska
   Sp.zo.o., Warsaw/Poland
   Capital: PLN 5.0 million 

 70.25 % Grupa Wydawnicza
   Axel Springer Sp.zo.o.,
 29.75 % Warsaw/Poland
   Capital: PLN 1.7 million 

100 %  Handelszeitung und
   Finanzrundschau AG,
   Zurich/Switzerland
   Capital: CHF 0.5 million 

 100 %  Handelszeitung Fach-
    verlag AG, Zurich/

Switzerland
   Capital: CHF 0.2 million 

92.93 %  AXEL SPRINGER-
   BUDAPEST GmbH,
   Budapest/Hungary
   Capital: HUF 30.0 million

93.52 %  Axel Springer-
   Ungarn GmbH,
   Tatabánya/Hungary
   Capital: HUF 281.8 million

 100 %  KH Invest Investitions-
   beratung GmbH,
   Budapest/Hungary
   Capital: HUF 197.43 million 

 100 %  Postabank Press
   Werbeagentur für 
   Anzeigenorganisation AG,
   Budapest/Hungary
   Capital: HUF 148.0 million 

 100 %  Zöld Újság Massen-  3)

   medien- und Verlags- AG, 
   Budapest/Hungary
   Capital: HUF 100.0 million 

 
 

Publishers

List of Equity Holdings
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88.5829 % AKTUELL Presse- 
10.0815 %2) Fernsehen GmbH & Co.
    KG, Hamburg
   Capital: DM 100.36 million 

 23.51 % SAT.1 Beteiligungs  4)  7)

   GmbH,
 24.68 % Munich
   Capital: EUR 102.76 million

  24.9 %  ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG,
   Unterföhring
    Capital: EUR 218.7972 

million

30 %  KG Hamburg 1 Fernsehen
   Beteiligungs GmbH & Co.,
   Hamburg
   Capital: EUR 5.113 million 

100 %  AS TV-Produktions-
   und Vertriebsgesellschaft
   mbH, Hamburg
   Capital: DM 0.1 million 

100 %  Axel Springer TV  1)  5)

   Productions GmbH,
   Hamburg
   Capital: DM 0.25 million

 100 %  Schwartzkopff TV-  6)

   Productions GmbH & Co.
   KG, Hamburg
   Capital: EUR 0.026 million 

100 % AS Interactive GmbH,
   Hamburg
   Capital: EUR 0.052 million 

100 % AS Content GmbH,
    Hamburg

Capital: EUR 0.025 million

63 % Bild.T-Online.de AG &  6)

   Co. KG, Berlin
   Capital: EUR 1.0 million

100 % AS Venture GmbH,  1)  5)

   Berlin
   Capital: EUR 7.5 million 

74.9 % Immonet GmbH, 
   Hamburg
   Capital: EUR 0.05 million 

49.9 %  StepStone Deutschland  7) 
AG, Düsseldorf

   Capital: EUR 20.804 million 

25 %  buecher.de GmbH & Co. 
KG, Augsburg

   Capital: EUR 0.5 million

    Equity Holdings in 
7 radio stations

100 % Axel Springer Verlag
   Vertriebsgesellschaft
   mbH, Hamburg
   Capital: DM 0.262 million 

76.9 % Buch- und Presse-  6)

   Großvertrieb Hamburg
   GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg
   Capital: EUR 0.303 million

100 % ZZ-Kurier Gesellschaft 1)  5)

   für Zeitungs- und 
   Zeitschriftenvertrieb mbH,  
   Hamburg
   Capital: DM 0.05 million

49.48 % V.V. Vertriebs-Vereinigung 
   Berliner Zeitungs- 
   und Zeitschriften
    Grossisten GmbH & Co. 

KG, Berlin
   Capital: EUR 0.11 million

32 % Presse-Vertrieb Pfalz
   GmbH & Co. KG,
   Frankenthal
   Capital: DM 0.5 million

    Equity Holdings in 
8 wholesale companies 
in East Germany

100 % VVDG Verlags- und     2)

   Industrieversicherungs-
   dienste GmbH, Berlin
   Capital: DM 0.15 million 

100 % ASV Direktmarketing  1)  5)

   GmbH, Berlin
   Capital: DM 0.05 million 

100 % PPS Presse-Programm-
   Service GmbH, Berlin
   Capital: EUR 0.026 million 

   Axel-Springer-Immobilien-
   Fonds-I Dr.Rühl & Co.KG,
   Düsseldorf

   Axel-Springer-Immobilien-
   Fonds-II-Produktions-
   zentrum Dr.Rühl & Co.KG,
   Düsseldorf

   Axel-Springer-Immobilien-
   Fonds-III-Ostfl ügel
   Dr.Rühl & Co.KG,
   Düsseldorf

   Personalvorsorgestiftung 
   der Handelszeitung und
   Finanzrundschau AG,
   Zurich/Switzerland

   AS-UNIVERSAL-FONDS 7)

Electronic Media Distribution Further Equity Holdings Other
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Information

The Annual Report and further 
information about Axel Springer 
are also available on the internet: 
www.axelspringer.de 

Design: KMS Team GmbH

Photos:  ullstein bild, 
Thomas Mayfried, 
Jim Rakete

Financial Calendar

–  Annual results press conference: 
March 9, 2005 

–  Annual shareholders’ meeting: 
April 20, 2005 

–  Interim report 
January-March 2005 | May 2005 

–  Interim report 
January-June 2005 | August 2005

–  Interim report 
January-September 2005 | 
November 2005

Address

Axel Springer AG
Axel-Springer-Str. 65
10888 Berlin
Germany
Phone +49 (30) 25 91 - 0
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